October 2017

Creating liveable cities in Australia

Mapping urban policy implementation and evidence-based national liveability indicators

Jonathan Arundel, Melanie Lowe, Paula Hooper, Rebecca Roberts, Julianna Rozek, Carl Higgs, Billie Giles-Corti







Creating liveable cities in Australia:

Mapping urban policy implementation and evidence-based national liveability indicators

Jonathan Arundel¹, Melanie Lowe², Paula Hooper³, Rebecca Roberts¹, Julianna Rozek¹, Carl Higgs¹, Billie Giles-Corti¹

¹ Healthy Liveable Cities Group, Centre for Urban Research, RMIT University
 ² Australian Catholic University
 ³ Centre for the Built Environment and Health. The University of Western Australia

ISBN: 978-0-9872841-9-8

Published by: Centre for Urban Research (CUR) RMIT University, City campus Building 15, Level 4, 124 La Trobe Street Melbourne VIC 3000

Acknowledgement of country

RMIT University acknowledges the Wurundjeri people of the Kulin Nations as the traditional owners of the land on which the University stands. RMIT University respectfully recognises Elders both past and present. We also acknowledge the traditional custodians of lands across Australia where we conduct business, their Elders, Ancestors, cultures and heritage.

Layout and design: Chanel Bearder

Connect with us online



This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Australia License. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/ or send a letter to Creative Commons, PO Box 1866, Mountain View, CA 94042, USA.

Acknowledgements

Funders









Australian Government National Health and Medical Research Council

Research collaborators

Associate Professor Thomas Astell-Burt, University of Wollongong Associate Professor Hannah Badland, RMIT University Dr Jerome Rachele, Australian Catholic University Dr Suzanne Mavoa, The University of Melbourne Vincent Learnihan, University of Canberra Dr Xiaoqi Feng, University of Wollongong Professor Adrian Bauman, The University of Sydney Assistant Professor Bryan Boruff, The University of Western Australia Professor Rachel Davey, University of Canberra Dr Serryn Eagleson, The University of Melbourne Professor Chris Pettit, UNSW Sydney Professor Sally Redman, Sax Institute Professor Gavin Turrell, Australian Catholic University Alex Saunders, The University of Western Australia Sharyn Hickey, The University of Western Australia Stephanie David

Industry partners and advisors

Associate Professor Sarah Thackway, NSW Ministry of Health Louise Sylvan, The University of Sydney Kate Lynch, Cities, Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet Matthew Richter, ACT Department of Health Mike Day, RobertsDay David Williams, Planning Institute of Australia Rod Duncan, Planning Institute of Australia Trevor Shilton, The National Heart Foundation of Australia

Research translation support

Marge Overs, The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre Ainsley Burgess, The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre Dr Cathy Oke, The University of Melbourne Chanel Bearder, RMIT University

Data providers Australian Urban Research Infrastructure Network (AURIN) Australian Bureau of Statistics NSW Office of the Government Architect Brisbane City Council Victorian Environmental Assessment Council PSMA Australia

– Contents

ist of figures and tables	
Abbreviations	12
Executive summary	14
1.1. Findings from the policy review	14
1.2. How well are Australian cities doing at providing healthy, liveable communities?	15
1.2.1. Walkability	15
1.2.2. Public transport	16
1.2.3. Public open space	16
1.2.4. Housing affordability	17
1.2.5. Employment	17
1.2.6. Food environment	18
1.2.7. Alcohol environment	18
1.2.8. Conclusions and recommendations	18
2. Introduction	20
2.1. What makes a city liveable?	20
2.2. How does urban liveability affect people's health and wellbeing?	21

2.3.	The policy context	22
2.4.	What is the role of indicators?	22
2.5.	National urban liveability research projects that underpin findings described in this report	23
	2.5.1. NHMRC Centre of Research Excellence (CRE) in Healthy, Liveable Communities	23
	2.5.2. The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre – The Australian National Liveability Study	24
	2.5.3. The Clean Air and Urban Landscapes Hub – Liveable Urban Systems Theme	24
3.	Aims and structure of this report	25
4.	Methods	26
4.1.	Research approach	26
4.2.	Policy review	27
4.3.	Spatial analysis	27
	4.3.1. Interpreting policy indicators spatially	27
	4.3.2. Defining a residential address	28
	4.3.3. Defining study areas	28
	4.3.4. Defining study periods	29
	4.3.5. Sourcing data	29
	4.3.6. Computing measures and summarising results	29
	4.3.7. Mapping results	30
	4.3.8. Technologies and software	30

	4.4.	Assessing implementation and comparing cities	30
5.		Walkability	31
	5.1.	Selected policy targets and indicators	31
	5.2.	Measuring policy implementation: state-based policy-derived indicators	32
	5.3.	National liveability indicators	37
6.		Public transport	40
	6.1.	Selected policy targets and indicators	40
	6.2.	Measuring policy implementation: state-based policy-derived indicators	40
	6.3.	National liveability indicators	47
7.		Public open space	50
	7.1.	Selected policy targets and indicators	50
	7.2.	Measuring policy implementation: state-based policy-derived indicators	50
	7.3.	National liveability indicators	61
8.		Housing affordability	67
	8.1.	Selected policy targets and indicators	67
	8.2.	National liveability indicators	67
9.		Employment	70
	9.1.	Selected policy targets and indicators	70
	9.2.	National liveability indicators	70
10		Food environment	78
	10.1	. Selected policy targets and indicators	78
	10.2	. National liveability indicators	78
11		Alcohol environment	81

	11.1. Selected	d policy targets and indicators	81
	11.2. Nationa	liveability indicators	81
12.	Discuss	ion and conclusions	85
	12.1. Do Aust	ralian cities have measurable policies designed to create liveable cities?	85
	12.2. Are Aus	tralian cities implementing state-government policies that will create liveable cities?	86
	12.3. Key find	ings and discussion	86
	12.3.1	. Walkability	87
	12.3.2	. Public transport	88
	12.3.3	. Public open space	89
	12.3.4. Housing affordability		
	12.3.5. Employment		
	12.3.6	. Food environment	90
	12.3.7. Alcohol environment		91
	12.4. Recommendations		91
	12.5. Concluc	ling comments	93
Ref	erences		94
Ap	pendix 1	Policies reviewed for each domain	105
Ap	pendix 2	Included policy standards	111
Ap	pendix 3	Data sources and processing	116
Ap	pendix 4	Difficulties in creating consistent urban liveability indicators	124
Ap	pendix 5	Other related research	127

List of Figures & Tables

Figure 1:	Summary of report scope and methods	26
Figure 2:	Average net dwelling density (by suburb) in dwellings per hectare (top); suburbs achieving this level of implementation of	
	this policy (bottom)	34
Figure 3:	Net dwellings per hectare by LGA and city	35
Figure 4:	Melbourne: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 1 km of an activity centre with a supermarket (left); number of	
	suburbs complying with the policy (right)	36
Figure 5:	Melbourne: Percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within 1 km of an activity centre with a supermarket	36
Figure 6:	Composite walkability indicator for suburbs in each capital city	39
Figure 7:	Perth: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of a bus stop, or 800 m of a railway station (left); suburbs that	
	comply with the state policy (right)	42
Figure 8:	Melbourne: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of a bus stop, 600 m of a tram stop, or 800 m of a train	
	station (left); suburbs that comply with the state policy (right)	43
Figure 9:	Brisbane: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of a public transport stop (left); suburbs that comply with the	
	state policy (right)	44
Figure 10:	Sydney: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of a bus stop with a service every 30 minutes or within 800 m of	
	a train station with a service every 15 minutes (left); suburbs that comply with the state policy (right)	45
Figure 11:	Melbourne: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within 400 m of a bus stop, 600 m of a tram stop or 800 m of a	
	train station	46
Figure 12:	Melbourne: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within 400 m of a bus stop	46

Figure 13:	Perth: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within 400 m of a bus stop or 800 m of a train station	46
Figure 14:	Brisbane: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within 400 m of a public transport stop	47
Figure 15:	Sydney: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within 400 m of a bus stop serviced every 30 minutes or within 800 m	
	of a train station serviced every 15 minutes	47
Figure 16:	Percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of a public transport stop with a service every 30 minutes	49
Figure 17:	Melbourne: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of public open space (left); suburbs that comply with the	
	state policy (right)	53
Figure 18:	Perth: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of a park 0.4–1.0 ha in size (left); suburbs that comply with the	
	state policy (right)	54
Figure 19:	Perth: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 800 m of a park 1–5 ha in size (left); suburbs that comply with the state	
	policy (right)	55
Figure 20:	Brisbane City Council: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of a park larger than 0.5 ha (left); suburbs that	
	comply with the state policy (right)	56
Figure 21:	Sydney: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of a park larger than 0.5 ha (left); suburbs that comply with the	
	state policy (right)	57
Figure 22:	Sydney: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 2 km of a park larger than 2 ha (left); suburbs that comply with the state	
	policy (right)	58
Figure 23:	Melbourne: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within 400 m of public open space	59
Figure 24:	Perth: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within specified distances of parks	60

Figure 25:	Sydney: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within specified distances of parks	60
Figure 26:	Percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of public open space	64
Figure 27:	Percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of public open space larger than 1.5 ha	65
Figure 28:	Percentage of suburb gross area that is parkland	66
Figure 29:	The 30/40 measure of housing affordability (by city and suburb)	69
Figure 30:	Melbourne: percentage of employed population (by SA2) working in the same SA3 (left) and same SA4 (right)	72
Figure 31:	Perth: percentage of employed population (by SA2) working in the same SA3 (left) and same SA4 (right)	73
Figure 32:	Brisbane: percentage of employed population (by SA2) working in the same SA3 (left) and same SA4 (right)	74
Figure 33:	Sydney: percentage of employed population (by SA2) working in the same SA3 (left) and same SA4 (right)	75
Figure 34:	Percentage of employed persons aged 15 and over who travel to work by public transport	76
Figure 35:	Percentage of employed persons aged 15 and over who travel to work by active transport	77
Figure 36:	Healthy food ratio (by suburb) (a higher score suggests access to more healthy food outlets than fast food outlets)	80
Figure 37:	Percentage of residences (by suburb) without access to an on-licence within 400 m	83
Figure 38:	Percentage of residences (by suburb) without access to an off-license within 800 m	84
Figure 39:	Method to define study area and visualise result using Melbourne example	117
Table 1:	Policy implementation indicators for walkability	33
Table 2:	National liveability indicators for walkability	37
Table 3:	Policy implementation indicators for public transport	41
Table 4:	National liveability indicators for public transport	48
Table 5:	Policy implementation indicators for public open space	48
Table 6:	National liveability indicators for public open space	62
Table 7:	National liveability indicators for housing affordability	68
Table 8:	National liveability indicators for employment	71
Table 9:	National liveability indicators for the food environment	79
Table 10:	National liveability indicators for the alcohol environment	82

Table 11:	Policies reviewed in Victoria	105
Table 12:	Policies reviewed in Western Australia	107
Table 13:	Policies reviewed in Queensland	108
Table 14:	Policies reviewed in New South Wales	109
Table 15:	Included policy standards for walkability	111
Table 16:	Included policy standards for public transport	113
Table 17:	Included policy standards for public open space	114
Table 18:	Number of food destinations (stores) by category, chain and state/territory, June 2017	122
Table 19:	Classification of liquor licences into on-licences and off-licences	123
Table 20:	Taxonomies for public open space in Sydney and Melbourne	125

Abbreviations

ABS	Australian Bureau of Statistics
ASGC	Australian Standard Geographical Classification
ASGS	Australian Statistical Geography Standard
CAUL	Clean Air and Urban Landscapes Hub, National Environmental Science Program (Australian Government Department of the Environment and Energy)
CRE	National Health and Medical Research Council Centre of Research Excellence in Healthy Liveable Communities
CSEPA	Corporations Sole 'Minister administering the Environmental. Planning and Assessment Act 1979'
G-NAF	Geocoded National Address File (produced by PSMA Australia Ltd)
GCCSA	Greater Capital City Statistical Area
GIS	Geographic Information System
Gross Density	The gross density for an area is the number of dwellings in that area, divided by the total area including non-residential land.
LGA	local government area
Mesh Block	Mesh Blocks are the smallest geographical area defined by the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). The majority of populated Mesh Blocks contain between 30 and 60 dwellings.

MTWP	method of travel to work
MSEI	Melbourne Social Equity Institute (at the University of Melbourne)
MSSI	Melbourne Sustainable Society Institute (at the University of Melbourne)
Net Density	The net density for an area is the number of dwellings within the residential parts of the area (as defined by ABS Mesh Block classifications) divided by that same residential area. For areas that are entirely residential, the net density will be the same as the gross density.
NHMRC	National Health and Medical Research Council
POS	Public open space
PSMA	PSMA Australia Ltd
SA1, SA2 etc	Statistical Area 1, Statistical Area 2, etc (defined by the ABS)
SD	Statistical Division (defined by the ABS)
SEIFA	Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas
SOS	Section of State
SSC	State Suburb Code
ТАРРС	The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre (National Health and Medical Research Council)
UCL	Urban Centre and Locality
UN	United Nations
WHO	World Health Organization



Executive Summary

The co-benefits of urban liveability for the economy, social inclusion, environmental and social sustainability, and public health are now well recognised by all levels of government in Australia and internationally. Liveable communities are safe, socially cohesive and inclusive, and environmentally sustainable. They have affordable housing that is linked (via public transport, walking and cycling infrastructure) to employment; education; shops and services; public open space; and social, cultural and recreational opportunities.

This report assesses the availability and implementation of policies governing seven characteristics of cities that can contribute to creating liveable communities, in Australian capital cities:

- Walkability;
- Public transport;
- Public open space;
- Housing affordability;
- Employment;
- Food environments; and
- Alcohol environments.

The research reported here received Federal grant funding from multiple sources. The aims were to:

• Identify state government urban planning policies and legislation and their targets

that relate to key urban liveability policy domains;

- Create and map indicators of urban liveability, based on state government policy documents, to assess the degree of policy implementation and spatial inequities in liveability across Sydney, Melbourne, Perth and Brisbane; and to
- Map a set of evidence-based national liveability indicators from the Australian National Liveability Study found to be associated with chronic disease risk behaviours and/or health outcomes (for all Australian capital cities where data were available).

Two types of indicators were developed:

- In four cities (Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney) we reviewed state government urban planning, transport and infrastructure policies and legislation, to identify measurable spatial policy standards or targets that could be developed and mapped to benchmark and monitor the level of implementation of urban policies aimed at creating liveable communities; policy implementation indicators.
- In all Australian state and territory capital cities where comparable data were available, we developed and mapped **national liveability indicators** shown to be associated with the health and wellbeing of Australians. This allowed us to make comparisons between cities.

1.1. Findings from the policy review

Although making Australian cities more liveable is an objective widely shared across all levels of government, our review of state government policies conducted between 2014 and October 2016 identified only a limited number of measurable spatial policy standards that could be used to assess progress towards maintaining and increasing the liveability of Australian cities.

We found that the policy environment was dynamic, with new policies being developed and adopted even during the course of the data collection period. Relevant spatial policies were identified for walkability, public transport and public open space, in all states where the policy review was conducted i.e., Victoria, Western Australia, Queensland and New South Wales. However, these policies varied markedly in the specific urban characteristics sought and measured, and in their levels of policy ambition. No measurable spatial policy standards were identified for local employment, housing affordability, promoting access to healthy food choices, or limiting access to alcohol outlets.

Variation in quantifiable urban policy standards observed may reflect a lack of agreement – or different interpretations – among policy-makers and decision-makers about how land-use, transport and infrastructure planning can be used to improve the liveability of Australian communities. Most metropolitan strategic plans aspire to achieve walkable, liveable, 30-minute (or 20-minute) cities. But in most cities, policy standards do not support these aspirations. In some cases the policy ambition is modest, and inconsistent with the growing body of quantitative evidence about how to achieve liveable cities.

1.2. How well are Australian cities doing at providing healthy, liveable communities?

Overall, no Australian city performs well on all indicators of policy implementation or national liveability, with some cities performing better on some indicators, and weaker on others. We found little evidence – whether in new or established areas – that Australian cities are achieving contemporary policy targets across the entire metropolitan area for walkability, public transport, and public open space. Within every city, there is considerable spatial variation. The attainment of policy standards differs significantly between – and even within – neighbourhoods, suburbs and local government areas (LGAs). With few exceptions, people living in outer- (and many middle-level) suburbs are substantially less well served than inner-city residents by the integrated planning required for the urban design, amenities and infrastructure that create liveable communities.

The national health-related liveability indicators allowed direct comparison of all cities. This revealed considerable variation both between and within capital cities in achieving the urban design characteristics, amenities and infrastructure required to create healthy, liveable communities. The main results for each liveability domain are summarised as follows:

1.2.1. Walkability

- Higher residential densities and street connectivity, mixed land-uses, and highquality pedestrian infrastructure are all needed to achieve walkable 30-minute (or 20-minute) cities.
- In some cases, there is a mismatch between the aspiration of creating walkable communities, and the policies that are in place.
- Melbourne, Sydney and Brisbane still have dwelling-density policies for suburban development of 15 dwellings per hectare. This is too low to achieve walkable neighbourhoods.
- Perth's target of 26 dwellings per hectare and Brisbane's target of 30 dwellings per hectare for urban development are more likely to result in walkable neighbourhoods – when integrated with other urban design interventions, and with policies governing access to destinations and public transport.
- However, all Australian cities generally fail to meet even these very modest targets. Average dwelling densities are very low, ranging from 5.7 dwellings per gross hectare in Brisbane, to 12.9 dwellings per gross hectare in Sydney. Indeed, all cities except Sydney are well below the respective state suburban-density targets.
- Street connectivity is required to create pedestrian-friendly street networks and to increase the proximity of local destinations. Victoria, Western Australia and Queensland have guidelines for street connectivity (block and/or lot size), but no specific targets.
- Measurable spatial policies for access to local destinations are critical for encouraging active modes of transport such as walking and cycling. Only Perth and Melbourne appear to have these policies. Even then, only a minority of dwellings and suburbs in these two cities meet the applicable standards (10% and

40% respectively).

- An evidence-based 'walkability index' was developed and mapped. This combined dwelling density, daily-living destinations and street connectivity. It showed that only a minority of residents in Australians cities live in walkable communities. With few exceptions, walkability is generally concentrated in the inner (and, in some cases, middle-level) suburbs.
- Despite the health and environmental benefits of walkable communities, Australian cities are still being designed for the motor vehicle. We found a notable exception: some new, walkable areas being built in outer-suburban Perth. This demonstrates that it is possible to produce higher-density, mixed-use, walkable neighbourhoods in outer-suburban areas of Australian cities if good urban policies are well implemented.
- Nevertheless, while local walkable neighbourhoods provide the foundation of a liveable city, they must be supported by integrated regional metropolitan planning that provides public transport, accessible employment and amenities. But most outer-suburban areas – even if walkable – lack this other infrastructure and amenities.

1.2.2 Public transport

- We identified measurable spatial policies for proximity to public transport in all Australian cities. We found that policy ambition varies from 60% of dwellings having access, up to 100%.
- Sydney has the most ambitious target of all cities, combining both proximity and frequency of service, but only 38% of dwellings meet this policy standard.
- Compared with other cities, more residential dwellings in Melbourne (almost 70%) have access to a bus, tram or train stop within the state's public transport proximity standards, despite falling short of the target of 95% (of dwellings having this access) the second-most ambitious target of those reviewed.

- Perth is the only city that exceeds its state target (60%) for dwellings having nearby public transport access. This has been achieved for 64% of dwellings, but the Western Australian government's target is substantially lower than those of other states.
- The national liveability indicator found to be associated with walking for transport, assessed access to proximate and frequent public transport services during weekday work hours. We found that the majority of dwellings in state capital cities lack this level of access. Around 36% of dwellings in Melbourne, Adelaide and Sydney enjoy this level of access, but only 18% in Perth, 12% in Brisbane, Canberra and Hobart, and 4% in Darwin.
- Most cities show a clear pattern of better access to proximate and frequent public transport in areas closer to the centre of the city.
- Integrated land-use, transport and infrastructure planning is required to meet even current public transport targets, with higher-density development required in particular around public transport nodes and activity centres.
- Other states might consider following the New South Wales government's lead in adopting more ambitious policies that combine both proximity and frequency of services with short-, medium- and long-term targets for policy implementation, even though such policies are more difficult to achieve.

1.2.3. Public open space

- All four states reviewed have a policy requiring access to public open space within 400 m (or a five-minute walk), and three of the four states also have policies requiring access to larger parks of specified sizes within longer walking distances.
- More Melbourne dwellings (82%) have access to a park within 400 m than do other cities (39–58%), although Melbourne still falls a little short of its ambitious target of 95%.
- Sydney is the only city to achieve its target for small proximate parks, which

requires 'most' (which we interpreted as 50%) dwellings to have access to public open space: 59% of residences had access to public open space greater than 0.5 ha within 400 m.

- Fewer dwellings in Melbourne, Sydney and Brisbane suburbs have proximate access to larger open space, compared with Perth. Overall, 89% of Perth residential addresses are within 800 m of a public open space larger than 1 ha.
- Using both policy standard indicators and national liveability indicators, we found that more dwellings have access to larger public open space areas within longer walking distances, but fewer dwellings across the four cities have access to larger parks within 400 m. Nevertheless, all dwellings in Sydney and Brisbane have access to larger parks within 2–3 km.
- There is considerable variation between cities in the spatial patterning of public open space access.
- However, unlike other indicators of liveability, outer-suburban areas appear to have better access to public open space than do some inner-city areas.
- Park size appears to be important for encouraging recreational walking. Victorian evidence suggests that parks greater than 1.5 ha are needed to encourage recreational walking, and that smaller pocket parks may do little to encourage recreational walking or to improve mental health. Hence, to get the greatest health benefits, it may be preferable to provide fewer, larger, higher-quality local public open spaces within closer walking into account the loss of private space as Australian cities become more compact, the need to protect biodiversity, and the need for heat-island mitigation.

1.2.4. Housing affordability

• We found no state-specific spatial or measurable standards for housing affordability. For this reason, we assessed cities using the 30/40 housing affordability measure (households whose income is in the bottom 40% and who spend more than 30% of household income on housing costs), and the proportion of households renting which were the national liveability indicators found to be associated with health.

- Using the 30/40 measure, more than one-third of lower-income households in Sydney, Brisbane, Melbourne, Darwin and Perth appear to be experiencing housing affordability stress.
- Compared with other cities, fewer lower-income households in Canberra (31%) appear to be experiencing housing affordability stress.
- The proportion of households renting varies significantly between cities, with Darwin having the highest percentage of renters (43%).
- In Sydney and Brisbane, and to a lesser extent in Melbourne, housing affordability stress appears to be spread across large areas of the city. However, those suburbs suffering the greatest stress were located towards the urban fringe.
- Given that outer suburbs also have poor access to public transport, and are less likely to be walkable, household expenditure on private motor-vehicle transportation is likely to be higher there than in other areas. This suggests that continued suburban expansion without considering these other factors will not relieve the housing affordability stress being experienced by these households.

1.2.5. Employment

- We found no measurable spatial policies for local employment access or provision. For this reason, we assessed employment access by using the national liveability indicators found to be associated with better health.
- Across all state capital cities, a minority of the working population works and lives in the same local government area (24–49%, excluding Canberra), with a larger proportion living and working in the same metropolitan region (43–89%), and more residents of smaller cities doing so than in the larger cities.
- Inner-city residents are more likely to live and work in the same area. The

percentage tends to be lower in the middle 'commuter' suburbs, and then rises again towards the city edge.

- Across all cities, the vast majority of workers travel to work by private motor vehicle.
- Travel to work by public transport varies from 16% in Sydney down to 5% in Darwin.
- Darwin has the highest rate of residents using active transport to get to work (9%), with prevalence in other cities ranging from approximately 4% to 8%.
- There appears to be an opportunity to increase active modes of transport, given that 26–43% of the working population in all capital cities live and work in the same local area (SA3).
- Patterns of commuting longer distances to work in the middle suburbs and some outer suburbs suggests the need for more equitable distribution of employment. However, we found no measurable spatial policies or targets for increasing access to employment in these areas.

1.2.6. Food environment

- We found no measurable spatial policies for access to healthy food choices, with the exception of Victoria, which requires that 80-90% of households are within 1 km of an activity centre with a supermarket. For this reason, we applied national health-related liveability food environment indicators found to bring health benefits.
- Across Melbourne, Perth, Sydney and Brisbane, on average there are more fast food outlets than supermarkets within 3200 m of residents' homes.
- Although supermarket access varies significantly between cities, well over half of residential dwellings in all Australian capital cities are further than 1 km to a supermarket.
- Compared with other cities, a much lower proportion of Darwin dwellings have access

to a supermarket within 1 km (17%).

• The inclusion of food environment targets in urban policy across Australia, following the example of the Victorian Precinct Structure Planning Guidelines, could help improve people's access to healthy food.

1.2.7. Alcohol environment

- We found no measurable spatial policies for access to alcohol outlets. For this reason we developed national liveability indicators based on previous research into factors that protect public health: the percentage of residences without access to an onlicence outlet within 400 m, and without access to an off-licence outlet within 800 m.
- In Perth and Brisbane, only 10–14% of residential addresses are within 400 m of an on-licence alcohol outlet, but in Melbourne and Sydney 20–23% of residential addresses are.
- Access to off-licence outlets within 800 m is more prevalent, with 56% of Sydney residential addresses within 800 m of an off-licence. The proportion was 48% in Melbourne and 34% in Perth.
- Given the health and social harms caused by alcohol, there is a notable lack of spatial planning policy across Australian cities for the distribution of alcohol outlets.

1.2.8. Conclusions and recommendations

We found a mismatch between the widely held aspiration of urban liveability and walkability, and many of the current measurable policy standards identified across Australian cities. However, the policy environment changes quickly and since this study took place, new state government policies have been developed which may include additional, or more ambitious targets and standards.

Nevertheless, there was little evidence that the policies, standards and guidelines included in this review, are being informed by the growing body of evidence on how to create healthy, liveable and walkable cities. Given current population projections in Australia, evidence-informed policy and practice will be needed in order to maintain and improve urban liveability, improve the health and wellbeing of residents, and ensure that people's quality of life is maintained as our cities grow.

To avoid inequities within and between cities, consistent evidence-based policy standards for all urban liveability domains are needed, with the aim of maintaining and improving the liveability of Australian cities. For these standards to be useful in benchmarking and monitoring progress over time, they need to be spatial and measurable. For infrastructure and services such as parks and public transport, policy standards should consider both proximal access and quality of service.

We found that policy standards were only achieved in cities with unambitious targets. Cities with more ambitious policies appeared to be getting better results for the residents whom they serve, even if they fell short of the target set. For example, there is evidence from Perth that communities comparable in walkability to Perth's inner-city areas are being achieved on the urban fringe. Walkable communities are important because they create the building blocks for healthy, liveable communities, which requires comprehensive urban design policy. However, creating liveable communities also requires integrated planning and policies that ensures timely delivery of amenity and infrastructure.

Ambitious targets, though harder to achieve, are needed and should be encouraged, as they will ensure that cities continue to strive to maintain and improve liveability across the entire city, which would lead to greater equity, particularly for outer-suburban areas. State governments could consider setting both achievable short- and medium-term targets, and more ambitious longer-term targets.

Importantly, cities with unambitious targets for suburban development of 15 dwellings per hectare need to rethink. Even at these modest levels of ambition, targets are not being reached. Higher densities are essential to achieve more compact development, create walkable communities, and provide cost-effective access to public transport and physical and social infrastructure.

Achieving liveable cities involves many policy sectors and all levels of government, with requirements not only for local urban design but also regional metropolitan planning of employment, infrastructure and services. With no Australian capital city performing well on all indicators, and widespread evidence of geographical inequities within and between cities, our findings could be used to specifically target future interventions. As Australian cities grow, if stated aspirations to maintain or improve liveability are to be realised, evidence-based targets and standards need to be part of Federal, state and local government policy.

Based on our findings, we make seven recommendations:

Recommendation 1: Evidence-informed integrated transport, land-use and infrastructure planning is needed to deliver affordable housing, public transport, accessible employment and amenities, and to create walkable neighbourhoods as the foundation of a liveable city.

Recommendation 2: Include measureable spatial standards in state government urban, transport and infrastructure policies, regulations and/or guidelines, including short-, medium-, and long-term targets as appropriate.

Recommendation 3: Develop spatial indicators of Australian cities to benchmark and monitor the implementation of state-based policies designed to create liveable communities.

Recommendation 4: Develop agreed standards for the collection and categorisation of state government data that could be used to benchmark and monitor the implementation of urban policies in Australian cities.

Recommendation 5: Update liveability indicators at least every five years, to coincide with the ABS Census, and more frequently when possible.

Recommendation 6: Expand the Federal government's National Cities Performance Framework, to include policy implementation indicators for access to public transport, walkability, public open space, employment and affordable housing.

Recommendation 7: Move towards metropolitan governance of cities, starting by ensuring that state and local government policies are consistent and evidence-informed, and specifically designed to create healthy liveable communities.

Introduction

2.1 What makes a city liveable?

The term 'liveability' is widely used in urban policy in Australia and across the world, yet it is rarely defined, whether in policy documents or the academic literature. Following a comprehensive review of academic and policy literature in 2013 [1], our team defined a 'liveable' community as one that is 'safe, attractive, socially cohesive and inclusive, and environmentally sustainable; with affordable and diverse housing linked by convenient public transport, walking and cycling infrastructure to employment, education, public open space, local shops, health and community services, and leisure and cultural opportunities' [2, p.138]. Liveable neighbourhoods have the potential to improve public health and the economy, and to increase social inclusion and environmental and social sustainability [3, 4]. Designing healthy, liveable communities will therefore help nations reach the UN Sustainable Development Goals [5] and New Urban Agenda [6].

Australian cities are generally regarded, by international standards, as very liveable. Yet significant work remains to be done. One important task will be to remove wellrecognised inequities within and between Australian cities in the provision of infrastructure and services that create liveable communities [7]. Affordable housing located in outersuburban areas lacks nearby access to employment, shops and essential infrastructure and services, resulting in long commutes and car dependency, and low levels of walking, cycling and public transport use. Conversely, amenity-rich areas closer to employment and the inner city face significant housing affordability barriers [8-10].

Urban, transport and infrastructure policies influence city planning decisions, which in turn influence the health and wellbeing of residents. For example, urban, transport and infrastructure policies help determine people's access to the underlying determinants of

health, such as employment and education opportunities, healthy food, and health and social services. The location of amenities needed for daily living also influences transport mode choices that can increase or decrease residents' physical activity levels, which in turn affect levels of obesity and patterns of major preventable chronic disease [11]. Hence, city planning decisions are increasingly being recognised as a priority for public health intervention, with the World Health Organization declaring that health, and health governance, should be at the heart of city planning decision-making [12], and that the health of the population should be regarded as an indicator of sustainable development [13, 14].

In the last five years, the team of researchers now known as the Healthy Liveable Cities group located at RMIT University in Melbourne has undertaken a comprehensive program of research examining the health effects of urban liveability. This work received seed funding from the Victorian Department of Health North-West Metropolitan Region, and the University of Melbourne's Institutes for Social Equity (MSEI) and Sustainable Society (MSSI). Subsequent Federal government funding was attracted from bodies including the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Centre for Research Excellence in Healthy Liveable Communities (CRE), The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre (TAPPC) and, more recently, the Clean Air and Urban Landscapes Hub (CAUL) of the Australian Government's National Environmental Science Program. This research program has allowed our team to explore how liveability indicators can be used to measure and monitor city planning [2, 3, 11, 15] and to study associations between the underlying policy domains of liveability and a range of health and health-behaviour outcomes [16-28].

Based on our definition of urban liveability, we initially defined 11 domains of liveability [1, 2]. We subsequently refined these to seven domains [3] that were easily measured using routinely collected data: walkability, public transport, public open space, housing affordability, employment, social infrastructure, and the food environment [29]. These were all tested in Victoria, as part of the CRE. The Australian National Liveability Study (funded by TAPPC), enabled us to apply this work on a national scale [15]. Four of the urban liveability domains were tested against a range of health measures in Perth, Melbourne, Brisbane and Sydney: walkability, public transport, public open space, and the food

environment [24, 25, 30-32]. Given TAPPC's focus on preventing chronic disease, one additional domain was added: the alcohol environment, due to growing concerns about the health harms caused by alcohol consumption [18].

Through the TAPPC research we identified a number of health-related national liveability indicators: policy-relevant indicators of liveability found to be associated with health and wellbeing. The CAUL Hub liveability study facilitated extension of the TAPPC research, enabling policy analyses for five domains of liveability (walkability, public transport, public open space, employment, and housing affordability) to be conducted in four Australian capital cities (Perth, Melbourne, Brisbane and Sydney). The aim of this research was to create and map indicators to assess the level of implementation of policies across these four cities. Given the national interest in urban liveability, the CAUL study prompted us to also map the five health-related liveability indicators for all eight Australian state and territory capital cities identified through TAPPC and the CRE (walkability, public transport, public open space, housing affordability, and employment). Indicators of the food environment and the alcohol environment were also mapped for Perth, Melbourne, Brisbane and Sydney. (Food and alcohol environment indicators are not yet mapped for other cities due to difficulties in obtaining suitable data).

The result is this report, which assesses and maps the implementation of policies designed to create liveable Australian cities, as well as policy-relevant health-related national liveability indicators. The next section sets out our health and wellbeing rationale for selecting the underlying domains of urban liveability considered in this study.

2.2 How does urban liveability impact health and wellbeing?

One significant way to improve people's health and wellbeing is through urban design and planning that create walkable, pedestrian-friendly neighbourhoods. Areas with high walkability have higher residential densities and street connectivity, mixed land-uses and high-quality pedestrian infrastructure. Walkable, pedestrian-friendly neighbourhoods encourage higher levels of walking for transport, by creating shorter and more convenient walking routes between homes and accessible destinations – including jobs, retail and essential infrastructure and services [11, 33-35]. Given the well-established benefits of a physically active lifestyle in preventing major chronic diseases, increasing walking is an international priority [11].

Access to public transport is an underlying determinant of health. Public transport facilitates access to regional jobs and services [36], while shorter distances to public transport stops are associated with more transport-related walking [37-39], which decreases the risk of obesity [40]. Conversely, there is evidence that for each additional hour spent driving a car, people's risk of obesity increases by around 6% [40]. Motorvehicle traffic also increases the risk of traffic-related injuries [41], which are the eighthleading cause of death and disability globally [11]. Traffic also reduces air quality [42] and is a major source of noise in cities, which is detrimental to mental health [11].

Access to local public open space not only increases the urban liveability of communities by creating convivial, attractive environments [28], it is also important for the health and wellbeing of people of all ages. Green space helps cool the city and protect biodiversity [43]. Access to public open space [34, 44, 45], particularly high-quality public open space [46, 47], also promotes recreational physical activity. There is also evidence that access to high-quality public open space improves mental health [34, 48-50]. As cities densify, providing more public and semi-private open space is critical for population health and wellbeing, and to increasing biodiversity, particularly as the amount of private open space declines [43, 51].

Housing affordability, along with quality, location and density of housing, affects people's health, wellbeing and quality of life [3, 52], making access to housing a health-equity issue [12]. It has long been understood that poorer-quality housing is linked to poorer mental and physical health [53, 54]. However, housing affordability has become a pressing public policy issue in Australia, leading to construction of lower-cost, low-density housing on the urban fringe, which is poorly serviced by public transport and infrastructure [52, 55]. The car-dependence of these areas makes residents increasingly vulnerable to mortgage stress, in the face of rising oil prices and mortgage interest rates [9]. Conversely, well-designed, well-located, higher-density housing with access to local employment, services and shops, and high-quality public transport, can promote good health by encouraging social connections and active forms of transport [51].

Employment is not only good for the economy, but is also well established as a determinant of health [16, 56]. Hence, the spatial availability and location of employment are important elements of urban liveability [3, 16], influencing access to opportunities, as well as the length of daily commutes, transport choice, and time spent driving.

The local food environment helps determine the availability and accessibility of healthy food options [23], which in turn influences food choices and what people eat: unhealthy diets are a leading cause of chronic disease globally [57]. Having nearby access to a source of healthy food, such as a supermarket, is associated with higher consumption of fruit and vegetables [34]. Food purchasing may also be influenced by the ratio of healthy to unhealthy food outlets [58]. Further, having shops nearby may encourage the use of active transport for shopping trips [59].

Finally, the local alcohol environment has been found to affect health risk factors, particularly in areas of socio-economic disadvantage. For example, higher densities of alcohol outlets are associated with harmful consumption of alcohol [60] and alcohol-related violence [61]. There is evidence of more alcohol outlets [62] and greater harm [18] in more disadvantaged areas.

In the following section we consider the policy context for creating urban liveability.

2.3 The policy context

Across Australia, there is a complex division of responsibility for city planning. The Federal government provides funding for major infrastructure and specific programs [63], while the role of the private and not-for-profit sectors in delivering infrastructure and services is increasing [63-66]. The Federal Government has demonstrated growing interest in creating smart liveable cities through investment and inter-governmental partnerships on city deals and its National Cities Performance Framework. However, primary responsibility for governance and management of urban areas rests with state and local governments [63].

State governments produce regional and metropolitan strategic plans, such as Plan Melbourne [67, 68], A Plan for Growing Sydney [69], South East Queensland Regional Plan 2009–2031 [70] and Directions 2031 and Beyond for Perth and Peel [71]. State governments provide the legislative framework for local planning schemes, ensuring that they are consistent with state government policy. The states are also responsible for funding and providing major infrastructure that helps determine urban liveability, such as roads, public transport, and government schools and hospitals [63, 65]. However, state governments delegate responsibility for many decisions on land use and development to local governments, and local governments also deliver and run a range of local services [63, 72].

State governments are divided into political portfolios and public service departments, each governing a distinct area of policy. Delivering services and infrastructure in a way that creates complete, liveable communities requires the involvement of many state government departments. Thus, to achieve urban liveability, integrated planning is essential to overcome policy silos and achieve coherent and consistent policy between many departments and agencies [73, 74].

All levels of government are increasingly recognising the benefits of urban liveability [68, 75-77]. But, as already noted, the concept of urban liveability is rarely defined or measured, and any measurement that is undertaken is typically not linked to current Australian urban planning policies, and ignores inequities within cities [2]. As Australian cities grow, if aspirations to maintain or improve liveability are to be realised, evidence-based targets and standards need to be integrated into policies. Importantly, current planning standards are generally not derived empirically or based on evidence – nor have they been empirically evaluated. The next section considers the role of indicators in measuring and monitoring policies that create urban liveability.

2.4 What is the role of indicators?

Evidence-informed planning and better monitoring of urban policy can assist in assessing progress towards maintaining and strengthening the liveability of Australian cities. This is increasingly important given projected population growth [78]. Indicators can assist by enabling the underlying domains of urban liveability to be benchmarked and

monitored over time.

An indicator is 'a measure or a set of measures that describes a complex social, economic or physical reality ... that acts as a gauge to tell us how well or poorly we are doing with respect to an indicator' [79, p.104]. Urban liveability indicators can be useful for describing where, what and why any difficulties relating to urban liveability exist, assessing policy effects and results over time [2], and understanding what aspects of a policy are (or are not) being implemented [80]. Hence, to bring the greatest benefits, indicators need to be relevant to the planning policies and practices that underpin the development of liveable cities and neighbourhoods.

For measurement to influence policy, geographic scale is important. Policy-makers and city planning practitioners have identified neighbourhood-level indicators to be particularly useful in removing geographic inequities. Based on research conducted with local and state government planners and policy-makers, Lowe et al. [2] argue that, to be credible, indicators must be developed through rigorous research, and must be linked to, or incorporated into, policy documents. Hence, the conceptualisation of indicators in this report was based on a series of workshops with policy-makers and practitioners held in Victoria and nationally, with input from a national advisory group that included Federal and state policy-makers [15]. Next, the projects that have underpinned the research presented in this report are briefly described.

2.5 National urban liveability research projects that underpin findings described in this report

The original urban liveability research reflected in this report was seed-funded by a grant from the Victorian Department of Health (now the Department of Health and Human Services) and joint funding support from the University of Melbourne's Social Equity Institute and Sustainable Society Institute. The research was initiated by regional managers in the Victorian Department of Health, who were concerned about rapidly expanding growth areas in Melbourne's north-west, and particularly about the health effects of the lack of infrastructure. This seed funding enabled our team to undertake qualitative research

with local government and regional and central officers of state government; to undertake a national and international literature review; and to define 'liveability' [1, 2]. From this initial seed funding grew a national program of research supported by major national research funding programs. This report is based on findings of urban liveability indicator research, supported by three major national research programs.

2.5.1 NHMRC Centre of Research Excellence (CRE) in Healthy, Liveable Communities

The CRE, funded by the National Health and Medical Research Council, aims to generate new knowledge about:

- measuring policy-relevant built environment features associated with leading noncommunicable disease risk factors and health outcomes
- causal relationships and thresholds for built environment interventions using data from longitudinal studies and natural experiments
- the economic benefits of built environment interventions designed to influence health and wellbeing
- factors, tools and interventions that help translate research into policy and practice [81].

The CRE has well-established advisory groups in Perth and Melbourne (which include representatives of state and local governments, non-government organisations, professional associations and the private sector) and a smaller advisory group in Brisbane. It also has national industry partners from the government, private and non-government sectors (the National Heart Foundation of Australia and the Planning Institute of Australia). The CRE's liveability work was led by Associate Professor Hannah Badland, with foundational work conducted in Melbourne, focusing on measuring and testing key urban liveability domains in adults [16-23, 28]. The Kids in the Community study (described in Appendix 4) is also focusing on developing a child (or family) liveability index [27, 28, 82-84].

2.5.2 The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre – The Australian National Liveability Study

The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre (TAPPC) involves researchers from more than 20 Australian universities, institutes and health departments, and funds a number of projects aimed at investigating how we can 'build an effective, efficient and equitable system for the prevention of lifestyle-related chronic disease' [85].

In 2013, TAPPC began funding the Australian National Liveability Study to develop and validate a set of national spatial liveability indicators associated with selected noncommunicable disease risk behaviours and health outcomes [15]. The Australian National Liveability Study is overseen by a national advisory group comprising the CRE national advisory group members, plus state government and private representatives from Victoria and New South Wales. It involves a national research team drawn from the University of Western Australia, RMIT University (the CRE and Healthy Liveable Cities group formerly located at Melbourne University), the University of Wollongong, the University of Canberra and the Australian Catholic University (previously located at Queensland University of Technology). After a national advisory group workshop in 2013, it was agreed that the liveability indicators were to be:

- aligned with urban policy
- developed using readily available data
- standard and consistent over time
- suitable for monitoring progress towards creating more liveable and sustainable communities
- validated as being associated with chronic disease risk factors and/or health outcomes [15].

The study was limited to liveability for adults, with validation research for individual urban liveability domains conducted in four cities where suitable data were available: Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney. In the first stage of this project, the study team identified a number of policy-relevant urban liveability indicators shown to affect people's health and wellbeing. In this report, these evidence-based 'national liveability indicators' are mapped for all state and territory capital cities across Australia, where data were available.

2.5.3 The Clean Air and Urban Landscapes Hub - Liveable Urban Systems Theme

The Clean Air and Urban Landscapes (CAUL) Hub is part of the Australian Government's National Environmental Science Program. The CAUL Hub undertakes research to improve environmental quality in Australia's urban areas, including air quality, urban greening, liveability and biodiversity [86]. It focuses on translating research into policy and practice, Indigenous Australian participation, and community engagement. The CAUL Hub involves researchers from four Australian universities: the University of Melbourne, RMIT University, the University of Western Australia and the University of Wollongong [86, 87].

Research undertaken by the CAUL Hub's Liveable Urban Systems project on urban liveability aimed to assess current policy and progress towards creating liveable neighbourhoods in Australian capital cities. Its focus was on developing and mapping indicators of urban liveability suitable for assessing the implementation of urban policy in Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney [87]. It builds on and complements research undertaken by the NHRMC Centre of Research Excellence and The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre.

Aims & Structure

The specific aims of this report are therefore to:

- 1. Identify state government urban planning policies and legislation and their targets that relate to key urban liveability policy domains;
- Create and map urban liveability indicators based on state government policy documents, to assess the degree of policy implementation and spatial inequities in liveability across Sydney, Melbourne, Perth and Brisbane; and
- For all Australian capital cities where data are available, to map a set of evidencebased national liveability indicators from the Australian National Liveability Study found to be associated with chronic disease risk behaviours and/or health outcomes.

The next section outlines the research methods used to identify, measure and map indicators. Then we describe the results, according to each of the urban liveability domains: walkability, public transport, public open space, employment, housing affordability, the food environment, and the alcohol environment. Each results section describes, firstly, the selected indicators for that policy domain and, secondly, the findings for state-specific policy implementation and national health-related liveability indicators. The results allow comparison within and between cities across Australia, with maps highlighting within-city geographical variation in performance for key liveability domains. In the concluding section, the results are discussed and analysed in relation to the literature. The data sources and data processing used to calculate and map the indicators are outlined in Appendix 3.



Methods

4.1. Research approach

The project was undertaken in a series of phases, as illustrated in Figure 1. Each phase is described in detail in the following sections.



Figure 1: Summary of report scope and methods

4.2 Policy review

The first phase of the study was a policy review. We aimed to identify policies that shaped each of the seven urban liveability domains: walkability, public transport, public open space, housing affordability, employment, the food environment, and the alcohol environment (Figure 1). Between 2014 and October 2016, we reviewed all relevant state government urban planning policies and legislation for Western Australia, Victoria, New South Wales and Queensland. This review commenced as part of the Australian National Liveability Study [15], and was extended for the Clean Air and Urban Landscapes Hub project.

We used the internet search engine Google and searched websites of relevant state government departments and agencies to identify current state policies for Melbourne, Sydney, Perth and Brisbane, for all seven policy domains. The full list of policies reviewed is in Appendix 1.

Each policy was screened to identify any spatial standards or targets related to the policy domains. The spatial standards were then assessed and selected for inclusion in the study, based on whether they could be measured with a geographic information system (GIS), using available spatial data. Appendix 2 lists the specific policy standards selected for inclusion. The aim was to calculate and map state-specific policy implementation measures drawn from identified state policy standards, for Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney. Due to study scope, policy implementation indicators were not calculated and mapped for other state and territory capital cities. However, all capital cities were included when considering national liveability indicators.

Some additional steps were followed to identify, create and validate national healthrelevant indicators, described fully elsewhere [32, 88, 89]. In brief, where no appropriate spatial standards could be identified in policy documents, alternative evidence-based measures derived from research and consultation with relevant experts and relevant local data authorities (e.g. NSW Ministry of Health) were identified and created. This resulted in a list of recommended measures for each urban liveability policy domain. As part of the Australian National Liveability Study, associations between these GIS-based urban liveability measures and a variety of health behaviours and outcomes were tested. From this initial research, a number of indicators were identified as the strongest potential 'health-enhancing' measures, and selected as the evidenced-based 'national liveability indicators', to allow comparison across all Australian capital cities.

4.3 Spatial analysis

Selecting, calculating and mapping policy and national liveability indicators across all Australian capital cities was a complex undertaking. Not only did it involve sourcing and processing large amounts of data, it also required data to be cleaned, and many decisions and assumptions to be made before analysis and mapping could proceed. This section describes the decisions and assumptions made, to enable these indicators to be replicated in the future.

4.3.1 Interpreting policy indicators spatially

The manner in which policies are defined presented some difficulties for computing a spatially explicit measure that corresponded with each policy. For example, the Western Australian government's Liveable Neighbourhoods 2009 (Element 2 Movement Network) defines a policy for the transport domain that 'at least 60 per cent of dwellings should be in a safe 400 m walk from a neighbourhood or town centre, or an existing or potential bus stop, or in a safe 600 m walk from a railway station' [90]. Although it is straightforward to determine the presence of an existing bus stop or railway station, publicly available data did not allow identification of a 'potential' bus stop, such as one planned for a new housing development. Similarly, while it is straightforward to calculate walking distances along the street network, no criteria defined what was meant by 'safe'. In cases like this, the definition and mapping of the policy was limited to what could be measured explicitly and unambiguously, indicated here with strikethrough: 'at least 60 per cent of dwellings should be in a safe 400 m walk from ... an existing or potential bus stop, or in a safe 600 m walk from a railway station'. Similarly, other policy documents, such as the NSW Government's Recreation and Open Space Planning Guidelines for Local Government [91] referred to measures that should be achieved for 'most' dwellings. We interpreted this literally, meaning that compliance was achieved if more than 50% of the dwellings met the policy requirement. In each urban liveability domain results section that follows, we describe the policy and how it was measured.

4.3.2 Defining a residential address

The majority of indicators in this study were calculated for all residential addresses in the capital cities. Exceptions include indicators based on ABS (Australian Bureau of Statistics) Census data, with these indicators were developed at various appropriate (or permitted) scales according to data availability. The scale used is indicated throughout the report. Across Australia, the definitive source of data on all addresses is the Geocoded National Address File (G-NAF), produced by PSMA Australia [92]. In G-NAF, each residential dwelling across the country is assigned a primary address. In the case of townhouses or units, a secondary sub-address is also assigned. To simplify analysis and aggregation of results, we considered only the primary addresses. Hence, in the case of a block of units, all units were scored identically across all measures. A consequence of this decision is that a block of units as a whole has the same weight in suburb-level averages as a detached house. Clearly this is a limitation, but was done for pragmatic reasons, given the scale of the project.

4.3.3 Defining study areas

As the aim of the study was to produce indicators for Australian state capital cities, the starting point was to define the study areas for each city. We used the 2011 capital city statistical divisions defined by the ABS in the Australian Standard Geographical Classification (ASGC) [93]. For Western Australia, both the Perth and Peel statistical divisions were joined together to define the capital city, because metropolitan Perth development now extends down the coast to join Peel.

The ABS Section of State (SOS) structure of the Australian Statistical Geography Standard defines areas classed as urban. Thus, within each capital city Statistical Division boundary, we further identified the urban areas of each capital city. The SOS aggregates the Urban Centre and Locality (UCL) areas of each state or territory, based on population ranges: UCLs with populations greater than 100,000 are aggregated into 'major urban' regions, while UCLs with populations between 1,000 and 99,999 are aggregated into 'other urban' regions. Together, 'major urban' and 'other urban' encapsulate all urban areas of each capital city.

The next step was to identify the residential addresses to be included in the study. The smallest geographical area defined by the ABS is the Mesh Block. Within the study area, residential addresses were initially collated for all Mesh Blocks containing one or more dwellings.

The final refinement to study areas and residential address listings was the application of the ABS Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA) to exclude non-residential areas for which our results would be irrelevant (for example, a cemetery). The SEIFA exclusion rules work under a two-phase system, firstly excluding areas based directly on their characteristics, then further excluding areas where insufficient data exist for computing the SEIFA index scores. The first-phase exclusion criteria applied at Statistical Area 1 (SA1) level are as follows [94]:

- Population of 10 or fewer
- Employed persons of 5 or fewer
- Number of classifiable occupied private dwellings of 5 or fewer
- Proportion of people in private dwellings: 20% or lower
- No address
- Offshore.

The same exclusions were applied across all cities for analysis across all domains, with the exception of public open space for Brisbane, where we were unable to obtain a reliable dataset for the entire study area. When we began the Australian National Liveability Study, we were unaware of any city-wide public open space dataset for the entire Brisbane study region. Consequently, analysis of the public open space indicator was undertaken only within the Brisbane City Council LGA, using a dataset that had previously been cleaned and verified. Although this did limit the area of analysis in Brisbane, and may misrepresent access to green space across that city, it is worth noting that, with a population in excess of 1 million residents, the Brisbane City Council encompasses a large proportion of the Brisbane metropolitan area and is the most populous LGA in Australia (more than twice the size of the next most populous LGA). Newer datasets are now available with whole-of-state coverage for public open space in Queensland, which will allow additional analysis to be undertaken in the future [95].

4.3.4 Defining study periods

Because our analyses were done before the release of all the relevant ABS 2016 Census data, for most urban liveability domains we used data from the 2011 Census. Any exceptions to this are noted in the relevant urban liveability domain section later in this report. However, now that the methods have been developed and the analyses undertaken, analyses with more up-to-date data can be replicated in future.

The policies reviewed were current at the time of analysis, but many had been developed and adopted some years earlier. We were unable to establish which areas of each city were developed under which policies, so we applied analysis uniformly across all cities at a point in time.

4.3.5 Sourcing data

Throughout this study we have attempted to use the best available data to calculate each measure for each capital city. This has required drawing on a wide range of datasets. Datasets specific to each domain are noted in the relevant sections of the report below. Datasets common across multiple domains included data used to:

- define the study areas (discussed in Section 4.3.3 above)
- identify residential addresses within scope (discussed in Section 4.3.2 above)
- calculate distances between origins (residential addresses) and domain-specific destinations

• summarise results at suburb and LGA level.

For both policy implementation and national liveability indicators, distances are typically specified as walking distances. To calculate walking distances, we used the PSMA Travel and Topography dataset. From the street network data, we derived a pedestrian-accessible street network dataset suitable for network analysis by removing non-pedestrian roads such as freeways. We also converted roundabouts to street intersections, to enable consistency when measuring street connectivity. However, data on footpaths and pedestrian links is not readily available nationally and was not used. To summarise results at suburb and LGA level we used the administrative boundaries provided by the ABS. In the case of suburbs, the ABS provides State Suburb Codes (SSCs), an approximation of the official Gazetted Locality.

4.3.6 Computing measures and summarising results

Many of the policy implementation and national liveability indicators assess the proportion of dwellings with access to a type of destination or facility within a specified distance. The benefits of computing measures for these indicators at residential address level are threefold:

- Accuracy calculating measures at finest level of detail necessarily produces more accurate results than calculating measures at an aggregate level. Inequities can be revealed not just at neighbourhood level, but down to individual residential address level.
- Flexible aggregation each residential address in this study is part of a suburb, an LGA and a city. In providing summary results, averages can be computed directly from individual residential address scores rather than as an average of averages. If averages are needed for other aggregations (such as postcodes or electoral boundaries), these can be quickly calculated from already available results.
- Linking many of the national liveability indicators used in this project were derived from research that linked built environment data to individual health-survey participant results. Calculating built environment measures at residential address

level will allow researchers to reduce measurement error in exposure measures, in order to gain the best possible insights from studying the relationship between the built environment and health and health behaviour. At the same time, it allows the data to be aggregated, which is more useful for local and state government policymakers.

As mentioned above, in this report all results have been summarised at suburb, LGA and metropolitan-wide levels. For residential address-based measures, the metropolitan-wide average is the average for all residential addresses in the study area. For measures based directly on ABS data, the metropolitan-wide average is the average for the Greater Capital City Statistical Area (GCCSA) as reported by the ABS. For a simplified visual representation of this difference, see Figure 39 in Appendix 3.

4.3.7 Mapping results

This report produced a very large number of indicators, of which only a limited number could be included in a written report. Hence, each indicator produced has been uploaded into our prototype online Urban Observatory, where users can navigate to an area of interest and visualise the indicator summarised at suburb level. The Urban Observatory prototype is currently under development; for updates and more information please refer to our project page at http://cur.org.au/project/urban-observatory/.

Maps were produced for selected liveability policies and national liveability indicators using desktop GIS technologies. Policy indicator maps (for example, Figure 4) comprise two map panels; the left-hand panel shows colour shading of the policy measure, while the right-hand panel shows the suburbs that meet the policy-specific threshold. Health-indicator maps (for example, Figure 6) typically comprise eight panels – one for each capital city. In mapping suburb averages, an important consideration was to avoid allowing sparsely populated urban fringe suburbs to visually dominate the map. To alleviate this problem, we have greyed out non-residential Mesh Blocks across the study areas.

4.3.8 Technologies and software

A range of open-source and commercial software was used to process the spatial data and generate the maps. Data were processed using ESRI ArcMap, PostgreSQL and PostGIS, KNIME and Selenium Nodes, and, to a lesser extent, QGIS. Building on work undertaken by the NHMRC Centre of Research Excellence in Healthy Liveable Communities, Python (including ArcPy) was used extensively to automate the production of indicators. Maps were produced in QGIS. The Urban Observatory is based on Leaflet, GeoNode and Boundless Exchange open-source technologies.

4.4. Assessing implementation and comparing cities

Once state-based policy indicators were identified and developed, we assessed the extent to which those policies had been implemented across the relevant cities. Mapping the implementation of policies revealed spatial inequities in the implementation of policy, and provided insights into where across the city policy implementation was optimal (or not).

Nevertheless, assessing state policy implementation precluded direct comparison between Australian cities, because most state policies differ from state to state. To overcome this problem, we developed policy-relevant indicators that our TAPPC and the CRE research found are associated with health-related benefits. All of these indicators were 'policy-relevant' because an analysis of urban policies from multiple cities had been undertaken, and their associations with health benefits examined. The policies most strongly associated with better health and wellbeing were selected as our 'health-related national liveability' indicators. This approach had three advantages: first, it allowed cities to be directly compared with one another using common metrics; second, it provided insights into policy-relevant indicators identified as promoting health and wellbeing in Australians; and third, it enabled us to identify inequities in the delivery of urban policies likely to promote health and wellbeing. It also reconnected urban planning policies to public health, and to the very origins of city planning.

Walkability

5.1 Selected policy targets and indicators

We reviewed policies in Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney to identify walkabilityrelated indicators. The selected state government walkability policy standards are outlined in Appendix 2 - Walkability. Methods used to source data and calculate and map the walkability indicators are described in Appendix 3 - Walkability.

State policy standards for Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney all stipulated suburban residential development density targets. However, the policy ambition was very low for most of these cities, with 15 dwellings per hectare being the common target for Melbourne, Sydney and Brisbane. With a policy target of 26 dwellings per hectare, Perth's ambition was more in line with levels of density likely to encourage walking, and to deliver better public transport services [96]. Similarly, Brisbane's 'urban' target was 30 dwellings per hectare. We measured both gross density and net density. The gross density for an area is the number of dwellings in that area, divided by the total area including nonresidential land. The net density for an area is the number of dwellings within the residential parts of the area (as defined by ABS Mesh Block classifications) divided by that same residential area. For areas that are entirely residential, the net density will be the same as the gross density. Victoria set a target for the proportion of dwellings that should be within walking distances of neighbourhood centres of activity, and Western Australia also had a policy related to walkable catchments around activity centres: 'most' or a 'substantial majority' of residential dwellings should be within 400 m of a neighbourhood activity centres. Victoria, Western Australia and Queensland also set policy guidelines for the length and width of street blocks, to ensure block sizes that support walkability.

The national liveability indicators (those found to be associated with a health benefit) were broadly aligned with the state-specific policy requirements, but were based on current research findings (where national data were available). Consistent with policy requirements in Victoria and Western Australia, one national liveability walkability indicator included the average distance to an activity centre, defined by a supermarket within a commercial zone. In addition, the national liveability walkability indicators included variables that could be combined to create a 'walkability index'. This included a measure of dwelling density within a walkable distance from each residential address (within 1600 m along the street network) [97]: street connectivity (measured as the number of intersections of three or more streets per km² [97]); and access to daily-living destinations – a convenience store (including petrol stations and newsagents), a public transport stop, and a supermarket. The research literature highlights the importance of accessible destinations for encouraging walking [47, 98, 99]. Access to daily-living destinations was included as an alternative to the land-use mix variable commonly used in the academic literature [97]. This is because. despite our best efforts, it was not possible to create a reliable mixed-use variable using nationally available data [89]. A methodological study (as yet unpublished) comparing the mixed-use variable with our daily-living destinations produced comparable walking results. We also found the daily-living destination variable to be associated with public transport and driving variability [100]. Street connectivity, daily-living and dwelling-density variables were combined to create a city-specific composite walkability index that ranked areas in each city from lowest walkability to highest. Because this ranking is a relative measure calculated within each city, it is not appropriate to directly compare the actual walkability scores between cities. However, the ranking does provide an indication of levels of inequity in walkability within each city, and how each city area compares in actual walkability to other areas in that same city.

5.2 Measuring policy implementation: state-based policyderived indicators

Table 1 summarises the findings for policy-derived walkability indicators and policy implementation across the four capital cities where policy analyses were undertaken. Only Victoria and Western Australia appeared to have specific, spatially measurable policies governing access to destinations: 40% of dwellings in Melbourne were within 1 km of an activity centre anchored by a supermarket, which was below the state policy target of 80%. Notably, however, only 11% of suburbs in Melbourne met the target (80% of dwellings within 1 km of an activity centre). Perth's guidelines require 'most' dwellings to be within 400 m of a secondary or district centre, or within 200 m of a neighbourhood centre, but only 10% of dwellings across Perth's metropolitan area have this level of access.

Only in Perth, Melbourne and Brisbane did we identify measurable spatial policies on street connectivity, but no specific targets. Around 70% of metropolitan Perth residential street blocks had a perimeter of less than 720 m. In Melbourne, 60% of street blocks had a perimeter of less than 720 m. In Brisbane, 43% of street blocks were less than 560 m in perimeter.

Irrespective of whether density is measured as gross or net density, dwelling densities of Australian cities are very low. With suburb averages for gross dwelling density ranging from 5.7 to 12.9 dwellings per hectare, Melbourne, Perth and Brisbane were all well below their respective state targets for suburban density (15–26 dwellings per hectare). Sydney came the closest to meeting its density policy target of 15 dwellings per hectare, with average suburb-level densities ranging from 12.9 to 19.7, depending upon whether gross or net density is measured. Indeed, applying the more lenient net density measure, 37% of Sydney's suburbs achieved that city's policy target of 15 dwellings per hectare, as did 21% of suburbs in Melbourne. Perth had the most ambitious density target for suburban development of all Australian cities, at 26 dwellings per hectare. However, at this stage only 2% of Perth suburbs appear to be achieving this target (perhaps unsurprising as the target is relatively new). Similarly, only 2% of Brisbane suburbs appear to be achieving that city's urban target of 30 dwellings per hectare, while only 13% of suburbs met its

suburban target of 15 dwellings per hectare.

The spatial distribution of net dwelling density, based on 2011 Census data, is seen in the upper panels of Figure 2. The lower panels show compliance with state policies, using 15 dwellings per hectare as the cut-off. We can see that Sydney was the only city where high densities extended beyond the inner city, with a larger number of suburbs (particularly south of the city) complying with or exceeding this policy standard. This was followed by Melbourne. Given rapid densification of cities in recent years, this probably underestimates the densities now seen in these cities, but provides a baseline against which progress can be measured once all ABS 2016 Census data are available.



Table 1: Policy implementation indicators for walkability

City	Policy implementation indicator	Policy target	Metro-level % of all residential addresses	Suburb average	LGA average	Percentage of suburbs that achieved the policy target
Melbourne	% of street blocks with a perimeter of < 720m (i.e. between 120m and 240m long and 60m and 120m wide)	-	64.71	59.00	64.19	-
	% of residential addresses within 1km of an activity centre (i.e. a supermarket)	80-90	39.78	38.73	44.45	11% (n = 403)
	Dwellings per hectare	15	-	7.98 (gross) 12.91 (net)	7.45 (gross) 13.83 (net)	21% (net) (n = 403)
Perth	% of street blocks with a perimeter of < 720m (i.e. <240m long and <120m wide)	-	70.53	64.80	71.01	-
	% of residential addresses within 400m of a secondary or district centre or 200m of a neighbourhood centre	-	9.97	9.72	15.49	-
	Dwellings per hectare	26	-	5.93 (gross) 9.05 (net)	5.36 (gross) 9.71 (net)	2% (net) (n = 298)
	% residential lots by area ≤350m ²	-	2.64	3.03	5.47	-
	>350 - ≤550m²	-	10.76	10.59	14.31	-
	>550 - ≤750m²	-	41.59	33.54	30.96	-
	>750 - ≤950m²	-	25.13	21.49	22.25	-
	>950 m ²	-	19.88	31.34	27.00	-
Brisbane	% of street blocks with a perimeter of < 560m (i.e. between 100m and 200m long and 40m and 80m wide)	-	43.34	38.51	40.55	-
	Dwellings per hectare	15 (suburban) 30 (urban)	-	5.71 (gross) 9.16 (net)	1.32 (gross) 4.61 (net)	13% > 15 (net) 2% > 30 (net) (n = 337)
Sydney	Dwellings per hectare	15	-	12.94 (gross) 19.67 (net)	11.23 (gross) 18.53 (net)	37% (net) (n = 562)



Figure 2: Average net dwelling density (by suburb) in dwellings per hectare (top); and suburbs achieving this level of implementation of this policy (bottom)

Figure 3 shows the net dwellings per hectare by LGA. Melbourne, Brisbane and Sydney's density target is very modest at 15 dwellings/hectare. When net density is considered, Sydney is the only city achieving even this modest level of dwelling density target on average across its LGAs. Few LGAs in Melbourne and none in Brisbane are achieving this very modest target. Perth has a suitably ambitious target for suburban development at 26 dwellings per hectare: yet has some way to go before achieving this target. Based on 2011, Census data, Figure 3 shows that only one Perth LGA is achieving this target.

Figure 4 shows the percentage of Melbourne residences that are within 1 km of an



Figure 3: Net dwellings per hectare by LGA and city

activity centre with a supermarket. The suburb average for Melbourne was 39%. Indeed, as can be seen in the right-hand panel, very few suburbs met the state government's target of 80% of dwellings within 1 km of an activity centre. Most that did were in the inner

city or inner-north. In Melbourne, the LGA average of dwellings within 1 km of an activity centre with a supermarket was 44%. This is shown graphically in Figure 5. Indeed, only three LGAs met the state target.



Percentage of Melbourne residences by suburb within 1km of an activity centre with a supermarket

Figure 4: Melbourne: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 1 km of an activity centre with a supermarket (left); number of suburbs complying with the policy (right)



Percentage of residential addresses by LGA within 1km of an activity centre with a supermarket

Figure 5: Melbourne: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within 1 km of an activity centre with a supermarket
5.3 National liveability indicators

The state-based policy walkability indicators are useful for assessing the level of policy implementation in cities, while the national liveability walkability indicators allow comparisons between cities. As can be seen in Table 2, residential dwellings in Adelaide, Sydney and Canberra had the shortest distances to the closest activity centre anchored by a supermarket (1256–1295 m) at the metropolitan, suburb and LGA average level. On average, residents of Darwin, Hobart and Perth travel further to reach an activity centre (1482–2039 m).

Pedsheds are a measure of street connectivity, representing the ratio of the 'as the crow flies' buffer to the street network buffer. The higher the pedshed, the more connected the street networks. Pedsheds of at least 60% are required around major destinations to create pedestrian-friendly neighbourhoods. The average pedshed at the SA1 level across all cities ranged from 36.9% in Darwin to 43.9% in Hobart. Adelaide, Sydney and Melbourne also had pedsheds just over 40%.

Three variables were measured at the neighbourhood scale (1600 m from residential dwellings), and later combined to create a walkability index. The first is street connectivity

measured as the number of intersections with three or more legs in a given area. Using this measure Canberra and Sydney scored highest on street connectivity at the metropolitan level, and for the suburb and LGA average. Darwin was the city with the lowest level of street connectivity.

The next variable is dwelling density at the local neighbourhood scale: metro-level averages varied from 17.8 dwellings per hectare in Sydney and 14.1 per hectare in Melbourne, to 8.3 per hectare in Hobart.

The final measure was daily-living destinations. Across metropolitan areas, on average dwellings in most cities had two or more daily-living destination types within 1600 m. Perth had the smallest average number of daily-living destinations within 1600 m of homes (1.99), followed by Darwin.

At the neighbourhood scale, residences in Sydney, Melbourne and Adelaide had access to slightly more daily-living destinations (2.59–2.66), with Perth having fewer than other cities (1.99). The results suggest that Melbourne, Sydney and Adelaide are the most walkable cities in Australia, because these cities on average had higher levels of street connectivity, dwelling densities and daily-living destinations than other cities.

Indicator	Scale	City							
		Melbourne	Perth	Brisbane	Sydney	Adelaide	Canberra	Darwin	Hobart
Average distance to closest activity centre, where activity centre is defined as a supermarket within a commercial zone	Metro-level ¹	1331.91 m	1498.82 m	1481.57 m	1285.45 m	1256.10 m	1295.33 m	2038.95 m	1548.66 m
	Suburb average ²	1561.42 m	1751.29 m	1839.80 m	1384.80 m	1333.17 m	1464.63 m	2561.50 m	1888.91 m
	LGA average ³	1249.26 m	1473.17 m	1634.03 m	1298.21 m	1191.97 m	1295.33 m	3595.02 m	1680.82 m
Average pedshed ratio, defined as the buffered area of the 400m street network distance from each residential address divided by the radial "crow flies" area within 400 m; i.e. 50.2 ha.	SA1 average⁴	41.91	39.28	38.43	42.32	43.23	37.13	36.86	43.92

Table 2: National liveability indicators for walkability

Average number of daily living types present, measured as a score of 0-3, with 1 point for each category of (convenience store/petrol station/newsagent, PT stop,	Metro-level ¹	2.59	1.99	2.43	2.66	2.66	2.46	2.10	2.44
	Suburb average ²	2.49	1.92	2.24	2.60	2.61	2.47	1.95	2.20
supermarket) within 1600m network distance	LGA average ³	2.64	2.12	2.26	2.68	2.69	2.46	1.69	2.27
Street connectivity, measured as 3+ leg	Metro-level ¹	0.70	0.73	0.68	0.82	0.78	1.10	0.51	0.71
the area is computed from the 1600m	Suburb average ²	0.66	0.69	0.63	0.84	0.74	1.09	0.47	0.63
buffered by 50m	LGA average ³	0.74	0.73	0.64	0.86	0.78	1.10	0.35	0.65
Dwelling density, calculated as the aggregate sum of dwellings recorded in the Mesh Block polygons intersecting the 1600m pedestrian-accessible street network once buffered by 50m ("neighbourhood") and divided by the "neighbourhood" area in hectares.	Metro-level ¹	14.13	11.91	12.55	17.83	12.57	10.48	10.61	8.33
	Suburb average ²	13.43	11.24	11.62	18.65	12.35	10.25	9.64	6.95
	LGA average ³	15.36	12.34	11.00	20.29	12.84	10.48	6.81	7.24

¹ The average connectivity score for ALL residential cadastre within the metropolitan region of the city; ² The average connectivity residential cadastre within each suburb; ³ The average connectivity residential cadastre within each local government authority

Figure 6 shows spatial distribution of the 'walkability' indicator, a composite index combining dwelling density, daily-living destinations and street connectivity. As can be seen, walkability is spatially patterned: few residents in outer-suburban areas enjoy the benefits of a walkable neighbourhood. With few exceptions, higher levels of walkability in each capital city are concentrated in the inner and (in some cases) middle-level suburbs. Notably, in outer-suburban Perth, there are areas that appear to be highly walkable. This is likely to reflect the trial of the Western Australian government's Liveable Neighbourhood

subdivision code [101], which began in 1997, and includes a policy to increase densities in outer-suburban areas. This result shows that, with well-designed and well-implemented policy, it is possible to create more walkable neighbourhoods, even in outer-suburban areas of Australian cities. Canberra also appears to have some highly walkable areas in more established outer-suburban areas, possibly reflecting the fact that these older neighbourhoods were designed to include local neighbourhood activity centres.



* decile score for the suburbs of each city, combining street connectivity, dwelling density and daily living scores - note that decile rankings are not comparable across cities

Figure 6: Composite walkability indicator for suburbs within each capital city

Public Transport

6.1 Selected policy targets and indicators

Policies in Perth, Melbourne, Brisbane and Sydney were reviewed to identify policies and targets for public transport for which spatial indicators could be created. The selected state government public transport targets are outlined in Table 3. Further details of the source of policy measures are given in Appendix 2 – Public Transport. Methods used to source data and calculate and map the public transport indicators are in Appendix 3 – Public Transport.

All public transport policy targets identified aimed to ensure that a significant proportion of (or all) residences have access to public transport within walking distance of their home, with shorter distance requirements for bus stops (400 m) and tram stops (600 m) than for train stations (800 m). However, the policy ambition for the proportion of residences with nearby access varied markedly between states. For example, the Western Australian policy aimed to provide only 60% of Perth residences with access to public transport, whereas in Brisbane the target was 90% of residences, in Melbourne 95%, and Sydney 100%.

Unlike the other states, New South Wales has particularly ambitious public transport policy and desirable targets, with policies requiring residents to have access to public transport stops served at particular frequencies. As noted in Appendix 1 – New South Wales, the Integrated Public Transport Service Planning Guidelines [102, 103] contain very detailed requirements for service frequencies by tier and time-of-day but these could not be mapped using publicly available data. Therefore, the policy standard from the 2001

Integrated Transport and Land Use Guidelines (still available at the time of analysis) was selected for inclusion [104]. This guideline more simply states that households should be within walking distances to bus stops that are serviced every 30 minutes and train stations serviced every 15 minutes. Notably, the Australian National Liveability Study found that a combined measure of public transport access and frequency was a stronger predictor of walking for transport than was a measure of access alone [32]. Hence, the national liveability public transport indicator (Table 4) is defined as the percentage of residential dwellings within 400 m walking distance of a public transport stop that has a service at least every 30 minutes on a normal weekday.

6.2 Measuring policy implementation: state-based policyderived indicators

Table 3 summarises the findings for public transport policy-derived indicators across the four state capital cities where policy analyses were undertaken. Overall, 70% of dwellings in Melbourne had access to a public transport stop in accordance with Victoria's policy target. Just over 60% of dwellings in Perth and Brisbane met their respective states' 400 m targets. However, only 38% of residential dwellings in metropolitan Sydney achieved the New South Wales government's more ambitious access and frequency targets.

At the metropolitan level, Perth appeared to do better than other Australian cities at meeting its public transport access policy targets. However, Perth's policy ambition is significantly lower than those of other cities, at only 60%. Overall, approximately 64% of all residential addresses across metropolitan Perth and Peel were within a 400 m walk of a bus stop, or 800 m from a train station, exceeding the state government's target of 60%. Almost 70% of residential dwellings in metropolitan Melbourne are within 400 m of a bus stop, 600 m of a tram stop or 800 m of a train station, but this fell short of the state's more ambitious target of 95% (Table 3). Similarly, 61.4% of dwellings in Brisbane were within 400 m of a public transport stop, but this also fell short of its ambitious target of 90%.

The most ambitious target for public transport access was that of New South Wales, because it incorporated both proximity and frequency of service. Only 37.8% of residential

dwellings across metropolitan Sydney achieved the New South Wales state government's comprehensive public transport indicator, significantly short of its target of giving 100% of dwellings access to this level of service. Analysis at the suburb level highlights significant inequities in the provision of public transport in metropolitan regions. In general, there is a pattern of better access to public transport in the inner cities (see Figure 7 through Figure 10), within declining access in outer-suburban areas.

Although Perth met its policy target at a metropolitan level, only 54% of Perth's suburbs overall did so (Table 3). As shown in Figure 7, residents in Perth's outer north and outer east have the lowest level of access to public transport in that city. Fewer suburbs in

the states that set more ambitious targets than Perth met their state's policy targets. For example, in Melbourne, only 14% of suburbs met the policy target of 95% of dwellings having proximate access, and these are mostly clustered in the inner city (Table 3 and Figure 8). Similarly, in Brisbane only 13% of suburbs met the state policy target of 90% of dwellings having access, and these were mostly clustered around the inner city and central lpswich districts (Table 3 and Figure 9). Only nine inner-city Sydney suburbs (1.6% of all Sydney's suburbs) met the more stringent target of 100% of dwellings having accessible and frequent bus and train services (see Table 3 and Figure 10).

Table 3: Policy implementation indicators for public transport

City	Policy implementation indicator	Policy target	Metro-level % of all residential	Suburb	LGA	Percentage of suburbs that
			addresses	average	average	policy target
Melbourne	% of residential addresses within 400m of a bus stop, 600m of a tram stop or 800m of a train	95	69.40	67.00	71.00	14.1
	station	50	00.40	07.00	11.00	(n = 403)
						3.5
	% of residential addresses within 400m of a bus stop	95	62.93	59.23	63.32	(n = 403)
	% of residential addresses within 600m of a tram stop	-	12.51	14.31	17.74	-
	% of residential addresses within 800m of a train station	-	11.66	13.06	14.19	-
Porth	% of residential addresses within 400m of a bus step or 800m of a train station	60	62.80	60.64	71.04	54.1
reitt			03.00	00.04	11.24	(n = 307)
Driebana	0/ of residential addresses within 400m of a sublic transport stor	00	61.4	50.00	52.00	12.8
Brisbane	% of residential addresses within 400m of a public transport stop	90	01.4	00.82	53.96	(n = 337)
Sydney	% of residential addresses within 400m of a bus stop serviced every 30 minutes or 800m of a	100	07.70	00.07	45.00	1.6
	train station serviced every 15 minutes	100	37.76	38.97	45.66	(n = 562)
	% of residential addresses within 400m of a bus stop serviced every 30 minutes	-	34.61	34.83	42.10	-
	% of residential addresses within 800m of a train station serviced every 15 minutes	-	7.48	9.59	9.11	-



Percentage of Perth residences by suburb within 400m of a bus stop, or 800m of a train station

Figure 7: Perth: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of a bus stop, or 800 m of a railway station (left); suburbs that comply with the state policy (right)

Percentage of Melbourne residences by suburb within 400m of a bus stop, 600m of a tram stop or 800m of a train station





Figure 8: Melbourne: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of a bus stop, 600 m of a tram stop, or 800 m of a train station (left); suburbs that comply with the state policy (right)



Figure 9: Brisbane: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of a public transport stop (left); suburbs that comply with the state policy (right)



Percentage of Sydney residences by suburb within 400m of a bus stop with a service every 30 minutes or 800m of a train station with a service every 15 minutes



Figure 10: Sydney: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of a bus stop with a service every 30 minutes or within 800 m of a train station with a service every 15 minutes (left); suburbs that comply with the state policy (right)

Turning to the LGA level, Table 3 and Figure 11 through Figure 15 show the LGA averages for the state-specific policy-derived public transport indicators. These reveal significant variation in the level of public transport access between different LGAs in each city, with the greatest variation observed across Sydney. Similar to the findings at the

metropolitan level, LGA averages are below the policy target for all cities assessed, except for Perth, with its significantly lower policy target. Notably, no LGAs in Sydney or Brisbane met the relevant target.



Figure 11: Melbourne: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within 400 m of a bus stop, 600 m of a tram stop or 800 m of a train station



Percentage of residential addresses by LGA within 400m of a bus stop

Figure 12: Melbourne: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within 400 m of a bus stop



Figure 13: Perth: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within 400 m of a bus stop or 800 m of a train station



Figure 14: Brisbane: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within 400 m of a public transport stop



Percentage of residential addresses by LGA within 400m of a frequent bus stop or 800m of a frequent train station

Figure 15: Sydney: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within 400 m of a bus stop serviced every 30 minutes or within 800 m of a train station serviced every 15 minutes

6.3 National liveability indicators

While the state-based policy-derived indicators are useful for assessing the level of policy implementation within cities, the national liveability public transport indicator allows comparison between cities, by applying a consistent measure to all cities. Table 4 shows the results for the selected national liveability public transport indicator.

At the metropolitan level, the percentage of residences within 400 m of a public transport stop with a scheduled service at least every 30 minutes between 7 am and 7 pm on a normal weekday varied greatly between cities, from only 4% in Darwin to more

than 35% in Melbourne, Adelaide and Sydney. Only 18% of Perth's residential dwellings had this level of access, as did between 11% and 13% in Brisbane, Canberra and Hobart. While residents of some cities face greater public transport access barriers than others, in all Australian state and territory capital cities the vast majority of dwellings do not have access to proximate and frequent public transport services during weekday work hours. The best services are in Adelaide, Melbourne and Sydney. The suburb averages follow a similar pattern to the metropolitan-level results, varying from approximately 4% of residences having access to proximate and frequent public transport in Darwin, to around 36% in Adelaide, Melbourne and Sydney.

Table 4: National liveability indicators for public transport

Indicator	Saala	City								
	Scale	Melbourne	Perth	Brisbane	Sydney	Adelaide	Canberra	Darwin	Hobart	
% of residential dwellings within 400m of a public transport stop with a scheduled service at least every 30 minutes between 7.00am and 7.00pm on a normal weekday	Metro level ¹	36.16	17.90	11.76	35.47	36.48	11.20	4.00	13.00	
	Suburb average ²	35.07	17.60	10.86	36.20	36.32	15.07	3.74	8.11	
	LGA average ³	41.43	25.76	4.43	43.12	42.05	11.20	1.55	7.86	

¹ The percentage for all residential addresses within the study area; ² The average of all suburb-level percentages within the study area; ³ The average of all LGA-level percentages within the study area

Figure 16 shows the geographical variation in access to public transport at the suburb level, using the national liveability public transport indicator that enables comparison between cities. Australia's largest cities (Sydney, Melbourne, Brisbane and Perth) show a clear pattern of better access to proximate and frequent public transport in areas closer to the inner city. Areas to the north of Melbourne's central business district had better access to public transport than did areas to the south. Conversely, in Sydney, areas to the south of the city had better access to proximate frequent services, than did areas to the north. The spatial patterning of public transport access in Adelaide and Hobart was also better closer to the city. Overall, fewer areas in Canberra, Darwin and Hobart had comparable access to public transport, and the spatial patterning was less obvious.



* between 7.00am and 7.00pm on a normal (e.g. non-school holiday) weekday, excluding Fridays

Figure 16: Percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of a public transport stop with a service every 30 minutes

Public Open Space

7.1 Selected policy targets and indicators

Policies in Perth, Melbourne, Brisbane and Sydney were reviewed to identify policies and targets for public open space (POS) for which spatial indicators could be created. The selected state government POS targets are outlined in Table 5. Further details of the source of policy measures are detailed in Appendix 2 – Public Open Space. The methods used to source data and calculate and map the indicators are in Appendix 3 – Public Open Space.

All POS policy targets identified aimed to ensure that a significant proportion of (or all) residents had access to POS within walking distance of their home. In most states, the policies specified shorter distances for access to smaller parks and longer distances for larger parks. However, the policy ambition for the proportion of residences with nearby access varied markedly between states. In Melbourne, the requirement was for 95% of residences to have access within 400 m, and in Brisbane the requirement was for 90%. In both Perth and Sydney policies require 'most' residences to have access: in our analyses we took this to mean more than 50%. Perth also has a relatively new requirement that all residences (100%) have access to POS within 300 m.

In all states other than Western Australia, public open space was referred to in policy documents as 'parks' (see Appendix 2 – Public Open Space). This definition distinguished between green space designed and able to cater for a range of active and passive leisure or recreational activities, and areas of native vegetation [105]. While the latter class of green space is important for biodiversity and for mitigating urban heat-island effects [43], it was not included in our formal definition of public open space. In Western Australia, the

terms 'parks' and 'open space' were used interchangeably in policy documents.

With the exception of Victoria, all other states specified POS policies requiring parks of different sizes to be accessible within different walking distances. Notably, all states required POS to be accessible within 400 m, equivalent to a five-minute walk. While Victoria did not specify a size for this POS, Queensland and New South Wales required it to be a park greater than 0.5 hectares (ha), and Western Australia required it to be a park between 0.4 and 1 ha. Parks of larger sizes were also expected to be accessible within walking distance in Perth, Brisbane and Sydney. For example, parks greater than 2 ha were required within 2 km of Sydney residences, and parks greater than 5 ha were required within 2 km of Perth and 2.5 km of Brisbane residences.

As outlined in Table 6, the national liveability indicators (those found to be associated with a health benefit), were broadly similar to the state-specific policy requirements of each state, but were based on current research findings [31, 106]. Consistent with policy requirements in Victoria, one national liveability indicator was access to POS within 400 m. Just as each of the remaining states in which policies were reviewed also stipulated a minimum park size to be accessible within 400 m, a second national liveability indicator was POS greater than 1.5 ha within 400 m. As there was no nationally consistent source of POS data suitable for computing access and size indicators (for further details see Appendix 3 – Public Open Space), we included a national liveability indicator based on ABS data that measured the proportion of each capital city that was parkland.

7.2 Measuring policy implementation: state-based policyderived indicators

Table 5 summarises the findings of the policy-derived POS implementation indicators for each state capital city. Victoria was the only state that has a proximity to POS standard, without considering its size. Overall, 82% of dwellings across metropolitan Melbourne met the Victorian government's target of being within 400 m of POS, falling a little short of the target of 95%. However, only 48 of Melbourne's 403 suburbs (12%), met the target.

Western Australia, Queensland and New South Wales standards all combined proximity

and size into their standards, with desirable distances varying by the size of the POS. Perth had the most demanding set of standards, ranging from walkable proximities to POS of between 300 m and 2 km. Only three standards were directly comparable between these three states: POS of at least 0.4–0.5 ha within 400 m. When these indicators are compared, 40% of dwellings in Perth and Peel region met this target, and 59% of dwellings in the Sydney metropolitan area. Data were not available for the Brisbane metropolitan area overall, but 65% of dwellings in the City of Brisbane met this target (see LGA average) and 14 of its 173 suburbs (8%). Sydney's level of implementation (59%) was above its state government target of 50%, while Perth's implementation (40%) fell a little short of its target (50%). However, when larger parks were considered, both Perth and Sydney were well above their targets for having larger parks across the metropolitan area: for example, 89% of Perth and Peel region dwellings were within 800 m of a neighbourhood park (between 1 and 5 ha); and 76% within 2 km of a district park (larger than 5 ha), while 98% of Sydney dwellings across the metropolitan area were within 2 km of a park greater than 2 ha. Similarly, 99% of dwellings in the City of Brisbane met the standard of being within 2.5 km of a district recreational park, as did 98% of all residential lots in each suburb on average.

When the other standards were considered, 64% of all residential lots across the Perth and Peel metropolitan area were within 300 m walking distance of any POS – falling short of the very strict 100% target earmarked for inclusion in a revised version of the state's Liveable Neighbourhood design guidelines for new suburban development [107]. This is a new requirement (the previous target being that 10% of land be allocated to POS). Hence, only one out of 298 suburbs in Perth met this strict policy standard. However, on average, 59% of all residences in each suburb, and 63% of all residences in each LGA, were within 300 m of a park. This ranged from 0% (across 17 suburbs) to 100% (for just one suburb). The extent to which this policy achieves good outcomes requires research. For example, there is a trade-off between access to green space and walkability: the one Perth suburb where all residential addresses were within 300 m of POS was in the sixth decile of walkability, which suggests that fewer people would walk for transport. Research is required to explore the optimal level of green space, and whether these new Perth requirements for proximate open space will produce the best results for suburban development. Previous research conducted in Perth found that access to larger, attractive public open spaces encouraged more recreational walking [46, 108], while high-quality parks support better mental health [50]. To this end, almost 90% of dwellings in the Perth and Peel regions were within 800 m of any neighbourhood park (between 1 ha and 5 ha in size), and 76% were within 2 km of a larger district park.

Figure 17 through Figure 22 show the spatial distribution of access to POS using two sets of indicators: the percentage of residential lots within each suburb that have access to: 1) POS within 400 m (with the size (if relevant) specified depending on the state policy); and 2) in Perth and Sydney, access to larger POS as per the specific policy target in each state. Each figure also illustrates the suburbs that meet the respective policy standard. As shown in Figure 17, except for areas in the south-east of the city, more dwellings in outer-suburban Melbourne have access to POS in accordance with the 400 m standard. Brisbane's policy combined proximity and size, with more dwellings in outer areas of the City of Brisbane complying with the policy, than those closer to the city (see Figure 20). There is a mixed pattern of policy compliance across the city, with only a small number of suburbs in outer and inner Brisbane meeting the policy target of 90% of dwellings within 400 m of a park larger than 0.5 ha.

Table 5: Policy implementation indicators for public open space

			Metro-level			Percentage of
City	Policy implementation indicator	Policy target (% of dwellings)	% of all residential addresses	Suburb average (%)	LGA average (%)	suburbs that achieved the policy target
Melbourne	% of residential addresses within 400m of public open space	95	81.8	80.0	81.7	12
Porth						(11 = 403)
i eiui	% of residential addresses within 300m of any public open space	100	64.4	59.1	62.6	(n = 298)
		any local park > 0.4ha and \leq 1ha5039.7any neighbourhood park > 1ha and \leq 5ha5089.2	07.0	00.4	32	
; ; ;	% of residential addresses within 400m of any local park > 0.4na and \leq Tha	50	39.7	37.2	38.4	(n = 298)
		50	00.0	24.2	07.5	88
	% of residential addresses within 800m of any heighbourhood park > Tha and \leq 5ha	50	89.2	81.0	87.5	Percentage of suburbs that achieved the policy target 12 (n = 403) < 1 (n = 298) 32 (n = 298) 88 (n = 298) 88 (n = 298) 70 (n = 298) 88 (n = 173) 55 (n = 173) 55 (n = 173) 67 (n = 562) 98 (n = 562)
		50	70.0	07.0	70.0	70
	% of residential addresses within 2km of any district park > 5ha and \leq 20 ha		76.2	67.2	70.9	(n = 298)
Brisbane		00	1	00.0	05.01	8
	% of residential addresses within 400m of a heighbourhood recreation park > 0.5ha	90	'	63.3	65.01	(n = 173)
		00	1	07.0	00.01	55
	% of residential addresses within 2.5km of a district recreation park > 5ha	90	'	97.8	99.31	(n = 173)
Sydney		50	50.5		55.0	67
	% of residential addresses within 400m of a park > 0.5na	50	58.5	60.8	55.8	(n = 562)
		50	00.4	07.1	00.0	98
	% of residential addresses within 2km of a park > 2na	50	98.4	97.1	98.0	(n = 562)

¹Only a single LGA, Brisbane City Council, was analysed.



Figure 17: Melbourne: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of public open space (left); suburbs that comply with the state policy (right)



Percentage of Perth residences by suburb within 400m of a park > 0.4ha and \leq 1ha

Figure 18: Perth: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400m of a park 0.4-1.0 ha (left); suburbs that comply with the state policy (right)



Percentage of Perth residences by suburb within 800m of a park > 1ha and \leq 5ha

Figure 19: Perth: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 800 m of a park 1–5 ha in size (left); suburbs that comply with the state policy (right)



Percentage of Brisbane City Council residences by suburb within 400m of a park greater than 0.5ha

Figure 20: Brisbane City Council: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of a park larger than 0.5 ha (left); suburbs that comply with the state policy (right)



Percentage of Sydney residences by suburb within 400m of a park > 0.5ha

Figure 21: Sydney: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 400 m of a park larger than 0.5 ha (left); suburbs that comply with the state policy (right)

Percentage of Sydney residences by suburb within 2km of a park > 2ha



Figure 22: Sydney: percentage of residences (by suburb) within 2 km of a park larger than 2 ha (left); suburbs that comply with the state policy (right)

Figure 23 through Figure 25 show the percentage of residential lots in each LGA with access to open spaces, and how these compared with the state's policy target and average levels of access for all LGAs in the state. These figures exclude compliance in Brisbane, as the POS indicator for Brisbane included only the City of Brisbane (and not other LGAs) because comprehensive POS data were not readily available elsewhere.

As shown in Figure 23, on average 82% of dwellings in the LGAs across Melbourne have access to POS within 400 m, with all but one LGA (less than 60%) having more than 70% of their residential dwellings within 400 m of POS. Figure 24 shows the levels of compliance with the very comprehensive range of policies in Perth. As noted earlier, the

Western Australian policies specifying short distance to POS are relatively new, and hence there is a very low level of compliance. (Moreover, the effects of this policy have not yet been assessed.) Notably however, most Perth LGAs comply with policies requiring access to larger neighbourhood and district parks. Only 19% of LGAs comply with the policy that 50% of dwellings have access within 400 m to a local park larger than 0.4 ha. The results for Sydney LGAs appear in Figure 25. As can be seen, a majority (55.8%) of Sydney LGAs comply with the policy that 50% of dwellings are within 400 m of a park larger than 0.5 ha, and all LGAs comply with the policy that there is a park larger than 2 ha within 2 km.



Figure 23: Melbourne: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within 400 m of public open space



Figure 24: Perth: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within specified distances of parks



Figure 25: Sydney: percentage of residential addresses (by LGA) within specified distances of parks

5.3 National liveability indicators

Table 6 shows the results of the national liveability indicators for POS for each state and territory capital city in Australia. In states where more detailed data were available (Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney), we were able to calculate the percentage of dwellings within 400 m of POS overall (found to be associated with recreational walking in Perth) [31], and 400 m to larger POS over 1.5 ha (found to be associated with recreational walking in Melbourne) [106]. To enable a comparable indicator for all Australian capital cities, the two additional indicators, based on ABS Mesh Block data, measured the percentage of gross area allocated to parkland, and the percentage of suburbs allocated to parkland.

At the metropolitan level, compared with Brisbane (75%) and Perth (78%), Melbourne and Sydney had the highest proportion of residential dwellings with access to POS within 400 m, at around 82% each. In all cities, fewer residential dwellings had access to larger POS within the same distance. Overall, 63% of Perth dwellings had access to a park of at

least 1.5 ha within 400 m, compared with 52% in Brisbane, 49% in Melbourne and 43% in Sydney. This is important, given evidence that access to larger POS is associated with recreational walking [109]. The results for suburbs and LGAs were similar to the overall metropolitan results.

Figure 26 compares access to POS within 400 m across the four cities included in the policy analysis. As can be seen, there is considerable variation in the spatial patterning of POS access. In Perth, with the exception of suburbs lying to the east, there was an even distribution of access to POS. However, in Melbourne and Brisbane, there are higher levels of access in outer-suburban areas. Residences in western Sydney appeared to have better access to POS than those in southern Sydney suburbs, with lower levels of access in northern Sydney suburbs.

One of the national liveability indicators for POS was more rigorous than simply a proximity measure, as it included a size requirement of at least 1.5 ha. This is because research undertaken in Melbourne found no association between access to parks within

400 m and recreational walking, unless they were at least this size. Figure 27 shows the distribution of larger POS, and offers one explanation for the Melbourne findings. As can be seen, fewer residents in Melbourne, Sydney or Brisbane suburbs had access to larger POS compared with Perth. Notably, in Perth, we found that people living within 400 m of POS were more likely to participate in recreational walking, and this is likely to be because the parks in Perth were larger. This may change with current policy directions in Perth, which include increasing access to smaller POS in outer-suburban developments.

The results for the percentage of gross area that is parkland allows all Australian cities to be compared. As can be seen in Table 6, nearly three-quarters of the Canberra GCCSA (i.e. the ACT) is allocated to parkland, as is 29% of Canberra's suburbs on average. Notably, 57% of the metropolitan area of Sydney and 40% of Perth is allocated to parkland, followed by Hobart (22%) and Melbourne (20%). Adelaide has the lowest

percentage of parkland (approximately 10%) with the next lowest being Darwin (15%). When broken down into categories, the results indicate that many suburbs have less than 5% Mesh Block parkland, particularly in Melbourne, Brisbane, Adelaide, Hobart and Darwin. The smaller cities (Canberra, Hobart and Darwin) had the highest percentage of suburbs (21–25%) with over 40% of the gross area made up of parkland, while in Perth and Sydney between 18% and 19% of suburbs were more than 40% parkland.

Figure 28 shows the percentage of suburb gross area that is parkland. As can be seen, a higher proportion of Canberra suburbs are parkland than any other capital city. Traditionally, dwelling densities in Australian capital cities have been low, and until relatively recently, Australian homes have contributed green space through their backyards. As Australian cities become more compact as cities densify and block sizes reduce, to meet the needs of apartment dwellers more attention may need to be given to the amount, size and location of public open space in Australian cities.

Indicator	Saala		City						
mulcator	Scale	Melbourne	Perth	Brisbane	Sydney	Adelaide	Canberra	Darwin	Hobart
	Metro level ¹	81.81	78.08	74.69	81.90	-	-	-	-
% of residential addresses within 400m of public open space	Suburb average ²	79.96	71.76	72.98	82.19	-	-	-	-
	LGA average ³	81.72	77.22	74.69	82.16	-	-	-	-
	Metro level ¹	49.03	62.63	51.87	43.44	-	-	-	-
% of residential addresses within 400m of public open space > 1.5ha	Suburb average ²	49.13	55.37	52.06	46.80	-	-	-	-
	LGA average ³	48.30	59.33	51.87	41.24	-	-	-	-
% of gross area that is parkland	Metro level ⁴	20.43	39.85	18.04	56.58	10.28	72.29	14.80	22.24
	Suburb average ²	14.95	21.84	14.81	21.47	9.92	29.49	18.68	19.96

Table 6: National liveability indicators for public open space

% of suburbs by	<5% parkland	34.54	16.30	34.84	21.97	52.41	2.88	32.88	25.89
% Mesh Block parkland	≥5 - ≤10% parkland	19.54	16.03	13.78	13.57	15.79	12.50	12.33	16.07
	>10 - ≤20% parkland	19.54	25.27	23.43	25.45	13.38	19.23	17.81	17.86
	>20% - ≤40% parkland	16.70	24.46	17.52	20.17	13.38	40.38	15.07	17.86
	>40% parkland	9.68	17.93	10.43	18.85	5.04	25.00	21.92	22.32

¹ The percentage for all residential addresses within the study area; ² The average of all suburb-level percentages within the study area; ³ The average of all LGA-level percentages within the study area; ⁴ The average for the entire Greater Capital

City Statistical Area





Figure 26: Percentage of residences by suburb within 400m of public open space



Figure 27: Percentage of residences by suburb within 400m of public open space larger than 1.5ha



* between 7.00am and 7.00pm on a normal (e.g. non-school holiday) weekday, excluding Fridays

Figure 28: Percentage of suburb gross area that is parkland

Housing Affordability

8.1 Selected policy targets and indicators

The policy review was conducted in Perth, Melbourne, Brisbane and Sydney between 2014 and 2016, at which time we found no suitable state-specific policy standards for housing affordability, availability or quality. This is largely because any housing-specific measures identified were either not spatial, or could not be operationalised using GIS. Thus, this section includes only the national liveability indicators for housing (Table 7).

The Australian National Liveability Study [17] found that increases in housing unaffordability, the proportion of households renting, and higher housing density were all associated with poorer self-rated health. The finding on housing density is noteworthy because, in general, higher levels of density are associated with walking, which promotes health. This suggests that there may be an optimum amount of density associated with health, a factor that should be considered by cities shifting towards more compact, high-density development [51]. A measure of housing density was included in the walkability domain in Section 5. Hence, only two housing measures are included in this section, both related to housing affordability: the 30/40 measure of housing affordability, and the proportion of households renting.

The 30/40 measure identifies households whose income is in the bottom 40% and who spend more than 30% of household income on housing costs. It is a well-known indicator of housing affordability [110]. As well as being associated with poorer self-rated health, areas with less affordable housing are more likely to have residents who feel unsafe, and higher community dissatisfaction [17].

The proportion of households renting indicator is derived by dividing the number of households either renting or purchasing under a rent/buy scheme by the total number of households, excluding non-responses. In areas where more than 36% of households are renting, there is a 30% increase in community dissatisfaction [17].

6.2 National liveability indicators

More than one-third of lower-income households in Sydney, Brisbane, Melbourne, Darwin and Perth were experiencing housing affordability stress, using the 30/40 indicator (see Table 7). Perhaps unsurprisingly given its high median house prices, Sydney had the highest percentage (38%), followed closely by Brisbane (37%). The lowest result was recorded in Canberra, where 31% of lower-income households were encountering housing affordability stress.

The proportion of households renting varied significantly between cities, from 28% in Melbourne to 43% in Darwin. Hobart, Perth and Adelaide (29%) also recorded relatively low proportions of households renting. Despite being the smallest city by a significant margin at the time of the 2011 Census, Darwin had the second-highest median house price nationally, which may in part explain the high proportion of households renting [111].

Figure 29 shows the spatial distribution of housing affordability stress for each Australian capital city. Building low-density housing on the urban fringe is seen by most governments as a solution to Australia's housing affordability problem. But, in most cities, the suburbs recording the highest levels of housing affordability stress tended to be located towards the urban fringe. In Sydney and Brisbane, higher housing affordability stress appeared to be spread across large areas of the city, as was the case – though to a lesser extent – in Melbourne, where housing affordability stress was more prevalent in the most outer-suburban areas. As suggested by Dodson and Sipe [112], these are the suburbs also most at risk of mortgage stress, partly because they have very poor access to public transport and walkability, which increases household expenditure on private motor vehicle transportation.

Table 7: National liveability indicators for housing affordability

Indicator	Saala	City							
	Scale	Melbourne	Perth	Brisbane	Sydney	Adelaide	Canberra	Darwin	Hobart
% of households with income in the bottom	Metro Level ¹	34.88	33.09	37.00	38.00	31.37	30.69	34.52	31.07
40 percent of the income distribution spending more than 30% of household	Suburb Average ²	33.47	31.55	36.16	34.93	30.12	31.93	34.60	30.57
income on housing costs	LGA Average ³	34.96	32.27	37.61	37.49	31.08	30.69	27.79	30.91
% of households renting as a proportion of total	Metro Level ¹	28.39	28.74	34.16	32.83	29.41	31.64	43.07	28.52
	Suburb Average ²	26.35	27.69	32.55	30.30	29.78	32.36	46.55	27.85
	LGA Average ³	28.99	30.54	32.62	33.43	30.75	31.64	38.08	26.96

¹ The percentage for all residents within the Greater Capital City Statistical Area (GCCSA), as defined by the ABS; ² The average of all suburb-level percentages within the study area; ³ The average of all LGA-level percentages within the study

area.



Percentage of households with income in the bottom 40 percent of the income distribution



Figure 29: The 30/40 measure of housing affordability (by city and suburb)

Employment

9.1 Selected policy targets and indicators

Despite an extensive policy review for Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney (see Appendix 1), no measurable spatial policy standards were identified for employment access or provision in local areas. Therefore, this section focuses on national liveability indicators only (see Table 8), which allow comparison between Australian cities by applying a consistent measure to all cities.

Four national liveability employment indicators were developed: one for access to local employment, and three for travel mode to work. Access to local employment was measured by the percentage of employed people living and working in the same area. This indicator was developed at two scales. The first was ABS Statistical Area (SA) 3 level, reflecting the scale tested in the Australian National Liveability Study [16]. An SA3 represents an area with a population generally between 30,000 and 130,000, characterised by a regional identity based on geographic and socio-economic similarities [113]. SA3s are built from aggregated whole Statistical Area 2s (SA2), where each SA2 represents a community that interacts both socially and economically, with an average population of about 10,000 [113].

In this study, access to employment was also calculated at the SA4 level. SA4s are the largest sub-state regions in the main structure of the ABS Australian Statistical Geography Standard. In metropolitan areas they tend to have populations between 300,000 and 500,000 [113]. The indicator therefore measured the percentage of employed people living in an SA2 who worked within (1) the same SA3 (in which the SA2 is contained), and (2) the

same SA4. For completeness and comparability with other results, for each city we also calculated the average percentage of employed persons living and working in the same LGA across all LGAs, and the percentage of employed persons living and working in the same Greater Capital City Statistical Area (GCCSA).

The other three employment indicators related to travel mode to work for employed people over 15 years of age, as a measure of employment accessibility by transport mode. As already discussed, travel mode to work affects health, through its effect on physical activity levels, and by increasing motor-vehicle traffic, which is associated with air pollution, noise and traffic injuries [11]. Thus the travel mode to work indicators are also relevant to the public transport and walkability domains.

9.2 National liveability indicators

When measured at the SA3 scale, across all capital cities, only a minority of the working population works near home. In Darwin, Hobart and Perth, between 37% and 43% live and work in the same local area (e.g. work in the LGA containing the suburb the live in) (see Table 8); just over 30% do so in Sydney and Canberra; and just over 25% in Melbourne and Brisbane. However, when 'local' is broadened to the SA4, between 43% and 89% of the working population live and work in the same local metropolitan region, with a much higher proportion doing so in Canberra, Darwin and Hobart, compared with the other five capital cities. Notably, at the metropolitan-wide level, nearly one-tenth of the working population works outside the city.

The employment accessibility indicators (see Table 8) show that all Australian cities rely on private motor vehicles to transport the vast majority of people to work. At the metropolitan level, 71–87% of the population in all capital cities travel to work via private motor vehicles, with a greater proportion in Darwin (87%), Hobart (86%), Adelaide (86%) and Canberra (84%) than elsewhere.

A greater proportion of people travel to work by public transport in Sydney (23%), Melbourne (16%) and Brisbane (15%) at metropolitan scale, compared with other cities, with the lowest public transport use recorded in Darwin (5%). In most cities, public transport use was second to private motor-vehicle use, followed by active transport. The exceptions were Hobart and Darwin, which both had higher rates of active transport compared with public transport (8% vs 7% and 9% vs 5% respectively).

Based on the 2011 Census figures, Darwin had the largest proportion of residents

using active transport to get to work (9%), with prevalence in other capital cities ranging from 4% to 8%. Given that 26–43% of the working population in all capital cities live and work in the same local area (SA3), this suggests an opportunity to increase active transport journeys to work.

Indicator	Seele	City								
Indicator	Scale	Melbourne	Perth	Brisbane	Sydney	Adelaide	Canberra	Darwin	Hobart	
% of employed persons living and working in	Metro-level ¹	91.58	88.08	88.85	91.08	90.23	93.48	88.43	90.46	
same area	SA2 in SA3 ²	26.67	36.81	25.86	31.19	29.05	31.23	43.09	39.26	
	SA2 in SA4	46.74	53.88	43.49	42.58	53.38	88.79	85.37	85.49	
	LGA Average ³	27.10	24.08	49.73	24.78	24.30	89.05	44.65	36.02	
% of employed persons aged 15 and over using active transport to travel to work	Metro-level ⁴	5.03	4.10	4.92	5.68	4.32	7.69	8.82	7.73	
	Suburb Average ⁵	5.09	4.37	4.91	5.92	4.93	8.71	10.64	6.98	
	LGA Average ⁶	5.63	6.07	3.33	6.02	6.42	7.69	11.53	5.59	
% of employed persons aged 15 and over	Metro-level ⁴	16.38	12.75	15.20	23.41	10.17	7.86	4.65	6.59	
using public transport to travel to work	Suburb Average ⁵	15.15	12.34	14.65	26.55	10.77	7.79	4.30	6.40	
	LGA Average ⁶	17.05	13.69	11.59	26.73	10.69	7.86	5.88	5.25	
% of employed persons aged 15 and over	Metro-level ⁴	78.59	83.15	79.88	70.91	85.50	84.44	86.52	85.68	
using private vehicle/s to travel to work	Suburb Average⁵	79.76	83.28	80.44	71.76	84.30	83.50	85.05	86.62	
	LGA Average ⁶	77.33	80.24	85.08	67.53	82.89	84.44	82.59	89.16	

Table 8: National liveability indicators for employment

¹ The percentage of employed persons living and working in the same GCCSA; ²The average of all Statistical Area 2 (SA2) percentages within the study area, with these calculated as the percentage of employed persons in each SA2 working in the same encompassing Statistical Area 3; ³The average of all LGA-level percentages of employed persons living and working in the same LGA ⁴ The percentage for all residents within the Greater Capital City Statistical Area (GCCSA), as defined by the ABS; ⁴The average of all suburb-level percentages within the study area; ⁶The average of all LGA-level percentages within the study area.

Figure 30 through Figure 33 show the spatial distribution of living and working in the same SA3 and the same SA4. Given the importance of accessible local employment to shifting the population into active travel modes, these figures are telling. In the inner areas of each city, residents are more likely to live and work in the same area, particularly at

the broader metropolitan region (SA4) scale. Beyond inner-city areas, the percentage of residents working locally drops off rapidly, with many of those living in the middle suburbs commuting to the inner city for work. However, as distance from the city increases, the proportion of people working near home starts to rise again.



Figure 30: Melbourne: percentage of employed population (by SA2) working in the same SA3 (left) and same SA4 (right)


Figure 31: Perth: percentage of employed population (by SA2) working in the same SA3 (left) and same SA4 (right)



Figure 32: Brisbane: percentage of employed population (by SA2) working in the same SA3 (left) and same SA4 (right)





Figure 34 and Figure 35 show the geographical variation in travel mode to work among employed people over 15 years of age, for each Australian city. This highlights the low use of public transport (Figure 34) and even lower use of active transport (Figure 35) across Australian cities. The geographical pattern of higher use of public transport in inner-city

areas is most evident in Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney. Similarly, the proportion of employed people using active transport to commute to work is shown to be generally higher in inner-city areas compared to outer-city areas in all cities, and is likely to be rising. This will become more evident using the 2016 Census data when it becomes available.



Figure 34: Percentage of employed persons aged 15 and over who travel to work by public transport



Figure 35: Percentage of employed persons aged 15 and over who travel to work by active transport

Food Environment

10.1 Selected policy targets and indicators

Our review found no measurable spatial policies in Western Australia, Victoria, New South Wales or Queensland that related directly to providing a healthy food environment. However, the Victorian Precinct Structure Planning Guidelines requirement for 80-90% of dwellings to be within 1 km of an activity centre with a supermarket served as an indirect measure of healthy food environment [114, 115]. This requirement focuses more on mixed land use than on providing a supportive food environment, so the level of implementation of this policy was discussed in the Walkability section (Section 5).

Hence, this section focuses on the national liveability indicators of food environments. The food environment can be characterised by outlets that offer consumers (i) healthy choices such as fresh food, including greengrocers, fishmongers, butchers and supermarkets; and (ii) less-healthy and unhealthy choices such as fast food including burgers, pizzas and fried chicken. The healthy food ratio has been shown to be associated with diet and obesity risk [58], with a recommended ratio of fresh food stores as a proportion of all food stores above 75% [32]. Healthy food access is not necessarily dependent on walkable distances, as people often travel by motor vehicle to shop for food. Hence, based on the Australian National Liveability Study food environment analysis, a healthy food ratio – the percentage of food outlets within 3200 m that are healthy food destinations – was calculated. This indicator was created for four cities only: Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney (Table 9). The other national food environment indicator is informed by the Victorian policy context, measuring the proportion of dwellings within 1 km of a supermarket (an important source of healthy food) for all capital cities.

10.2 National liveability indicators

At the metropolitan level, all four cities had a very similar healthy food ratio of about 46%. That is, just over half the food outlets within 3200 m of residents' homes in Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney are fast food outlets (see Table 9). Notably, there were 64 metropolitan suburbs nationally where all residents had neither a major chain supermarket nor a major fast food destination within 3200 m. Of these, 37 were in Melbourne, with many located in the rapidly growing outer-urban fringe. Although not shown in tables or figures, in Melbourne only 7 out of 403 suburbs (2%) had a healthy food ratio of 75% or more, where residents in these suburbs had higher access to healthy food choices than to fast food outlets. In Perth, it was 19 out of 298 suburbs (6%) and in Sydney 43 out of 562 suburbs (8%). A higher proportion of suburbs in Brisbane (11%) had a healthy food ratio of 75% or more (37 out of 337 suburbs). These findings are important because our previous research has shown modest increases in body mass index in people living in areas with lower (less than 75%) healthy food ratios [32, 116].

As shown in Table 9, at the metropolitan level, the percentage of residential dwellings within 1 km of a supermarket varied significantly between cities, from 17% in Darwin to 44% in Adelaide. Thus, more than half of residential dwellings in each Australian capital city are outside a comfortable walking distance to a supermarket, creating potential barriers to food access and active transport, as well as fostering motor-vehicle dependency. Similar findings are shown at the suburb and LGA level. In Darwin, the LGA average percentage of dwellings within 1 km of a major supermarket was only 8%.

Figure 36 shows the spatial distribution of the average food ratio across the four cities. Other than on the urban fringe, the food ratio is relatively homogenous across the metropolitan areas of all four cities, with the least variation occurring across Melbourne. Notably, in rapidly growing cities such as Melbourne and Brisbane, there were more suburban areas with poor access to either a supermarket or a fast food chain (37 suburbs in Melbourne, 17 suburbs in Brisbane).

Table 9: National liveability indicators for the food environment

Indicator	Socio	City								
	Stale	Melbourne	Perth	Brisbane	Sydney	Adelaide	Canberra	Darwin	Hobart	
Food ratio ¹	Metro-level ²	46.53	46.22	46.13	46.42	-	-	-	-	
	Suburb Average ³	46.31	46.58	48.60	47.59	-	-	-	-	
	LGA Average ⁴	47.30	47.27	48.99	48.98	-	-	-	-	
% residential dwellings within 1km of a supermarket	Metro-level	39.78	34.40	36.55	40.77	44.36	40.00	16.80	39.80	
	Suburb Average	38.73	31.93	32.05	39.42	42.69	41.27	13.00	31.86	
	LGA Average	44.45	43.72	32.78	45.14	48.35	40.00	7.88	36.19	

¹ Count of major supermarket chains within 3200m of each residence divided by combined count of major fast food chains and major supermarkets within 3200m. Where residents are without access to either fast food or a supermarket within 3200m a null value is recorded, and excluded from subsequent averages; ² The average food ratio for all residences within the study area; ³ The average of the suburb-level food ratio averages across the study area; ⁴ The average of the LGA-level food ratio averages across the study area.





were without access to both fast food and supermarkets within 3200m.

Figure 36: Healthy food ratio (by suburb) (a higher score suggests access to more healthy food outlets than fast food outlets)

Alcohol Environment

11.1 Selected policy targets and indicators

We reviewed state government policies for Victoria, Western Australia, Queensland and New South Wales, to identify policies and targets for access to alcohol. We found no measurable spatial policy standards for alcohol availability or accessibility, so this section focuses on national liveability indicators of the alcohol environment.

In our previous urban liveability research, we found that in Melbourne the density of offlicence alcohol outlets (liquor stores and supermarkets that sell alcohol) in disadvantaged areas was associated with poorer self-rated health. This reflects other Australian research, showing that the density of alcohol outlets is associated with harmful alcohol consumption [60] and alcohol-related violence [61], and that more alcohol outlets appear to be located in more disadvantaged areas [60]. Hence, the national liveability indicators included in this study measure the percentage of residences without access to on-licences (pubs, bars, licensed restaurants) within 400 m, and off-licences within 800 m. This is because previously we found that for those living in more disadvantaged areas, not having an off-licence outlet within 800 m and not having on-licences within 400 m appears to be protective of self-rated health [18]. Due to difficulties in obtaining alcohol data nationally, this indicator was created for only four cities: Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney.

11.2 National liveability indicators

In Perth and Brisbane, the vast majority of residential addresses (90% and 86% respectively) are not within 400 m of an on-licence alcohol outlet, while in Melbourne and Sydney the figures are 80% and 77% respectively (see Table 10). Across Melbourne, Perth

and Sydney, access to off-licence outlets within 800 m is more prevalent than on-licence outlets within 400 m. Only 52% dwellings in Melbourne, 44% in Sydney and 66% in Perth are not within 800 m of an off-licence alcohol outlet. Nevertheless, access to alcohol outlets is highly prevalent in Australian cities. While not shown in the tables or maps below, across all four cities studied, only 17% of suburbs (265 out of 1600) were found to have no residential addresses with access to an on-licence within 400 m – 42 of these were in Melbourne, compared with 90 in Sydney. Similarly, only 12.3% of suburbs (198 out of 1600) had no residential addresses with access to an off-licence within 800 m – with most of these suburbs (118) in Brisbane.

The results for access to off-licence outlets in Brisbane were markedly different from the other capital cities. It is not clear whether this reflects reality, or is caused by missing data on off-licence outlets in that city. Unlike in other states, there is only one liquor licence category that relates to off-licences in Queensland: commercial hotels. The licence for any major national bottle shop outlet is associated with a commercial hotel and its registered address, rather than the address of the bottle shop itself. A commercial hotel licence allows up to three detached shops to be operated away from the main premises [117]. By using liquor licensing data that has only registered addresses, it is likely that this under-represents the number of alcohol outlets available, with many of these detached shops missed from the analysis. This is a limitation, and alternative ways of collecting these data will be considered in the future.

Figure 37 and Figure 38 show the spatial distribution of alcohol outlets across the four capital cities. Compared with other parts of the city, outer suburbs were more likely to have no residential addresses with access to either an off-licence within 800 m or on-licence outlets within 400 m, especially in the latter case. In Melbourne and Sydney, far fewer innercity suburbs were without access to an on-licence alcohol outlet within 400 m. Off-licence alcohol outlets were more evenly spread across Perth, Melbourne and Sydney, with more residences without access on the urban fringe. Far fewer residential addresses in the inner city and middle suburbs of Melbourne, Sydney and (to a lesser extent) Perth do not have access to an off-licence alcohol outlet within 800 m, compared with other parts of the city. Levels of access to both types of alcohol outlets are considerably lower in Brisbane than in other cities, irrespective of location.

Table 10: National liveability indicators for the alcohol environment

Indicator	Saala	City								
	Stale	Melbourne	Perth	Brisbane	Sydney	Adelaide	Canberra	Darwin	Hobart	
Percentage of residences without access to an on-licence within 400m	Metro-level ¹	79.70	89.73	86.01	76.74	-	-	-	-	
	Suburb Average ²	77.43	88.52	85.14	73.86	-	-	-	-	
	LGA Average ³	74.21	82.11	90.53	69.61	-	-	-	-	
Percentage of residences without access to an off-licence within 800m	Metro-level ¹	51.51	65.96	87.71	44.07	-	-	-	-	
	Suburb Average ²	50.95	65.53	86.69	42.27	-	-	-	-	
	LGA Average ³	46.37	55.26	90.01	36.65	-	-	-	-	

¹ The average percentage of residences without access within the study area; ² The average of the suburb-level percentage of residences without access across the study area'; ³ The average of the LGA-level percentage of residences without access across the study area



Brisbane

Sydney



Figure 37: Percentage of residences (by suburb) without access to an on-licence within 400 m



Figure 38: Percentage of residences (by suburb) without access to an off-license within 800 m

Discussion & Conclusions

This report presents indicators of liveability that could be used to benchmark and monitor Australian cities. Along with an online Urban Observatory of indicators currently under development (see http://cur.org.au/project/urban-observatory/ for more details) the aim of this report is to support Federal, state and local government decision-making and priority-setting, with the aim of promoting the health and wellbeing of Australians living in cities, and reducing inequities within and between cities and metropolitan regions. Variations within a city are likely to be of concern to those state government departments and planning authorities responsible for the whole metropolitan region (and to Brisbane City Council, due to its large geography). However, our results are reported at the suburb and LGA level, which will be relevant to local government, providing the ability to identify inequity of access at the sub-LGA level.

Not only could this evidence be used to inform local governments' own investments, it could also assist them and their communities to identify interventions requiring state and Federal government infrastructure investments. In this regard, although state government policy was the focus of this research, the findings are also relevant to the Federal government given its interest in creating smart liveable cities, its potential investments through city deals, as well as its National Cities Performance Framework [118].

The specific aims of the research presented in this report were to:

- identify state government urban planning policies and legislation and their targets that relate to important aspects of urban liveability;
- create and map urban liveability indicators based on state government policy documents, to assess the degree of policy implementation and spatial inequities in

liveability across Sydney, Melbourne, Perth and Brisbane; and to

 map a set of evidence-based national liveability indicators from the Australian National Liveability Study found to be associated with chronic disease risk behaviours and/or health outcomes, for all Australian capital cities where data are available.

12.1.Do Australian cities have measurable policies designed to create liveable cities?

The review of state government policies in Western Australia, Victoria, New South Wales and Queensland involved more than 73 documents, with spatial standards found mainly in policy guidelines and regulations. Some sector-specific strategic policies were also sufficiently detailed to include spatial standards that could be measured and mapped. The final number of state-specific policy indicators included was limited, because only a small number of measurable spatial policies and targets were identified, and some could not be operationalised using a geographic information system (GIS).

Measurable spatial policies were identified for only three of the seven liveability domains: walkability, public transport, and public open space. No measurable spatial state government policies that could be operationalised in GIS were identified for local employment, housing affordability, promoting access to healthy food choices, or limiting access to alcohol outlets. In many cases simplifying assumptions needed to be made in order to operationalise the measures; e.g. interpreting 'most' as 50% and ignoring ambiguous qualifiers such as 'safe', 'potential', 'planned', 'generally' and 'typically'.

While the framing of a policy determines whether it can be measured spatially, the measure can of course only be produced if there is data available to support the analysis. The availability and quality of data across cities varies significantly; see Appendix 4 for further details. Even when high quality data were available, the inconsistent categorisation of data across states and territories was a significant barrier to comparing cities on a consistent basis. This problem was particularly acute for the public open space and alcohol environment domains. A final data challenge was the lack of high-quality

pedestrian network data. While street network data can be used as a proxy for a pedestrian network, the results for some areas will not reflect the 'on the ground' reality.

The policy review revealed a dynamic policy environment. For example, even since this study took place, a number of new policies have been developed, which may include additional, or more ambitious targets and standards than included in this review. For example, the latest version of the Plan Melbourne metropolitan strategic plan aims to reach densities of 20 dwellings per hectare 'in the future', replacing the previous state target measured in this study, of 15 dwellings per hectare in growth areas [67]. Nevertheless, the policy review also highlighted the diverse range of policy standards across the jurisdictions reviewed. The lack of consistency between states reflected different levels of policy ambition, and possibly lack of agreement among policy-makers and decision-makers about how land-use, transport and infrastructure planning could be used to make Australian communities more liveable.

Our findings suggest that evidence is not being used to inform policy standards across Australian cities. Indeed, in some cases, there appears to be a mismatch between the value placed on urban liveability and walkability [35] and what the evidence tells us will be the likely results of current inconsistent urban policy across Australian cities.

It is possible that policy-makers and decision-makers lack access to the type of evidence needed to create evidence-informed policy and standards [35]. This suggests that Australian universities can play an important role in providing policy-relevant quantitative evidence. For example, what levels of density encourage walking, cycling and public transport use and discourage driving [100]? What is the optimal proximity and size of public open space [119]? How many and what types of employment opportunities – and what ratio of jobs to housing – would encourage active transport, and reduce commute times?

12.2. Are Australian cities implementing state-government policies that will create liveable cities?

Where current policies did exist, we assessed levels of actual policy implementation

[80]. Some of these policies were created after established areas were developed, so one could argue that ours was an unfair assessment. Nevertheless, the assessment of policy implementation is important when trying to answer the question: are we there yet? It revealed that, in both new and established cities, there is little evidence that Australian cities are meeting current policy targets for walkability, public transport and public open space across the entire metropolitan area, or within suburbs and LGAs. The meeting of targets is even less likely in most newly established areas on the urban fringe of cities – the very places for which contemporary guidelines are intended.

The only circumstance where policy targets were being reached was in cities that set unambitious targets. Although harder to achieve, more ambitious targets are needed and should be encouraged, as they will ensure that governments continue striving to maintain and improve liveability across entire cities. Notably, attainment of policy standards varies significantly between neighbourhoods, suburbs and LGAs within cities, with residents of outer-suburban areas, and of many middle-level suburban areas, substantially less well served that those in the inner city.

Because policies to create liveable cities were state-specific and varied significantly from state to state, it was not always possible to make comparisons between cities. In addition, we conducted policy analyses for only four cities: Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney. To enable comparisons between all Australian capital cities, we calculated policy-relevant national liveability indicators that our previous research found were associated with health and wellbeing. This enabled comparisons both within and between cities, with findings representing the type of neighbourhoods likely to promote the health and wellbeing of residents.

As with policy indicators, we observed considerable variation between and within capital cities in the implementation of interventions that will create healthy, liveable communities. These differences are discussed in detail in the section that follows.

12.3. Key findings and discussion

Overall, no Australian city performed well on all indicators, with some cities performing

better for some policy implementation or national liveability indicators, and weaker on others. We identified geographical inequities in attaining policy standards for healthy, liveable communities, and areas of greatest disadvantage in access to jobs, housing, walkable environments, services and infrastructure. However, the fact that some new outer-suburban areas appear to be walkable (for example in Perth), underscores the role that well-implemented urban policy could play in achieving better results for Australian cities.

12.3.1 Walkability

The policy analysis in Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney revealed a degree of mismatch between the aspiration of creating walkable communities and the policies required to achieve walkability. This was particularly evident when considering dwelling density. State policies in Melbourne, Sydney and Brisbane all included a density standard for suburban development of 15 dwellings per hectare, a low policy ambition that will perpetuate sprawling development on the urban fringe. Perth had a more ambitious target for new suburban development – 26 dwellings per hectare – while Brisbane had a 30 dwelling per hectare target for 'urban' development. These latter levels of density – even if low by international standards – are more consistent with the evidence on levels of density required to create more walkable neighbourhoods, with more shops, services and public transport [96].

Despite Australian governments setting only modest targets for dwelling density, there is little evidence that these policies are actually being implemented. Irrespective of whether density is measured as gross or net, average dwelling densities in all Australian cities are very low and, with the exception of Sydney, well below each state's respective suburbandensity targets. Sydney came the closest to meeting its density policy target (15 dwellings per hectare), with average suburb-level densities of 12.9 and 19.7 dwellings per gross or net hectare, respectively. Applying the more lenient net density measure, 37% of Sydney suburbs achieved the state government's policy target of 15 dwellings per hectare, as did 21% of Melbourne suburbs.

While Perth had the most ambitious density target for suburban development of all

cities studied (26 dwellings per hectare), this was achieved by only 2% of Perth suburbs. Similarly, only 2% of Brisbane suburbs appeared to achieve that city's 'urban' target of 30 dwellings per hectare; 13% met its suburban target of 15 dwellings.

It is plausible that these overall results mask successful implementation of policies in new residential development areas, which is where new density policies are meant to apply. However, there was little evidence of this in the spatial maps of density for Australian cities. Given the importance of dwelling density to the viability of shops, services, amenities and public transport, the perpetuation of low-density suburban development in Australian cities makes it very difficult to achieve the walkable 30-minute (or 20-minute in Melbourne) city.

All cities except Sydney had measurable spatial policy targets to increase street connectivity (block and/or lot size), but few had targets. Only Perth and Melbourne appeared to have measurable spatial policies and targets for increasing access to local destinations. However, only a minority of dwellings in those cities met their state government targets (less than 10% and 40% respectively). This is important, because local destinations are essential for walkable neighbourhoods [120].

The national health-related walkability indicators broadly aligned with the policy requirements in each state. The composite walkability index (which combined dwelling density, daily-living destinations and street connectivity) highlighted the spatial patterning of walkability across Australian cities, with few residents of outer-suburban areas enjoying the benefits of living in a walkable area. In each capital city, walkability is generally concentrated in the inner (and in some cases middle-level) suburbs.

Nevertheless, there were notable exceptions. For example, a small number of outer-suburban developments in Perth appeared to be highly walkable, as did some of Canberra's established outer-suburban areas, which were designed to include local neighbourhood activity centres. This clearly reflects the implementation of policy. For example, the Perth results are likely to reflect the Western Australian government's trial of the Liveable Neighbourhood Guidelines [101], which began in 1997. Indeed, Western Australia appeared to have the most comprehensive range of spatially measurable urban design policies designed to create walkable neighbourhoods. However, a major

evaluation of the Liveability Neighbourhood Guidelines found the policy to be only 46% implemented [80, 120]. Nevertheless, with every 10% increase in implementation of the policy, residents were significantly more likely to walk, to have better mental health and sense of community, and be less likely to be victims of crime [121]. These results show that well-designed and well-implemented policy make it possible to create more walkable neighbourhoods, even in outer-suburban areas of Australian cities. Comprehensive more ambitious policies designed to create walkable environments in the suburbs could also be considered in other states.

Walkable neighbourhoods are the foundation of a liveable city. While comprehensive and integrated urban design is critical to making outer suburban development more walkable, integrated regional planning is also needed to provide essential infrastructure and services, particularly public transport and accessible local employment that will create 'liveable' communities. Hence, our findings suggest at this stage, walkable communities may not necessarily be achieving their potential as 'liveable' communities. These findings are considered in the sections that follow.

12.3.2 Public transport

Policies in Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney all included standards for proximity to public transport, although the level of policy ambition varied from requiring 60% to 100% of dwellings to have proximate access. Only New South Wales had a target for proximity and frequency of service: access to a bus stop within 400 m serviced every 30 minutes, or a train stop within 800 m serviced every 15 minutes. Perth exceeded its state public transport target of 60% of residential lots being located within a 400 m (road network) of a bus stop or 800 m of a train station, but the Western Australian government's target is both modest at 60%, and substantially lower than those of other states.

Melbourne's public transport policy target of 95% of dwellings being within 400 m of a bus, 600 m of a tram or 800 m of a train stop is more ambitious than Perth and Brisbane's, and was achieved by 69% of dwellings. However, only inner and middle-level

suburbs met this standard, and few residents living on the urban fringe enjoyed this level of access. Overall, 61% of Brisbane residents had a public transport stop within 400 m, but this was below its target of 90%. As noted, policy targets in Sydney were the most ambitious of the cities reviewed: that 100% of dwellings have proximate and frequent public transport services. Perhaps unsurprisingly, only 38% of dwellings had levels of access consistent with this policy standard.

The Australian National Liveability Study found that a measure of public transport access that combined proximity (a public transport stop within 400 m) with frequency of service (every 30 minutes) was a stronger predictor of walking for transport than a measure of access alone [32]. Hence, the health-related national liveability public transport indicator measured the percentage of residential dwellings within 400 m walking distance of a public transport stop, with a service at least every 30 minutes on a normal weekday. This enabled direct comparison of all capital cities, unlike the indicators comparing implementation of state government policies.

When this more ambitious target was applied, around 36% of dwellings in Melbourne, Adelaide and Sydney were found to have this level of access. Only 18% of Perth dwellings, between 11% and 13% of dwellings in Brisbane, Canberra and Hobart; and only 4% of dwellings in Darwin enjoyed this level of access. Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney showed a clear pattern of better access to proximate and frequent public transport in areas closer to the city. Fewer areas in smaller cities such as Canberra, Darwin and Hobart had access to public transport comparable to that of other larger Australian cities, and the spatial patterning of access was less obvious, even though in Adelaide and Hobart public transport access was also higher closer to the inner city.

While residents of some cities faced greater public transport access barriers than others, these results show that the vast majority of dwellings in capital cities in Australia did not have access to proximate and frequent public transport services during weekday work hours. While proximity targets are easier to achieve, Australian cities could consider following the lead of New South Wales, by adopting more ambitious public transport targets that combine proximity with frequency of services.

12.3.3 Public open space

Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney all had state policies requiring access to public open space within 400 m – or a five-minute walk – and three of the four states also had policies requiring access to larger parks of specified sizes within longer walking distances. In Sydney and Perth, policy targets were expressed as 'most' dwellings having access (interpreted in this study to mean more than 50%), although Perth also required all dwellings to have access to public open space (of any size) within 300 m. In Brisbane the target is for 90% of residences, in Melbourne it is 95%.

Overall, 82% of dwellings in Melbourne had access to a public open space within 400 m, 89% of dwellings in Perth had access to a neighbourhood park greater than 1 ha within 800 m, and 98% of dwellings in Sydney had a 2 ha park within 2 km of dwellings. As New South Wales policies set the targets for access to smaller public open spaces as 'most' dwellings (interpreted as 50% or more), it was the only city to achieve the state governments target, where 59% of residences had access to public open space greater than 0.5 ha within 400 m. Other states had more ambitious targets, in the range of 90–100%, and fell short of achieving this level of access.

There was a close relationship between the national liveability indicators for public open space and the policies in each state, and, in Victoria, a direct overlap. The national liveability indicators for public open space that allowed direct comparison of cities focused on access to public open space within 400 m, and another focused on proximate access to public open space with an area greater than 1.5 ha. The latter indicator was based on (as yet unpublished) research in Melbourne, indicating that only access to larger public open space encouraged recreational walking [106]. These indicators could only be calculated for Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney, as similar data for other cities were not readily available. For access to public open space of any size within 400 m, Sydney and Melbourne (both 82% of residences) performed better than Perth (78%) and Brisbane City Council (75%). However, when access to public open space over 1.5 ha was taken into account, Perth (63%) and Brisbane City Council (52%) performed better than both Melbourne (49%) and Sydney (43%) where parks tended to be smaller.

Using the Mesh Block data on parkland, it was possible to compare all capital cities.

Suburbs in Perth, Sydney and Canberra on average comprised more than 20% parkland, while Melbourne, Brisbane and Adelaide suburbs averaged less than 15% parkland. Although these data could not be used to assess the implementation of current Australian POS policies, they provide an indication of the total amount of 'greenness' in an area, which has been shown to benefit both physical and mental health [122-127].

There is growing evidence of a range of health benefits associated with access to larger, proximate public open space, including encouraging recreational walking [46, 108, 109]. However, to bring the greatest health benefits, it may be preferable to provide access to fewer but larger higher-quality local public open spaces within closer walking distances of dwellings [46]. To inform policy standards, more research is required on optimal size and distance to public open space, particularly for different population groups (children through to older adults). This needs to take into account the densification of cites, as well as protecting biodiversity and mitigation against heat island effects.

12.3.4 Housing affordability

In the policy review conducted in Melbourne, Sydney, Perth and Brisbane, no statespecific spatial or measurable policy standards were identified for housing affordability, availability or quality. This finding revealed a gap in policy. Thus, this study assessed housing affordability using only the two national liveability indicators found to be associated with health and wellbeing: the 30/40 measure of housing affordability, and the proportion of households renting.

Using the 30/40 indicator (based on the 2011 Census) more than one-third of lowerincome households in Sydney, Brisbane, Melbourne, Darwin and Perth appear to be experiencing housing affordability stress. Sydney had the highest percentage (38%) of residents with incomes in the bottom 40% of the income distribution paying more than 30% of their household income on housing costs, closely followed by Brisbane (37%). Fewer lower-income households in Canberra (31%) appeared to be encountering housing affordability stress based on the 30/40 indicator. The proportion of households renting varied significantly between cities, with Darwin having the highest proportion of renters (43%). In Sydney and Brisbane, and to a lesser extent in Melbourne, housing affordability stress appeared to spread across large areas of the city. Low-density housing on the urban fringe is generally seen as the policy solution to housing affordability problems experienced in Australian cities. However, when the spatial distribution of housing affordability stress was examined, the suburbs with the highest levels of housing affordability stress were located towards the urban fringe. Given that outer suburbs have poor access to public transport and are less likely to be walkable [112], these are the suburbs most at risk of mortgage stress, given high household expenditure on private motor-vehicle transportation. Moreover, these figures may under-represent current housing affordability stress, as the indicator is based on 2011 Census data, awaiting the 2016 Census data to become available.

12.3.5 Employment

As was the case with housing affordability, no measurable spatial state-based policy standards were identified for employment access or provision in local areas. Two aspects of employment were assessed: access to local employment measured by the percentage of employed people living and working in the same area; and travel mode to work for employed people over 15 years of age, as a measure of employment accessibility by transport mode (private motor vehicle, public transport, or active transport).

Across all major capital cities, a minority of the working population worked near home (varying from 26% in Brisbane to 43% in Darwin). When 'local' was broadened to the local metropolitan region scale (SA4), this increased to between 43% and 89% of the working population living and working in the same local metropolitan region. A higher proportion of people living in smaller capital cities (Canberra, Darwin and Hobart) did so. Residents of inner-city areas were more likely to live and work in the same area; the percentage tended to be lower in the middle 'commuter' suburbs, then rose again towards the city edge.

Across all cities, the vast majority of people over 15 years of age travel to work by private motor vehicle as their main mode of transport. Travel to work by public transport varied from 5% in Darwin to 23% in Sydney. Darwin had the highest rate of residents using

active transport to get to work (9%), with the prevalence in other cities ranging from 4% to 8%. As cities increase in size, there is a general increase in the proportion using public transport to travel to work, but a decrease in active travel, due to (typically) increasing commuting distances and/or times.

The dependency of the vast majority of people in Australian cities on private motor vehicles for transport to work reflects, in part, transport and land-use planning that reduces the accessibility of employment by public transport and active transport modes [11]. These results underscore the difficulties faced by Australian cities aiming to achieve the 30-minute (or 20-minute in Melbourne) city. However, given that 26–43% of the working population in all capital cities lives and works in the same local area (SA3), there does appear to be an opportunity to increase active travel modes by walking and cycling, particularly for trips under 2–4 km [128]. Patterns of commuting longer distances to work in the middle suburbs and some outer suburbs suggests the need for a more equitable distribution of local employment opportunities in these areas, particularly in major activity centres. As the policy review showed, there appear to be no measurable state government spatial policies or targets for local employment access or economic development to support local economies.

12.3.6 Food environment

We identified no measurable spatial policies for access to healthy food choices, with the exception of a Victorian state government policy that 80-90% of households should be within 1 km of an activity centre with a supermarket. As a result, only national liveability food environment indicators were calculated. The healthy food ratio indicator (measured by the percentage of food outlets within 3200 m that are healthy food destinations – specifically supermarkets) was limited to four cities (Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney). However, healthy food access measured by the proportion of dwellings within 1 km of a supermarket was calculated for all Australian state capital cities.

Across Melbourne, Perth, Sydney and Brisbane, just over one-half of food outlets within 3200 m of residents' homes were found to be fast food destinations; the healthy food ratio

was remarkably similar between and within these cities. However, there were 64 suburbs nationally where all residents had no access to either a major fast food destination or major supermarket within 3200 m. Over half of these were in Melbourne, with many located on the rapidly growing outer-urban fringe.

While access to a supermarket within 1 km varied significantly between cities, well over one-half of residential dwellings in all Australian capital cities were outside this comfortable walking distance to a supermarket, creating potential barriers to food access. Compared with other cities, fewer residences across Darwin's metropolitan area had access to supermarkets within 1 km (16.8%).

There appear to be geographic inequities in access to healthy food choices – both within and between cities – and some evidence of the need to improve access to healthy food relative to unhealthy food. Setting and achieving targets for access to activity centres with a supermarket in urban policy across Australia, following the example of the Victorian Precinct Structure Planning Guidelines [114, 115] may help here.

12.3.7 Alcohol environment

No measurable spatial state government policy standards were found for alcohol availability or accessibility in Western Australia, Victoria, New South Wales or Queensland. Hence, based on previous research of what was protective of public health, the national liveability indicators measured the percentage of residences without access to an on-licence outlet within 400 m, and without access to an off-licence outlet within 800 m. Due to difficulties in obtaining alcohol data nationally, this indicator was created for only four cities: Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney.

While in Perth and Brisbane the vast majority of residents (90% and 86% respectively) do not live within 400 m of an on-licence alcohol outlet, more than one in five residents of Melbourne and Sydney (20% and 23% respectively) do so. Access to off-licence outlets within 800 m is more prevalent than on-licence outlets within 400 m. Only 52% dwellings in Melbourne, 44% in Sydney and 66% in Perth do not have access to an off-licence outlet within 800 m.

Indeed, we found that access to alcohol outlets is highly prevalent in Australian cities. Across all four cities studied, only 16.5% of suburbs had no residential addresses with access to an on-licence premises within 400 m (42 in Melbourne compared with 90 in Sydney). Similarly, only 12.3% of suburbs had no residential addresses with access to an off-licence within 800 m – with most of these suburbs (118) in Brisbane. The results for access to off-licences outlets in Brisbane were markedly different to the other capital cities, and it is not clear whether this reflected reality, or was caused by missing data on off-licence outlets in that city. Unlike in other states, there is only one liquor licence category that relates to off-licences in Brisbane: commercial hotels. This is a limitation, and alternative ways of collecting these data will be considered in the future.

Given the health and social harms caused by alcohol, most notable was the lack of planning policy across Australian cities for the spatial distribution of alcohol outlets, and the high level of access, particularly to off-licence outlets.

12.4 Recommendations

Based on our research, we offer seven recommendations.

Recommendation 1: Evidence-informed integrated transport, land-use and infrastructure planning is needed to deliver affordable housing, public transport, accessible employment and amenities, and to create walkable neighbourhoods as the foundation of a liveable city.

There are considerable inconsistencies in current state government planning policies and lack of agreement about what policies and standards could be used to enhance the liveability of Australian cities. This suggests lack of policy agreement about how to create liveable cities, and insufficient use of evidence to inform policy standards and targets. For example, it will not be possible to achieve walkable, liveable communities in Australian suburbs, building at 15 dwellings per hectare yet this is the current standard in three of Australia's fastest growing cities (Melbourne, Sydney and Brisbane). To maintain and enhance the liveability of Australian cities, it is critical that standards and targets are informed by quantitative evidence. To achieve equity within and between cities, there is a need for greater alignment between states to produce more consistent evidence-based policies aimed at maintaining and enhancing the liveability of all Australian cities; and that local urban design policies are supported by integrated regional planning to deliver the infrastructure and amenities required to create a liveable city.

Recommendation 2: Include measureable spatial standards in state government urban, transport and infrastructure policies and/or guidelines, including short-, medium-, and long-term targets as appropriate.

Despite an extensive policy review in four major Australian capital cities, we identified relatively few measurable spatial standards or targets related to walkability, public transport, public open space, and none for housing affordability, employment and food and alcohol environments. State government policies contain many aspirational visions, goals and actions, but lack of clear targets or standards to achieve those aspirations. This makes it difficult to measure the impact of policy change or to benchmark and monitor the attainment of the desired goals. In addition, it is important that more ambitious 'stretch' targets be identified, rather than modest less ambitious targets. Thus, we therefore recommend inclusion of standards and short, medium and long-term targets in urban, transport and infrastructure policy and guidelines.

Recommendation 3: Develop spatial indicators of Australian cities to benchmark and monitor the implementation of state-based policies designed to create liveable communities.

As we have demonstrated in this report, national liveability indicators could be used to assess, benchmark and monitor city planning policies aimed at creating liveable cities. Spatial indicators enable inequities in cities to be benchmarked and monitored, and areas requiring further investment to be identified. The indicators in this report are a starting point for setting relevant and measurable standards into state government policy.

Recommendation 4: Develop agreed standards for the collection and categorisation of state government data that could be used to benchmark and monitor the implementation of urban policies in Australian cities.

One of the challenges of creating indicators that allow Australian cities to be directly

compared, is inconsistencies in the way that spatial data in Australia is being collected and categorised. There is an urgent need for agreed standards to be put in place for the collection and categorisation of state and local government spatial data, and a stronger focus is also needed on spatial data relevant to active modes of transport (walking and cycling).

Recommendation 5: Update liveability indicators at least every five years, to coincide with the ABS Census, and more frequently when possible.

As Australian Bureau of Statistics data becomes available, relevant indicators in this report will be updated. However, in order to benchmark and monitor the liveability indicators, it will be necessary to update these on a regular basis. We recommend a complete update every five years to coincide with the Census, and indicators that could respond to shorter cycles of change, should be updated even more regularly.

Recommendation 6: Expand the Federal government's National Cities Performance Framework, to include policy implementation indicators for access to public transport, walkability, public open space, employment and affordable housing.

The Federal government's National Cities Performance Framework includes many downstream indicators of the outcomes of policies, but also requires 'upstream' indicators of policies and investments likely to create the outcomes being sought. For example, it includes indicators of modes of transport to work, without measuring access to public transport (or frequency of services). At this stage, there are no indicators to measure 'walkability' or 'live and work in the same area' (or a measure of job/housing balance) despite the aspiration to create 30-minute liveable cities. We recommend that the Federal government's National Cities Performance Framework be expanded to include policy and policy implementation indicators related to access to public transport, walkability, and employment. Moreover, it would be preferable if these were spatial, to enable inequities across cities and areas for future investment to be identified.

Recommendation 7: Move towards metropolitan governance of cities, starting by ensuring that state and local government policies are consistent and evidence-informed, and specifically designed to create healthy liveable communities.

Achieving urban liveability requires metropolitan-wide governance and integrated planning across sectors and all levels of government. Metropolitan-wide governance is ideal to create healthy liveable cities, and it is important that local and state government policies are consistent and evidence-based.

12.5. Concluding comments

Although increasing the liveability of Australian cities is an objective common to all three levels of government, our study identified only a limited number of measurable spatial policy standards that could be used to assess progress towards achieving this laudable goal. Variation in quantifiable urban policy standards may reflect a lack of agreement or different interpretation among policy-makers and decision-makers about how land-use, transport and infrastructure planning could be used to improve liveability for Australian communities. Moreover, while most metropolitan strategic plans aspire to achieve walkable, liveable 30-minute (or 20-minute) cities, in most cities policy standards do not support these aspirations. In many cases the policy ambition is modest, and inconsistent with the growing body of quantitative evidence about how to achieve such targets.

Given projected population growth in Australia, there is an urgent need for greater alignment of state government policies designed to achieve healthy, liveable and walkable communities, and for these policies to be evidence-informed and to include measurable targets designed to improve the health and wellbeing of residents and ensure that the quality of urban life is maintained as our cities grow.

Overall, no Australian city performed well on all indicators of policy implementation or national liveability, with some cities performing better on some indicators and weaker on others. There is little evidence that any Australian city is achieving contemporary policy targets for walkability, public transport and public open space across its entire metropolitan area. Moreover, within each city we observed considerable variation between neighbourhoods, suburbs and LGAs in the degree to which they are meeting these goals.

Our research demonstrated that it is possible to create spatial indicators that will allow urban policies to be benchmarked and monitored over time, and for the level of implementation to be assessed. This is important because it could assist in monitoring progress and in determining the highest priorities for local, state and Federal investment. Moreover, if linked to desirable results (e.g. use of active and public transport, less time spent commuting, less traffic congestion, and better health), these indicators could provide an early warning system in the event of unintended outcomes that require policy adjustment.

Developing these types of indicators in Australia at present is difficult because of variations between the states in standards for collecting and attributing spatial data. Some of these difficulties are explained in Appendix 4. Australia-wide standards are needed for the collection of consistent spatial data that could be used for the purpose of creating environmentally and economically sustainable Australian cities that will encourage residents to lead more active and healthy lives.

We hope that the findings of this study will (re-)spark a national conversation about the need for:

- policy-relevant evidence, and development of evidence-informed policies across Australian cities, with the aim of maintaining the liveability of Australian cities – particularly as our population grows;
- consistent state government policies to create urban liveability and to ensure greater equity within and between Australian cities;
- integrated metropolitan governance in Australian cities; and
- urban policies that will shape cities that foster the good health and wellbeing of all residents.

References

 Lowe M, Whitzman C, Badland H, Davern M, Hes D, Aye L, et al. Liveable, healthy, sustainable: What are the key indicators for Melbourne neighbourhoods? Melbourne, Victoria: Place, Health and Liveability Research Program, The University of Melbourne; 2013.

2. Lowe M, Whitzman C, Badland H, Davern M, Aye L, Hes D, et al. Planning healthy, liveable and sustainable cities: How can indicators inform policy? Urban Policy and Research. 2015; 33(2): 131–44.

3. Badland H, Whitzman C, Lowe M, Davern M, Aye L, Butterworth I, et al. Urban liveability: Emerging lessons from Australia for exploring the potential for indicators to measure the social determinants of health. Soc Sci Med. 2014; 111: 64-73.

4. World Health Organization, UN Habitat. Global report on urban health: equitable healthier cities for sustainable development. Italy: WHO; 2016.

5. United Nations General Assembly. Resolution adopted by the General Assembly: Transforming our world: the 2030 agenda for sustainable development A/RES/70/1. New York: United Nations; 2015.

 United Nations. Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 23 December 2016: New Urban Agenda. United Nations; 2016.

 Victorian Auditor-General. Developing transport infrastructure and services for population growth areas. Melbourne, Victoria: Victorian Auditor-General's Office; 2013.
Capon A. The way we live in our cities. Med J Aust. 2007; 187(11/12): 658-61. Dodson J, Sipe N. Unsettling suburbia: The new landscape of oil and morgage vulnerability in Australian cities, Urban Research Program, Research Paper No. 17.
Brisbane, Queensland: Griffith University; 2008.

10. Thompson S, Gallico T. Are metropolitan planning frameworks healthy? The broader context. State of Australian Cities Conference; Brisbane, Queensland. Nathan, Queensland: Griffith University; 2005.

11. Giles-Corti B, Vernez-Moudon A, Reis R, Turrell G, Dannenberg AL, Badland H, et al. City planning and population health: A global challenge. The Lancet. 2016; 388(10062): 2912-24.

12. Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final report of the Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008.

13. World Health Organisation, editor Shanghai Declaration on promoting health in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. WHO 9th Global Conference on Health Promotion; 2016; Shanghai: WHO.

14. World Health Organisation, editor Shanghai Consensus on Healthy Cities 2016. WHO9th Global Conference on Health Promotion, Healthy Cities Mayor Forum; 2016; Shanghai:WHO.

15. Giles-Corti B, Badland H, Mavoa S, Turrell G, Bull F, Boruff B, et al. Reconnecting urban planning with health: a protocol for the development and validation of national liveability indicators associated with noncommunicable disease risk behaviours and health

outcomes. Public Health Research & Practice. 2014; 25(1).

Badland H, Davern M, Villanueva K, Mavoa S, Milner A, Roberts R, et al.
Conceptualising and measuring spatial indicators of employment through a liveability lens.
Social Indicators Research. 2016; 127(2): 565-76.

17. Badland H, Foster S, Bentley R, Higgs C, Roberts R, Pettit C, et al. Examining associations between area-level spatial measures of housing with selected health and wellbeing behaviours and outcomes in an urban context. Health Place. 2017; 43: 17-24.

18. Badland H, Mavoa S, Livingston M, David S, Giles-Corti B. Testing spatial measures of alcohol outlet density with self-rated health in the Australian context: Implications for policy and practice. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2016; 35(3): 298-306.

19. Badland H, Mavoa S, Villanueva K, Roberts R, Davern M, Giles-Corti B. The development of policy-relevant transport indicators to monitor health behaviours and outcomes. Journal of Transport & Health. 2015; 2(2): 103-10.

20. Badland H, Milner A, Roberts R, Giles-Corti B. Are area-level measures of employment associated with health behaviours and outcomes? Social Indicators Research. 2016.

21. Badland HM, Rachele JN, Roberts R, Giles-Corti B. Creating and applying public transport indicators to test pathways of behaviours and health through an urban transport framework. Journal of Transport & Health. 2017; 4: 208-15.

22. Madill R, Badland H, Giles-Corti B. Health service access in urban growth areas: examining the evidence and applying a case study approach. Australian Planner. 2016; 53(2): 83-90.

23. Murphy M, Badland H, Koohsari MJ, Astell-Burt T, Trapp G, Villanueva K, et al. Indicators of a health-promoting local food environment: a conceptual framework to inform urban planning policy and practice. Health Promotion Journal of Australia. 2017; 28(1): 82.

24. Rachele JN, Learnihan V, Badland HM, Mavoa S, Turrell G, Giles-Corti B. Neighbourhood socioeconomic and transport disadvantage: The potential to reduce social inequities in health through transport. Journal of Transport & Health. 2017.

25. Rachele JN, Learnihan V, Badland HM, Mavoa S, Turrell G, Giles-Corti B. Are measures derived from land use and transport policies associated with walking for transport? Journal of Physical Activity and Health. 2017: 1-22.

26. Mavoa S, Eagleson S, Badland H, Gunn L, Boulange C, Giles-Corti B. Identifying appropriate land use mix measures for use in a national walkability index. Journal of Transport and Land Use. Under review.

27. Villanueva K, Badland H, Giles-Corti B, Goldfeld S. Using spatial analysis of the Australian Early Development Index to advance our understanding of 'neighbourhood effects' research on child health and development. J Paediatr Child Health. 2015; 51(6): 577-9.

28. Villanueva K, Badland H, Hooper P, Koohsari MJ, Mavoa S, Davern M, et al. Developing indicators of public open space to promote health and wellbeing in communities. Applied Geography. 2015; 57: 112-9.

29. Badland H, Roberts R, Butterworth I, Giles-Corti B. How liveable is Melbourne? Conceptualising and testing urban liveability indicators: Progress to date. Melbourne, Victoria: The University of Melbourne; 2015.

30. Astell-Burt T, Feng X, Mavoa S, Badland H, Giles-Corti B. Modest ratios of fast food outlets to supermarkets and green grocers are associated with higher body mass index: Longitudinal analysis of a sample of 15,229 Australians aged 45 years and older in the Australian National Liveability Study. 2017.

31. Hooper P. Testing of urban planning policy and public open space planning standards and the development of national policy indicators of public open space in Australia: Findings from the Australian National Liveability Study. Landscape Urban Plann. Under review.

32. Mavoa S, Badland H, Lernihan V, Boruff B, Pettit C, Astell-Burt T, et al. The Australian national liveability study final report: development of policy-relevant liveability indicators relating to health and wellbeing and recommendations for dissemination. Melbourne, Victoria: McCaughey VicHealth Community Wellbeing Unit; 2016.

33. Althoff T, Sosič R, Hicks JL, King AC, Delp SL, Leskovec J. Large-scale physical activity data reveal worldwide activity inequality. Nature. 2017; 547(7663): 336-9.

34. The Healthy Built Environments Program. Healthy built environments: A review of the literature. Fact sheets. Sydney, NSW: The Healthy Built Environments Program, Cities Futures Research Centre, The University of New South Wales; 2012.

35. Sallis JF, Bull F, Burdett R, Frank LD, Griffiths P, Giles-Corti B, et al. Use of science to guide city planning policy and practice: how to achieve healthy and sustainable future cities. The Lancet. 2016; 388(10062): 2936-47.

36. Kjellstrom T, Hinde S. Car culture, transport policy, and public health. In: Kawachi I, Wamala S, editors. Globalisation and health. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 2007.

37. Ewing R, Cervero R. Travel and the built environment. A meta-analysis. J Am Planning Assoc. 2010; 76(3): 265-94.

38. Besser LM, Dannenberg AL. Walking to public transit steps to help meet physical activity recommendations. Am J Prev Med. 2005; 29(4): 273-80.

39. Rachele JN, Kavanagh AM, Badland H, Giles-Corti B, Washington S, Turrell G. Associations between individual socioeconomic position, neighbourhood disadvantage and transport mode: baseline results from the HABITAT multilevel study. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2015.

40. Frank L, Andresen M, Schmid T. Obesity relationships with community design, physical activity, and time spent in cars. Am J Prev Med. 2004; 27(2): 87-96.

41. Ewing R, Schieber R, Zegeer C. Urban sprawl as a risk factor in motor vehicle occupant and pedestrian fatalities. Am J Public Health. 2003; 93: 1541-5.

42. Samet J. Community design and air quality. In: Dannenberg A, Frumkin H, Jackson R, editors. Making healthy places: Designing and building for health, well-being, and sustainability. Washington, DC: Island Press; 2011.

43. Davern M, Farrar A, Kenda D, Giles-Corti B. Quality green space supporting health, wellbeing and biodiversity: A literature review Adelaide, South Australia: Heart Foundation

of Australia; 2016.

44. Sallis J, Millstein R, Carlson J. Community design for physical activity. In: Dannenberg A, Frumkin H, Jackson R, editors. Making healthy places: Designing and building for health, well-being, and sustainability. Washington, DC: Island Press; 2011.

45. Giles-Corti B, Foster S, Koohsari MJ, Francis J, Hooper P. The influence of urban design and planning on physical activity. In: Barton H, Thompson S, Burgess S, Grant M, editors. The Routledge handbook of planning for health and well-being: Shaping a sustainable and healthy future. Oxon, UK: Routledge; 2015.

46. Sugiyama T, Gunn LD, Christian H, Francis J, Foster S, Hooper P, et al. Quality of public open spaces and recreational walking. Am J Public Health. 2015; 105(12): 2490-5.

47. Sugiyama T, Neuhaus M, Cole R, Giles-Corti B, Owen N. Destination and route attributes associated with adults' walking: A review. MSSE. 2012; 44: 1275-86.

48. Frumkin H. Healthy places: exploring the evidence. Am J Public Health. 2003; 93(9): 1451-6.

49. Hartig T, Evans G, Jamner L, Davis D, Gärling T. Tracking restoration in natural and urban field settings. Journal of Environmental Psychology. 2003; 23: 109-23.

50. Francis J, Wood L, Knuiman M, Giles-Corti B. Quality or quantity? Exploring the relationship between public open space attributes and mental health in Perth, Western Australia. Soc Sci Med. 2012; 74(10): 1570-7.

51. Giles-Corti B, Ryan K, Foster S. Increasing density in Australia: Maximising the benefits and minimising the harm. National Heart Foundation of Australia; 2012.

52. Dalton T. Housing policy: Changes and prospects. In: McClelland A, Smyth P, editors. Social policy in Australia: Understanding for action. 3rd ed. Melbourne, Victoria: Oxford University Press; 2014.

53. Marco E, Burgess S. Healthy housing. In: Barton H, Thompson S, Burgess S, Grant M, editors. The Routledge handbook of planning for health and well-being: Shaping a sustainable and healthy future. Oxon, UK: Routledge; 2015.

54. Howden-Chapman P. Housing and inequalities in health. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2002; 56: 645-6.

55. Yates J. Housing policies and wealth inequality. In: Tomlinson R, editor. Australia's unintended cities: the impact of housing on urban development. Melbourne, Victoria: CSIRO Publishing; 2012.

56. Wilkinson R, Marmot M, editors. Social determinants of health: The solid facts. Copenhagen, Denmark: World Health Organization; 2003.

57. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. GBD profile: Australia. Seattle, WA: IHME; 2013.

58. Mason KE, Bentley RJ, Kavanagh AM. Fruit and vegetable purchasing and the relative density of healthy and unhealthy food stores: Evidence from an Australian multilevel study. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2013; 67: 231-6.

59. Stafford M, Cummins S, Ellaway A, Sacker A, Wiggins R, Macintyre S. Pathways to obesity: identifying local, modifiable determinants of physical activity and diet. Soc Sci Med. 2007; 65: 1882-97.

60. Foster S, Trapp G, Hooper P, Oddy WH, Wood L, Knuiman M. Liquor landscapes: Does access to alcohol outlets influence alcohol consumption in young adults? Health Place. 2017; 45: 17-23.

61. Livingstone M. Alcohol outlet density and harm: Comparing the impacts on violence and chronic harms. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2011; 30: 515-23.

62. Foster S, Hooper P, Knuiman M, Trapp G, Wood L. Does alcohol outlet density differ by area-level disadvantage in metropolitan Perth? Drug Alcohol Rev. 2017.

63. Williams P, Maginn P. Planning and governance. In: Thompson S, Maginn P, editors. Planning Australia: An overview of urban and regional planning. 2nd ed. Melbourne, Victoria: Cambridge University Press; 2012.

64. Gleeson B, Dodson J, Spiller M. Governance, metropolitan planning and city-building: The case for reform. In: Tomlinson R, editor. Australia's unintended cities: the impact of housing on urban development. Melbourne, Victoria: CSIRO Publishing; 2012.

65. Australian Social and Recreation Research. Guide to social infrastructure planning. Melbourne, Victoria: Victorian Department of Planning and Community Development, Victorian Growth Areas Authority, Wyndham City Council; 2009 October.

66. Legacy C, Lowe M, Cole-Hawthorne R. (Re)constituting urban research in a neo-liberal planning climate. Australian Planner. 2016; 53(1): 1-4.

67. Department of Environment Land Water and Planning. Plan Melbourne 2017-2050. Melbourne, Victoria: Department of Environment Land Water and Planning, Victorian Government; 2017.

 Bepartment of Transport Planning and Local Infrastructure. Plan Melbourne: Metropolitan planning strategy 2014. Melbourne, Victoria: Department of Transport, Planning and Local Infrastructure, Victorian Government; 2014.

69. Department of Planning and Environment. A plan for growing Sydney. Sydney, NSW: Department of Planning and Environment, NSW Government; 2014.

70. Department of Infrastructure and Planning. South East Queensland regional plan 2009-2031. Brisbane, Queensland: Department of Infrastructure and Planning, Queensland Government; 2009.

71. Western Australian Planning Commission. Directions 2031 and beyond: metropolitan planning beyond the horizon. Perth, Western Australia: Western Australian Planning Commission; 2010.

72. de Leeuw E, Butterworth I, Garrard J, Palmero J, Godbold T, Tacticos T. Evaluation of the environments for health framework: Final report. Melbourne, Victoria: Centre for Health through Action on Social Exclusion, Deakin University and Program Evaluation Unit, School of Population Health, The University of Melbourne; 2006.

73. Holden M. Is integrated planning any more than the sum of its parts? Considerations for planning sustainable cities. Journal of Planning Education and Research. 2012; 32(3): 305-18.

74. Rayner J, Howlett M. Introduction: Understanding integrated policy strategies and their evolution. Policy and Society. 2009; 28(2): 99-109.

75. Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet. Smart cities plan. Canberra, ACT: Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet, Australian Government; 2016.

76. Major Cities Unit. State of Australian cities 2010. Canberra, ACT: Infrastructure Australia; 2010.

77. Western Australian Planning Commission. Liveable neighbourboods: A Western Australian Government sustainable cities initiative. Perth, Western Australia: Western Australian Planning Commission; 2007.

78. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2011 Census of Population and Housing, customised data report. Sydney, NSW: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2012.

79. Balsas C. Measuring the livability of an urban centre: An exploratory study of key performance indicators. Planning Practice & Research. 2004; 19(1): 101-10.

80. Hooper P, Giles-Corti B, Knuiman M. Evaluating the implementation and active living impacts of a state government planning policy designed to create walkable neighborhoods in Perth, Western Australia. Am J Health Promot. 2014; 28(sp3): S5-S18.

81. NHMRC Centre of Research Excellence in Healthy Liveable Communities. About us. The University of Melbourne. 2017. http://mccaughey.unimelb.edu.au/programs/cre (accessed Jun 10, 2017).

82. Goldfeld S, Villanueva K, Tanton R, Katz I, Brinkman S, Woolcock G, et al. Kids in Communities Study (KiCS) study protocol: a cross-sectional mixed-methods approach to measuring community-level factors influencing early child development in Australia. BMJ Open. 2017; 7(3): e014047.

83. Goldfeld S, Woolcock G, Katz I, Tanton R, Brinkman S, O'Connor E, et al. Neighbourhood effects influencing early childhood development: Conceptual model and trial measurement methodologies from the Kids in Communities Study. Social Indicators Research. 2015; 120(1): 197-212. 84. Villanueva K, Badland H, Kvalsvig A, O'Connor M, Christian H, Woolcock G, et al. Can the neighborhood built environment make a difference in children's development? Building the research agenda to create evidence for place-based children's policy. Academic Pediatrics. 2016; 16(1): 10-9.

85. The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre. The Australian Prevention Partnership Centre Fact Sheet. Sydney, NSW: Sax Institute; 2014.

86. Clean Air and Urban Landscapes Hub. About the CAUL Hub. Clean Air and Urban Landscapes Hub, National Environmental Science Program. 2017. http://www. nespurban.edu.au/about/ (accessed 10 March 2017).

87. Lowe M, Hooper P. Research brief: Improving liveability. Melbourne, Victoria: Clean Air Urban Landscapes Hub, National Environmental Science Programme; 2016.

88. Giles-Corti B, Badland H, Mavoa S, Turrell G, Bull F, Boruff B, et al. Reconnecting urban planning with health: a protocol for the development and validation of national liveability indicators associated with noncommunicable disease risk behaviours and health outcomes. Public Health Res Pract. 2014; 25(1).

 89. Giles-Corti B, Macaulay G, Middleton N, Boruff B, Bull F, Butterworth I, et al. Developing a research and practice tool to measure walkability: a demonstration project. Health promotion journal of Australia : official journal of Australian Association of Health Promotion Professionals. 2014; 25(3): 160-6.

90. Western Australian Planning Commission. Liveable neighbourboods: A Western Australian Government sustainable cities initiative. Perth, Western Australia: Western Australian Planning Commission; 2009.

91. NSW Government. Recreation and open space guidelines for local government. Sydney, NSW: NSW Government; 2010.

92. PSMA Australia Limited. G-NAF: the Geocoded National Address File. Canberra, ACT: Callpoint Spatial Pty Ltd; 2012.

93. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Statistical Geography Standard (ASGS): Volume 1 - main structure and Greater Capital City Statistical Areas. Canberra, ACT: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2011.

94. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Statistical Geography Standard (ASGS): Volume 4 - Significant Urban Areas, Urban Centres and Localities, Section of State. Canberra, ACT: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2011.

95. Department of Natural Resources and Mines. Recreation areas - Queensland. Brisbane, Queensland: Department of Natural Resources and Mines; 2015.

96. Giles-Corti B, Hooper P, Foster S, Koohsari MJ, Francis J. Low density development: Impacts on physical activity and associated health outcomes Melbourne, Victoria: Heart Foundation (Victorian Division); 2014.

97. Christian HE, Bull FC, Middleton NJ, Knuiman MW, Divitini ML, Hooper P, et al. How important is the land use mix measure in understanding walking behaviour? Results from the RESIDE study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2011; 8: 55.

98. Ding D, Gebel K. Built environment, physical activity, and obesity: What have we learned from reviewing the literature? Health Place. 2012; 18: 100-5.

Saelens BE, Handy SL. Built environment correlates of walking: A review. MSSE. 2008;
40: S550-66.

100. Boulange C, Gunn L, Giles-Corti B, Pettit CJ, Badland H. Examining associations between urban design attributes and transport mode choices for walking, cycling, public transport and private motor vehicle trips. J Transport and Health. 2017.

101. Western Australian Planning Commission. Liveable neighbourhoods community design code: A Western Australian Government sustainable cities initiative. Edition 1. Perth, Western Australia; 1997.

102. Transport for New South Wales. Integrated public transport service planning guidelines: Sydney metropolitan area. Sydney, NSW: Transport for New South Wales, NSW Government; 2013.

103. Transport for New South Wales. Integrated public transport service planning guidelines: Outer metropolitan area. Sydney, NSW: Transport for New South Wales, NSW

Government; 2016.

104. NSW Department of Urban Affairs and Planning. Integrated transport and land use: Improving transport choice — guidelines for planning and development. Sydney, NSW: Department of Urban Affairs and Planning, NSW Government; 2001.

105. POS Tool [Internet]. The University of Western Australia. 2013. Available from: http:// www.postool.com.au/cbeh/pos/welcome/.

106. Koohsari MJ, Badland H, Mavoa S, K V, Francis J, Hooper P, et al. Are public open space measures associated with walking and depression? Cities. Under review.

107. Western Australian Planning Commission, Department of Planning. Liveable neighbourboods: Draft 2015. Perth, Western Australia: Western Australian Planning Commission; 2015.

108. Giles-Corti B, Broomhall MH, Knuiman M, Collins C, Douglas K, Ng K, et al. Increasing walking: How important is distance to, attractiveness, and size of public open space? Am J Prev Med. 2005; 28.

109. Sugiyama T, Francis J, Middleton NJ, Owen N, Giles-Corti B. Associations between recreational walking and attractiveness, size, and proximity of neighborhood open spaces. Am J Public Health. 2010; 100(9): 1752-7.

110. Yates J, Gabriel M, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute. Housing affordability in Australia : collaborative research venture 3 : housing affordability for lower income Australians : background report. 2005.

111. Real Estate Institute of Australia. Real estate market facts: median house price rises across the country. 2012.

112. Dodson J, Sipe N. Shocking the suburbs: urban location, homeownership and oil vulnerability in the Australian city. Housing Stud. 2007; 23(3): 377-401.

113. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Statistical Geography Standard (ASGS): Volume 1 - main structure and Greater Capital City Statistical Areas, July 2011. Canberra, ACT. 2010. http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/0/B01A5912123E8D2BCA257801 000C64F2?opendocument. cat. no. 1270.0.55.001 (accessed Jul 27, 2017).

114. Growth Areas Authority. Precinct Structure Planning guidelines (part one): Overview of growth areas planning. Melbourne. Victoria: Growth Areas Authority, Victorian Government; 2013.

115. Growth Areas Authority. Precinct Structure Planning guidelines (part rwo): Preparing the Precinct Structure Plan. Melbourne. Victoria: Growth Areas Authority, Victorian Government; 2013.

116. Feng X, Astell-Burt T, Badland H, Mavoa S, Giles-Corti B. Association between body mass index and local food environment in a sample of 15,229 Australians aged 45 years and older: Findings from the National Liveability Study. Health Place. Under review.

117. Australian Business Licence and Information Service. Detached bottle shop -Queensland. Canberra, ACT. 2017. https://ablis.business.gov.au/service/queensland/ detached-bottle-shop/35360 (accessed Oct 4, 2017).

118. Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet. National cities performance framework interim report. Canberra, ACT: Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet, Australian Government; 2017.

119. Koohsari MJ, Kaczynski AT, Giles-Corti B, Karakiewicz JA. Effects of access to public open spaces on walking: Is proximity enough? Landscape Urban Plann. 2013; 117: 92-9.

120. Hooper P, Knuiman M, Foster S, Giles-Corti B. The building blocks of a 'Liveable Neighbourhood': Identifying the key performance indicators for walking of an operational planning policy in Perth, Western Australia. Health Place. 2015; 36: 173-83.

121. Bull F, Hooper P, Foster S, Giles-Corti B. Living liveable: The impact of the Liveable Neighbourhoods Policy on the health and wellbeing of Perth residents. Perth, Western Australia: The University of Western Australia; 2015.

122. Astell-Burt T, Feng X, Mavoa S, Badland HM, Giles-Corti B. Do low-income neighbourhoods have the least green space? A cross-sectional study of Australia's most populous cities. BMC Public Health. 2014; 14(1): 292.

123. Astell-Burt T, Feng X, Kolt GS. Is neighborhood green space associated with a lower risk of type 2 diabetes? Evidence from 267,072 Australians. Diabetes Care. 2014; 37.

124. Astell-Burt T, Feng X, Kolt GS. Greener neighborhoods, slimmer people? Evidence from 246,920 Australians. Int J Obes. 2014; 38.

125. Astell-Burt T, Feng X, Kolt GS. Neighbourhood green space is associated with more frequent walking and moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) in middle-to-older aged adults. Findings from 203,883 Australians in The 45 and Up Study. Br J Sports Med. 2014; 48.

126. Astell-Burt T, Feng X, Kolt GS. Does access to neighborhood green space promote a healthy duration of sleep? Novel findings from 259,319 Australians. BMJ Open. 2013; 3.

127. Astell-Burt T, Feng X, Kolt GS. Mental health benefits of neighbourhood green space are stronger among physically active adults in middle-to-older age: evidence from 260,061 Australians. Prev Med. 2013; 57.

128. Giles-Corti B, Eagleson S, Lowe M. Securing Australia's future - sustainable urban mobility. The public health impacts of transportation decisions. Melbourne, Victoria: Consultancy Services; 2014.

129. Victorian Government. Planning and Environment Act 1987. Melbourne, Victoria: Victorian Government; 1987.

130. Victorian Government. Infrastructure Victoria Act 2015. Melbourne, Victoria: Victorian Government; 2015.

131. Department of Environment Land Water and Planning. Victorian planning provisions. Melbourne, Victoria: Department of Environment, Land Water and Planning 2016. http://planningschemes.dpcd.vic.gov.au/schemes/vpps (accessed 17 January, 2016).

132. Victorian Government. Transport Integration Act 2010. Melbourne, Victoria: Victorian Government; 2010.

133. Victorian Department of Sustainability and Environment. Activity centre design guidelines. Melbourne, Victoria: Department of Sustainability and Environment, Victorian

Government; 2005.

134. Parks Victoria. Linking people and spaces: A strategy for Melbourne's open space network. Melbourne, Victoria: Parks Victoria; 2002.

135. Parks and Leisure Australia. Open space planning and design guide. Parks and Leisure Australia; 2013.

136. Victorian Government. Subdivision Act 1988. Melbourne, Victoria: Victorian Government; 1988.

137. Australian Social and Recreation Research. Planning for community infrastructure in growth areas. Victorian Department of Planning and Community Development, City of Casey, Hume City Council, Shire of Melton, City of Whittlesea, Wyndam City Council; 2008 April.

138. Victorian Department of Planning and Community Development. A guide to governing shared facilities. Melbourne, Victoria: Department of Planning and Community Development, Victorian Government; 2010.

139. Victorian Department of Sustainability and Environment. Higher density residential development guidelines. Melbourne, Victoria: Department of Susainability and Environment, Victorian Government; 2004.

140. Victorian Department of Transport. Public transport guidelines for land use and development. Melbourne, Victoria: Department of Transport, Victorian Government; 2008.

141. Victorian Government. Cycling into the future 2013-23: Victoria's cycling strategy Melbourne, Victoria: Victorian Government; 2012.

142. Victorian Government. Liquor Control Reform Act 1998. Melbourne, Victoria: Victorian Government; 1998.

143. Victorian Government. Victoria Government gazette No. G 23 Thursday 7 June 2012.Melbourne, Victoria: Victorian Government; 2012.

144. Government of Western Australia. Planning and Development Act 2005. Perth, Western Australia: Government of Western Australia; 2005.

145. Government of Western Australia. Planning and Development (Local Planning Scheme) Regulations 2015 Perth, Western Australia: Government of Western Australia;2015.

146. Western Australian Planning Commission. State planning strategy 2050. Perth, Western Australia: Western Australian Planning Commission; 2014.

147. Western Australian Department of Housing. Affordable housing strategy 2010-2020: Opening doors to affordable housing. Perth, Western Australia: Department of Housing, Government of Western Australia; 2010.

148. Western Australian Department of Planning Lands and Heritage. State planning framework: state planning policies. Perth, Western Australia. 2016. https://www.planning. wa.gov.au/state-planning-framework.aspx#State-Planning-Policies (accessed Jun 3, 2016).

149. Western Australian Department of Transport. Public transport for Perth in 2031. Perth, Western Australia: Department of Transport, Government of Western Australia; 2011.

150. Western Australian Department of Transport. Western Australian bicycle network plan 2014-2031. Perth, Western Australia: Department of Transport, Government of Western Australia; 2014.

151. Western Australia Public Transport Authority. Public Transport Authority strategic plan 2013-17. Perth, Western Australia: Public Transport Authority, Government of Western Australia. 2015. http://www.pta.wa.gov.au/about-us/priorities-and-performance/strategic-plan (accessed Nov 14, 2015).

152. Western Australian Department of Sport and Recreation. Classification framework for public open space. Perth, Western Australia: Department of Sport and Recreation, Government of Western Australia; 2012.

153. Western Australian Department of Education. Community use of school facilities and resources. Perth, Western Australia: Department of Education, Government of Western Australia; 2008.

154. Western Australian Department of Planning Lands and Heritage. State planning framework: development control policies. Perth, Western Australia. 2016. https://www.planning.wa.gov.au/state-planning-framework.aspx#Development-Control-and-Operational-Policies (accessed Jun 3, 2016).

155. Western Australian Department of Planning Lands and Heritage. State planning framework: planning fact sheets, manuals and guidelines. Perth, Western Australia. 2016. https://www.planning.wa.gov.au/state-planning-framework.aspx#Development-Control-and-Operational-Policies (accessed Jun 3, 2016).

156. Premier's Physical Activity Taskforce. Walk WA: A walking strategy for Western Australia 2007 – 2020. Perth, Western Australia: Department of Sport and Recreation, Government of Western Australia; 2007.

157. Government of Western Australia. Liquor Control Act 1988. Perth, Western Australia: Government of Western Australia; 1988.

158. Government of Western Australia. Liquor Control Regulations 1989. Perth, Western Australia: Government of Western Australia; 1989.

159. Independent Review Committee. Liquor Control Act 1988: Report of the independent review committee. Perth, Western Australia: Department of Liquor Gaming and Racing, Government of Western Australia; 2013.

160. Queensland Government. Sustainable Planning Act 2009. Brisbane, Queensland: Queensland Government; 2009.

161. Queensland Government. Sustainable Planning Regulation 2009. Brisbane, Queensland: Queensland Government; 2009.

162. Queensland Government. Transport Infrastructure Act 1994. Brisbane, Queensland: Queensland Government; 1994.

163. Queensland Department of Infrastructure and Planning. Delivering the Queensland affordable housing strategy: Greenfield land supply in South East Queensland. Brisbane, Queensland: Department of Infrastructure and Planning, Queensland Government; 2007.

164. Queensland Department of Infrastructure and Planning. Queensland affordable housing strategy. Brisbane, Queensland: Department of Infrastructure and Planning, Queensland Government; 2007.

165. Queensland Department of State Development Infrastructure and Planning. State Planning Policy July 2014. Brisbane, Queensland: Department of State Development Infrastructure and Planning, Queensland Government; 2014.

166. Queensland Department of Infrastructure Local Government and Planning. State Planning Policy guidance material Brisbane, Queensland: Department of Infrastructure Local Government and Planning, Queensland Government. 2016. http://www.dilgp.qld. gov.au/planning/state-planning-instruments/state-planning-policy-guidance-material.html (accessed Jul 13, 2016).

167. Queensland Department of Infrastructure Local Government and Planning. Queensland Planning Provisions version 4.0. Brisbane, Queensland: Department of Infrastructure Local Government and Planning, Queensland Government; 2016.

168. Queensland Department of Infrastructure Local Government and Planning. State infrastructure plan part A: Strategy. Brisbane, Queensland: Department of Infrastructure Local Government and Planning, Queensland Government; 2016.

169. Queensland Department of Infrastructure Local Government and Planning. State infrastructure plan Part B: Program. Brisbane, Queensland: Department of Infrastructure Local Government and Planning, Queensland Government; 2016.

170. Queensland Department of Local Government and Planning. Positively green: Queensland greenspace strategy 2011–2020. Brisbane, Queensland: Department of Local Government and Planning, Queensland Government; 2011.

171. Queensland Department of Infrastructure and Planning. South East Queensland infrastructure plan and program 2009-2026. Brisbane, Queensland: Department of Infrastructure and Planning, Queensland Government; 2009.

172. Queensland Department of Transport and Main Roads. Connecting SEQ 2031: An integrated regional transport plan for South East Queensland. Brisbane, Queensland:

Department of Transport and Main Roads, Queensland Government; 2011.

173. Queensland Department of Transport and Main Roads. Queensland cycle strategy 2011-2021. Brisbane, Queensland: Department of Transport and Main Roads, Queensland Government; 2011.

174. Queensland Department of Infrastructure Local Government and Planning. Priority Development Area guidelines and practice notes. Brisbane, Queensland: Department of Infrastructure Local Government and Planning, Queensland Government. 2016. http://www.dilgp.qld.gov.au/resources-ilgp/fact-sheet-guidelines/priority-development-areas-guidelines-and-practice-notes.html (accessed Jan 19, 2017).

175. Queensland Government. Liquor Act 1992. Brisbane, Queensland: Queensland Government; 1992.

176. Queensland Government. Liquor Guideline 38: Community impact statement. Brisbane, Queensland: Queensland Government; 2015.

177. New South Wales Government. Environment Planning and Assessment Act 1979. Sydney, NSW: NSW Government; 1979.

178. New South Wales Government. Environment Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. Sydney, NSW: NSW Government; 2000.

179. New South Wales Government. State Environment Planning Policies. Sydney, NSW: NSW Government. 2016. https://www.planningportal.nsw.gov.au/understanding-planning/legislation/state-environmental-planning-policies (accessed Oct 20, 2016).

180. New South Wales Government. Standard Instrument – Principal Local Environmental Plan. Sydney, NSW: NSW Government; 2006.

 181. Infrastructure NSW. First things first: State infrastructure strategy 2012-32. Sydney, NSW: Infrastructure NSW; 2012.

182. Infrastructure NSW. State infrastructure strategy update 2014. Sydney, NSW: Infrastructure NSW; 2014.

183. Transport for New South Wales. Long term transport master plan. Sydney, NSW:

Transport for New South Wales, NSW Government. 2012. https://www.transport.nsw.gov. au/projects/strategy/long-term-transport-master-plan (accessed Oct 3, 2016).

184. Transport for New South Wales. NSW road safety strategy 2012-21. Sydney, NSW: Transport for New South Wales, NSW Government. 2012. http://roadsafety.transport.nsw. gov.au/aboutthecentre/strategies/nswroadsafetystrategy/index.html (accessed Jan 15, 2016).

185. NSW Department of Planning and Infrastructure. Housing choice and affordability in growth areas: dwelling density guide. Sydney, NSW: Department of Planning and Infrastructure, NSW Government; 2013.

186. New South Wales Government. NSW 2021: A plan to make NSW number one. Sydney, NSW: NSW Government; 2011.

187. New South Wales Government. Premier's priorities. Sydney, NSW: NSW Government. 2016. https://www.nsw.gov.au/improving-nsw/premiers-priorities/ (accessed Sep 10, 2016).

188. New South Wales Government. Liquor Act 2007. Sydney, NSW: NSW Government; 2007.

189. NSW Department of Trade and Investment. The Environment and Venue Assessment Tool (EVAT). Sydney, NSW: Office of Liquor, Gaming and Racing, Department of Trade and Investment, NSW Government; 2014.

190. New South Wales Government. NSW Government response to the "Statutory review of the Liquor Act 2007 and the Gaming and Liquor Administration Act 2007". Sydney, NSW: NSW Government. 2014. http://www.liquorandgaming.nsw.gov.au/Documents/ liquor/law-and-policy/GovernmentResponse_StatutoryReview_LA_GALAA.pdf (accessed Sep 10, 2016).

191. The Planning Group WA Pty Ltd. Liveable Neighbourhoods review task 1: Subdivision applications and structure plans assessment. Perth, Western Australia: Western Australian Planning Commission; 2003.

192. Acxiom Australia Pty Ltd. MapInfo Business Points Australia. Pitney Bowes Software

Pty Ltd; 2013.

193. Esri. Service area analysis. 2017. http://desktop.arcgis.com/en/arcmap/latest/ extensions/network-analyst/service-area.htm (accessed Oct 4, 2017).

194. GTFS Community. GTFS static overview. Google. 2016. https://developers.google. com/transit/gtfs/ (accessed Oct 4, 2017).

195. PSMA Australia Limited. Transport and Topography. Canberra, ACT: Callpoint Spatial Pty Ltd; 2012.

196. PSMA Australia Limited. Geoscape. Canberra, ACT: Callpoint Spatial Pty Ltd; 2017.

197. Caccetta P, Collings S, Devereux A, Hingee K, McFarlane D, Traylen A, et al. Urban Monitor: Enabling effective monitoring and management of urban and coastal environments using digital aerial photography; Final Report – Transformation of aerial photography into digital raster information product. Australia; 2012.

198. Victorian Environmental Assessment Council. VEAC metropolitan Melbourne open space inventory. Melbourne, Victoria: Department of Environment, Land, Water & Planning; 2017.

199. Brisbane City Council. Park facilities and assets. Brisbane, Queensland: Brisbane City Council; 2015.

200. Brisbane City Council. Spatial data. Brisbane, Queensland: Brisbane City Council. 2017. https://www.data.brisbane.qld.gov.au/data/group/spatial-data (accessed Oct 4, 2017).

201. PSMA Australia Limited. CadLite. Canberra, ACT: Callpoint Spatial Pty Ltd; 2012.

202. Tyrrell Studio Pty. Ltd. NSW Green Grid. Sydney, NSW: Office of the Government Architect; 2017.

203. Koohsari MJ, Mavoa S, Villanueva K, Sugiyama T, Badland H, Kaczynski AT, et al. Public open space, physical activity, urban design and public health: Concepts, methods and research agenda. Health Place. 2015; 33: 75-82.

204. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2011 Census of Population and Housing, customised

data report. Sydney, NSW: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2017.

205. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2011 Census - dwelling characteristics. Canberra, ACT. 2017. TableBuilder. Findings based on use of ABS TableBuilder data. (accessed Jul 27, 2017).

206. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2011 Census - counting employed persons, place of work. Canberra, ACT. 2017. TableBuilder. Findings based on use of ABS TableBuilder data. (accessed Jul 27, 2017).

207. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2011 Census - employment, income and unpaid work. Canberra, ACT. 2017. TableBuilder. Findings based on use of ABS TableBuilder data. (accessed Jul 27, 2017).

208. Hooper PL, Middleton N, Knuiman M, Giles-Corti B. Measurement error in studies of the built environment: validating commercial data as objective measures of neighborhood destinations. Journal of Physical Activity & Health. 2013; 10(6): 792-804.

209. Chin GKW, Van Niel KP, Giles-Corti B, Knuiman M. Accessibility and connectivity in physical activity studies: The impact of missing pedestrian data. Prev Med. 2008; 46(1): 41-5.

210. NSW Government. New councils. Sydney, NSW. 2017. https://www. strongercouncils.nsw.gov.au/new-councils/ (accessed Oct 4, 2017).

Appendix 1 Policies reviewed for each domain

A1.1 Victoria

Table 11: Policies reviewed in Victoria

		Relevant liveability domains								
Policies and Legislation	Policy level	Housing	Employment	Public Open Space	Public Transport	Walkability	Alcohol	Food		
Planning and Environment Act 1987 [119]	Legislation	~	~	~	~	~				
Infrastructure Victoria Act 2015 [120]	Legislation	~	~	~	~	~				
Victorian Planning Provisions [121]	Regulations	~	~	~	~	~	~	~		
Plan Melbourne 2014 [68]	Strategic policy	\checkmark	✓	✓	✓	✓		~		
Precinct Structure Planning Guidelines Part One and Two [106] [107]	Guidelines	~	✓	~	~	~		~		
Transport Integration Act 2010 [122]	Legislation				~	~				
Activity Centre Design Guidelines [123]	Guidelines	~	~	~	~	~				
Linking People and Spaces: A Strategy for Melbourne's Open Space Network [124]	Strategic policy			~						
Open Space Planning and Design Guide [125]	Guidelines			~						

Subdivision Act 1988 [126]	Legislation	~	\checkmark				
Planning for Community Infrastructure in Growth Areas [127]	Guidelines		\checkmark				
A Guide to Social Infrastructure Planning [65]	Guidelines		\checkmark				
A Guide to Governing Shared Facilities [128]	Guidelines		~				
Higher Density Residential Development Guidelines [129]	Guidelines	~			\checkmark		
Public Transport Guidelines for Land Use and Development [130]	Guidelines			\checkmark	~		
Cycling into the Future 2013-2023: Victoria's Cycling Strategy [131]	Strategic policy			\checkmark	~		
Liquor Control Reform Act 1998 [132]	Legislation					~	
Victoria Government Gazette No. G 23 Thursday 7 June 2012 [133]	Legislation					✓	

A 1.2 Western Australia

Table 12: Policies reviewed in Western Australia

		Relevant liveability domain								
Policies and legislation	Policy level	Housing	Employment	Public open space	Public transport	Walkability	Alcohol	Food		
Planning and Development Act 2005 [144]	Legislation	\checkmark	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓				
Planning and Development (Local Planning Scheme) Regulations 2015 [145]	Regulation	~	~	~	\checkmark	~				
State Planning Strategy 2050 [146]	Strategic policy	\checkmark	~	~	\checkmark	✓				
Affordable Housing Strategy 2010–2020: Opening Doors to Affordable Housing [147]	Strategic policy	√								
State planning policies (including State Planning Framework) [148]	Strategic policy	\checkmark	~	~	\checkmark	✓				
Directions 2031 and Beyond: Metropolitan Planning Beyond the Horizon [71]	Strategic policy	√	~	~	√	~				
Public Transport for Perth in 2031 [149]	Strategic policy				~					
Western Australian Bicycle Network Plan 2014–2031 [150]	Strategic policy				\checkmark					
Public Transport Authority Strategic Plan 2013–17 [151]	Strategic policy				\checkmark					
Classification Framework for Public Open Space [152]	Strategic policy			\checkmark						
Community Use of School Facilities and Resources [153]	Strategic policy			~						
Development Control and Operational Policies [154]	Guidelines	✓	~	~	\checkmark	~				
Liveable Neighbourhoods 2009 and 2015 (Draft) [90, 107] ¹	Guidelines	~	~	~	\checkmark	~		\checkmark		
Planning bulletins, fact sheets, manuals and guidelines [155]	Guidelines	\checkmark	~	~	\checkmark	~				
Walk WA: A Walking Strategy for Western Australia 2007–2020 [156]	Strategic policy					~				
Liquor Control Act 1988 [157]	Legislation						~			
Liquor Control Regulations 1989 [158]	Regulation						~			
Liquor Control Act 1988: Report of the Independent Review Committee [159]	Legislation						\checkmark			

¹Both versions of Liveable Neighbourhoods were reviewed, with policy standards selected from Liveable Neighbourhoods 2015 where possible. Policies from the 2009 version were selected where there was no relevant, measurable policy standard in the 2015 version.

A 1.3 Queensland

Table 13: Policies reviewed in Queensland

Policies and legislation	Policy level			Relevar	nt liveability o	domain		
		Housing	Employ- ment	Public open space	Public transport	Walkability	Alcohol	Food
Sustainable Planning Act 2009 [160]	Legislation	\checkmark	\checkmark	√	\checkmark	~		
Sustainable Planning Regulation 2009 [161]	Regulation	✓	~	~	\checkmark	~		
Transport Infrastructure Act 1994 [162]	Legislation				\checkmark	~		
State Planning Regulatory Provisions – Delivering Queensland Affordable Housing Strategy: Greenfield land supply in South East Queensland [163]	Regulation	\checkmark						
Queensland Housing Affordability Strategy [164]	Strategic policy	\checkmark						
State Planning Policy (SPP) [165]	Strategic/statutory policy	√	~	~	\checkmark	~		✓
State Planning Policy guidance material [166]	Guidelines to implement SPP	\checkmark	~	~	\checkmark	~		~
Queensland Planning Provisions [167]	Statutory planning	\checkmark	√	~	\checkmark	~		
State Infrastructure Plan Part A and B [168, 169]	Strategic policy	~	~	~	\checkmark	~		
South East Queensland Regional Plan 2009–2031 [70]	Strategic policy	✓	~	~	\checkmark	~		
South East Queensland Regional Plan 2009–2031: State planning regulatory pro- visions [165]	Regulation	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark	~		
Shaping SEQ: Draft South East Queensland Regional Plan [166]	Strategic policy	\checkmark	√	~	\checkmark	~		
Positively Green: Queensland Greenspace Strategy 2011–2020 [170]	Strategic policy			√				
South East Queensland Infrastructure Plan and Program 2009–2026 [171]	Strategic policy				\checkmark	~		
Connecting SEQ 2031: An Integrated Regional Transport Plan for South East Queensland [172]	Strategic policy	\checkmark	\checkmark	~	\checkmark	~		
Queensland Cycle Strategy 2011–2021 [173]	Strategic policy				\checkmark	~		
Priority Development Area guidelines and practice notes [174]	Guidelines	\checkmark	~	~	\checkmark	~		
Liquor Act 1992 [175]	Legislation						~	
Liquor Guideline 38: Community Impact Statement [176]	Guideline						✓	
A 1.4 New South Wales

Table 14: Policies reviewed in New South Wales

Policies and legislation	Policy level	Relevant liveability domain						
		Housing	Employ- ment	Public open space	Public transport	Walkability	Alcohol	Food
Environment Planning and Assessment Act 1979 [177]	Legislation	\checkmark	~	~	\checkmark	~		
Environment Planning and Assessment Regulation [178]	Regulation	\checkmark	~	~	√	~		
State Environment Planning Policies [179]	Regulation	~	~	~	√	√		~
Standard Instrument – Principal Local Environmental Plan [180]	Regulation	\checkmark	~	~	\checkmark	~		
A Plan for Growing Sydney [69]	Strategic policy	~	~	~	\checkmark	✓		~
First Things First: State Infrastructure Strategy 2012–32 [181] and State Infrastructure Strategy Update 2014 [182]	Strategic policy	~	~		\checkmark	~		
Long Term Transport Masterplan [183]	Strategic policies				\checkmark	✓		
NSW Road Safety Strategy 2012–21 [184]					\checkmark	✓		
Integrated Transport and Land Use: Improving Transport Choice – Guidelines for Plan- ning and Development [104]					\checkmark	~		
Integrated Public Transport Service Planning Guidelines: Outer Metropolitan Area & Syd- ney Metropolitan Area [102, 103]					\checkmark			
Housing Choice and Affordability in Growth Areas: Dwelling Density Guide [185]		~				~		
NSW 2021: A Plan to Make NSW Number One [186] and the Premier's Priorities [187]	Strategic policy	~	~		√	~		~

Policies and legislation	Policy level	Relevant liveability domain						
		Housing	Employ- ment	Public open space	Public transport	Walkability	Alcohol	Food
Recreation and Open Space Planning Guidelines for Local Government [91]	Guidelines			\checkmark				
Liquor Act 2007 [188]	Legislation						\checkmark	
The Environment and Venue Assessment Tool (EVAT) [189]	Guideline/tool						\checkmark	
NSW Government Response to the 'Statutory Review of the Liquor Act 2007 and the Gaming and Liquor Administration Act 2007' [190]	Policy						✓	
NSW Department of Trade and Investment, Office of Liquor, Gaming and Racing website [189]	Policy						~	

Appendix 2 Included policy standards

A 2.1 Walkability

Table 15: Included policy standards for walkability

Source of policy requirement or indicator	Policy	Policy standards
Victorian State Government	Victorian Planning Provisions [131] Clause 56.06–7, Standard C20	Provide street blocks that are generally between 120 m and 240 m in length and generally between 60 m and 120 m in width, to facilitate pedestrian movement and control traffic speed.
Victorian State Government	Precinct Structure Planning Guidelines Part Two [115] Element 3, p. 26, S3	80–90% of households should be within 1 km of a town centre of sufficient size to allow for provision of a supermarket.
Victorian State Government	Precinct Structure Planning Guidelines Part One [114] Objective 2, p. 10	Generally, there is an average net density of 15 dwellings per developable hectare or more.
Western Australian State Government	Liveable Neighbourhoods 2009 [90] Element 3, R3	To facilitate lot diversity and an urban structure that is pedestrian friendly, street and lot layouts should provide for perimeter street blocks that are generally in the range of 70–120 m deep by 120–240 m long.
Western Australian State Government	State Planning Policy 4.2: Activity Centres for Perth and Peel [148]	Secondary activity centres and district activity centres should have a walkable catchment of 400 m, and neighbourhood centres should have a walkable catchment of 200 m.
Western Australian State Government	Liveable Neighbourhoods 2009 Element 7 Activity Centres R14	Neighbourhood centres should be located and distributed to provide a centre for most residents in a 400–500 m walk.

Western Australian State Government	Directions 2031 and Beyond: Metropolitan Planning Beyond the Horizon [71] p. 4	Sets a target of 15 dwellings per gross urban-zoned hectare of land in new development areas.
Western Australian State Government	Liveable Neighbourhoods 2015 [107] Element 1 (also see Directions 2013 and Beyond [71])	The current dwelling targets in greenfield areas for the Perth and Peel region is 15 dwellings per gross urban hectare and 26 dwellings per site hectare.
Western Australian State Government	Liveable Neighbourhoods 2015 [107] Element 4, R6.1	A range of residential lot sizes suitable for a variety of housing types and densities pro- vided, preferably within each street block. ¹
Queensland State Government	Priority Development Area guidelines and practice notes [174] Neighbourhood planning and design: PDA guideline no. 5	 Block sizes: Length 100–200 m Mid-block break providing a pedestrian link when blocks are over 130 m Depth 40–80 m
Queensland State Government	Priority Development Area guidelines and practice notes [174] Neighbourhood planning and design: PDA guideline no. 5	 Suburban neighbourhood – average net residential density of at least 15 dwellings per hectare (unless prevented by topography or other constraints). Urban neighbourhood – average net residential density of at least 30 dwellings per hectare. Higher-density residential development is located in and around neighbourhood centres, along connector streets and within 400 m of transit nodes. Note: net residential density means the total number of dwellings divided by the combined area of residential lots, local parks, internal local roads and half the width of local roads bordering the site. Average net residential density means net residential density calculated for a whole neighbourhood.
NSW State Government	Integrated Transport and Land Use Guidelines [104] (also see Housing Choice and Affordability in Growth Areas: Dwelling Density Guide [185], which suggests a minimum 15 dwellings per hectare for growth areas)	A minimum gross neighbourhood residential density of 15 dwellings per hectare needs to be achieved to support reasonable bus services.

¹The policy indicates that the provisions of small lots (less than 350 m2) is more likely to result in two-storey town housing and town-centre-style residential development, and the densities needed to support neighbourhood and town centres. Assigning typologies of size allowed for an assessment of the relative mix and share of the different lot sizes. All cadastre were coded into one of five size categories, based on the policy standards, previous measures used by The Planning Group WA [191] and consultation with the Department of Planning: less than 350 m²; greater than 350 m²; greater than 550 m²; greater than 750 m²; greater than 750 m², less than 950 m², less than 950 m². For each development, the number of cadastre in each size category was computed as a percentage of the total number of cadastre. The presence of a greater number of lot-size bands assists in creating a more diverse range of housing stock and choice, supporting the policy objectives.

A 2.2 Public transport

Table 16: Included policy standards for public transport

Source of policy requirement or indicator	Policy	Policy standards				
Victorian State Government	Precinct Structure Planning Guidelines Part Two	95% of dwellings are located not more than 400 m street-walking distance from the				
	Element 6, p. 44, S7	nearest existing or proposed bus stop.				
Victorian State Government	Victorian Planning Provisions [131]	95% of dwellings to be located no more than 400 m street-walking distance from				
	Clause 56.04–1, Standard C7	the nearest existing or proposed bus stop, 600 m street-walking distance from the nearest existing or proposed tram stop, and 800 m street-walking distance from the nearest existing or proposed railway station.				
Western Australian State Government	Liveable Neighbourhoods 2009 [90]	At least 60% of dwellings should be in a safe 400 m walk from a neighbourhood				
	Element 2 Movement Network, R37	or town centre, or an existing or potential bus stop, or in a safe 600 m walk from a railway station.				
	Liveable Neighbourhoods 2015 [107]	Most people will consider walking up to 400 m to reach services and facilities, or 800 to a train station or higher-order centre.				
	Element 1, p. 14					
	(also see Development Control Policy 1.6 [154])					
Queensland State Government	Priority Development Area guidelines and practice notes [174]	90% of all dwellings are within 400 m of an existing or planned public transport stop.				
	Neighbourhood planning and design: PDA guideline no. 5					
NSW State Government	Integrated Transport and Land Use Guidelines [104] ¹	Households should be within an 800–1000 m walk of an existing or programmed metropolitan railway station or equivalent mass-transit node, served at least every 15 minutes, or within a 400 m walk of a bus route, accessing a metropolitan railway station, or equivalent mass-transit node, served at least every 20–30 minutes				

¹ The more recent Integrated Public Transport Service Planning Guidelines [102, 103] were also reviewed, but their policy standards were found to be complex, and not able to be measured using existing data. Therefore, the policy standard from the 2001 Integrated Transport and Land Use Guidelines (still available at the time of analysis) was selected for inclusion.

A 2.3 Public open space

Table 17: Included policy standards for public open space

Source of policy requirement or	Policy	Policy standards		
indicator	1 Oncy			
Victorian State Government	Victorian Planning Provisions [131]	Local parks within 400 m safe walking distance of at least 95% of all dwellings. Where not		
	Clause 56 05–2 Standard C13	designed to include active open space, local parks should be generally 1 ha in area and		
		suitably dimensioned and designed to provide for their intended use and to allow easy		
	(also see Precinct Structure Planning Guidelines Part Two [115],	adaptation in response to changing community preferences.		
	Element 5, p. 34, S1)			
Western Australian State Government	Liveable Neighbourhoods 2015 [107]	Public open space should be provided within 300 m (of safe walking distance) to all		
	Element 1, Requirement 5.1	residential lots.1		
Western Australian State Government	Classification Framework for Public Open Space [152]	Local parks: ² access within 400 m or 5-minute walk; typical size 0.4 ha to 1 ha.		
Western Australian State Government	Classification Framework for Public Open Space [152]	Neighbourhood open space: ² access within 800 m or 10-minute walk; typical size 1 ha to		
	(also see Liveable Neighbourhoods 2015 [107])	5 ha.		
Western Australian State Government	Classification Framework for Public Open Space [152]	District open space: ² within 2 km or 5-minute drive; typical size 5 ha to 15+ ha. ³		
	(also see Liveable Neighbourhoods 2015 [107])			
Queensland State Government	Priority Development Area guidelines and practice notes [174]	90% of dwellings within 400 m of a neighbourhood recreation park or other park providing		
	Park planning and design: PDA guideline no. 12	equivalent informal recreation opportunities.		
		Neighbourhood recreation park minimum area: 5000 m ²		
Queensland State Government	Priority Development Area guidelines and practice notes [174]	90% of dwellings within 2.5 km of a district recreation park. District recreation park mini- mum area: 5 ha.		
	Park planning and design: PDA guideline no. 12			
NSW State Government	Recreation and Open Space Planning Guidelines for Local Government	District parks within 2 km of most dwellings. District park size 2–5 ha.		
	[91]4			
	Table 4. Default standards for open space planning in NSW			
NSW State Government	Recreation and Open Space Planning Guidelines for Local Government	Local parks within 400 m of most dwellings.		
	[91] ⁴			
	Table 4. Default standards for open space planning in NSW			

¹ This is a proposed new standard for inclusion in the revised version of the Liveable Neighbourhoods policy. It was included to provide a benchmarking analysis of the current levels of access against this new standard.

² The parkland classification framework is being adopted by the Department of Planning in the proposed new version of Liveable Neighbourhoods. The size categories were similar to those previously outlined in the Liveable Neighbourhoods policy and so were used to benchmark current levels of POS against these new standards.

³ For the purposes of analysis, the upper size threshold of the district-sized parks was classified as less than or equal to 20 ha. This was decided in collaboration with the Department of Sport and Recreation, as its size classification for regional open space started at 20 ha.

⁴ This guideline may no longer be operational at the time of writing (September 2017), as it is no longer available online.

Appendix 3 Data sources and processing

A 3.1 Defining study areas – an example for Melbourne

The methods used to define study areas and map results are described in Section 4. But to further assist understanding we have provided a worked example for Melbourne in Figure 39. The first panels show the Greater Capital City Statistical Area (GCCSA) for Greater Melbourne in yellow, and the Statistical Division (SD) for Melbourne in orange. Overlaid upon one another, as in the next panel, the map shows that the SD is contained fully within the GCCSA, which stretches another 20 km further north. Also overlaid in this second panel, in red, are the metro urban and other urban areas of the state. A number of areas of red sit within the GCCSA, but outside the SD; Bacchus Marsh, Gisborne, Macedon, Riddells Creek, Romsey, Lancefield, Wallan and Heathcote Junction. This study determined residential addresses within the study region based on the SD definition of Melbourne rather than on the GCCSA definition. However, ABS results have been summarised at the metropolitan level using the GCCSA definition. A consequence of this is that Bacchus Marsh residences are not included in calculations for, say, access to public transport or access to public open space, but are included in metropolitan-level averages for housing affordability and employment. When calculations are updated for the 2016 Census data, we will endeavour to align all results to the GCCSA boundaries.

The final panel in Figure 39 shows the suburbs of the study region masked by the nonresidential Mesh Blocks, leaving visible only those areas of Melbourne defined by the ABS as residential. While a similar but slightly different approach was taken to determine the in-scope residential addresses (see Section 4.3.2), Mesh Block masking is a convenient way of remedying the otherwise distorting effects of portraying a whole suburb result over a large area when only a small proportion of that area is residential. For Melbourne, the Mesh Block mask has the most visual impact for outer south-eastern (e.g. Dandenong South) and north-western (e.g. Laverton North, Campbellfield) suburbs. The major limitation of this approach is that Mesh Blocks have only a single category of land use, and therefore results are sometimes obscured for areas where there is a significant number of residential dwellings but the primary land use is not residential. An obvious example of this is the Melbourne central business district, which is home to a population of nearly 40,000 people, but classified primarily as commercial and therefore masked in the maps.

A 3.2 Walkability

The wide range of policy and national liveability indicators for walkability required a more diverse collection of datasets than did any other urban liveability domain. The foundation dataset for walkability is the one that reflects where people can walk: the walkable street network. We used the pedestrian-accessible street network dataset described in Section 4.3.5 as a proxy for a 'pedestrian' network. However, as noted in Section 4.3.5, a true pedestrian network would include footpaths and mid-block links, for which we were unable to obtain national data .

Block size

Calculating block lengths and widths is somewhat subjective, as the orientation of blocks varies, and blocks are often irregularly shaped. In this study we calculated block length and width equivalents using the following approach. Based on an example block that under Victorian policy is between 120 m and 240 m long, and between 60 m and 120 m wide, we converted the dimensions to an upper bound for the perimeter. The maximum perimeter of a regular-shaped complying block would be 240 m + 120 m + 240 m + 120 m = 720 m. Using cadastral data sourced from PSMA [92], we then identified all blocks within areas defined as residential, based on ABS Mesh Block classifications. The number of blocks that met the target was divided by the total number of blocks within each

Method to define study area and visualise result using Melbourne example



Study region Suburbs

Metro urban/other urban Statistical Division

Greater Capital City Statistical Area

Legend

1. Start with a definition of the capital city



3. Create the study area based on the intersection

0

20 km





4. Filter out non-residential Mesh Blocks to better visualise results



Figure 39: Method to define study area and visualise result using Melbourne example

CC BY-NC-ND

Dwelling density

Calculating dwelling densities is computationally straightforward. For a given area (for instance, a suburb), the total number of dwellings (sourced from ABS data) is divided by the area in hectares. From state to state, the denominator in this calculation is generally further qualified: in Victoria the policy target is based on a 'developable hectare', in Western Australia a 'gross urban hectare' or 'site hectare', in Queensland the land is classed as either 'urban' or 'suburban' for density calculations, and in New South Wales it pertains to 'new residential release areas'. We were unable to source data allowing us to calculate densities for only the qualified areas to which the policy applied, so we calculated two density measures that allowed comparisons between cities. The first was a measure of gross density, where for each area the total number of dwellings based on ABS Mesh Block data was divided by the total area. The second measure was net density, where for each area the total measure was divided by the total area of residential Mesh Blocks only.

Daily-living destinations

The destination types in the daily-living score included supermarkets, public transport stops, convenience stores and newsagents. The choice was based on previous empirical research showing that access to these destinations encourages more walking [100], and was used as an alternative to land-use mix commonly used in walkability indices, because we were unable to replicate this nationally [89]. In unpublished analyses, this variable produced similar results to the traditional land-use mix in the walkability index. We used business-listings data sourced from Acxiom Australia [192] to create the destinations in an origin–destination cost matrix, where each origin was a residential address within the study area. To compute the daily-living score for each residential address, one point was assigned for having any supermarket, any public transport shop and/or any convenience store, petrol station or newsagent within 1600 m.

Dwelling density and street connectivity

Of all the indicators calculated in this study, dwelling density and street connectivity were the most computationally intensive, as both relied on the creation of a spatial buffer for each residential address. The spatial buffer is calculated for each residential address by first determining the pedestrian-accessible street network within 1600 m. This set of streets is then buffered by 50 m to create the spatial buffers. The area of this spatial buffer is used as the denominator in both the dwelling density and street connectivity calculations. In the case of dwelling density, the numerator is the count of dwellings in the Mesh Blocks intersecting the buffer. In the case of streets.

Composite walkability indicator

Once the daily-living score, dwelling density and street connectivity had been calculated, a composite walkability indicator was derived. For each city, results were first aggregated and averaged for the spatial areas for which the composite indicator was calculated, for example in this case the suburb level. For each suburb, the three individual measures were then converted to a standardised score reflecting how many standard deviations each result was from the mean (a z-score) and the z-scores for all three measures were added together to provide a suburb-level walkability z-score. For each city, the composite z-scores were then ordered from lowest to highest, and results converted to deciles.

Pedshed ratio

The final walkability indicator is the pedshed ratio: the buffered area of the 400 m street network distance from each residential address, divided by the radial 'crow flies' area within 400 m – that is, 50.2 ha. For each SA1, a generalised service area [193] with a cut-off distance of 400 m was calculated for the centroid of the SA1. This was then converted to a percentage by dividing by the 'crow flies' area of 50.2 ha.

A 3.3 Public transport

In each state or territory, the government department or authority responsible for planning public transport typically publishes data on public transport stops and timetables on their websites in a format known as the General Transit Feed Specification (GTFS) [194]. GTFS defines a common format for public transport schedules and associated geographic information, and was used to determine the stop locations by mode, and the frequency of services at each stop.

Where an indicator required calculation of stop frequency as well as stop access, stops were filtered out from the access calculation if they did not meet the required frequency threshold. Because service frequencies differ by time of day and day of the week (and in some cases by time of year – such as school holidays), we calculated frequencies between 7 am and 7 pm on a normal (non-school-holiday) weekday. Friday timetables were typically excluded from the analysis, because in many cities services operate on a different schedule on Fridays from other weekdays. We applied a strict interpretation of the filter criteria: if at a given stop there were no services before 7.30 am or after 6.30 pm, or if at any time during the day consecutive services were spaced more than 30 minutes apart, that particular stop was filtered out from the access calculation. Using the 30-minute service frequency, a minimum of 56% (in the case of Melbourne) and a maximum of 96% (in the case of Darwin) public transport stops were filtered out from the original dataset of public transport stops.

As outlined in Section 4.3.5, we used a pedestrian-accessible road network to determine distances between origins (residential addresses) and destinations (in this case, public transport stops). For Perth, this approach created a problem, because the Mandurah railway line runs along the median strip of the Kwinana Freeway for part of its route. As freeways are not walkable streets they are removed from the pedestrian-accessible street network, and this isolated the stations from the surrounding neighbourhoods when using our standard analysis approach. To deal with this, for Perth train stations we generated a road network service area extending 800 m from each train station and selected all residential addresses within this buffer to determine which residential addresses had access to train stations.

A 3.4 Public open space

We encountered significant difficulties in sourcing data suitable for analysing access to public open space across Australian cities. Although PSMA does provide a Greenspace layer as part of its Transport and Topography dataset [195], this does not contain many of the categories of POS that were included in our analysis. The PSMA Geoscape dataset [196], based on high-resolution satellite imagery, provides useful data on tree-cover, as does CSIRO's Urban Monitor [197], which is based on high-resolution aerial imagery. But for both these products, data were not yet available for all major Australian capital cities, and would in any case have required further processing to combine with land-ownership data in order to be of use for POS analysis. The ABS does, however, categorise Mesh Block land-use nationally, and for this study we used that data as a proxy for a national POS dataset.

Mesh Blocks are the smallest geographical area defined by the ABS, containing between 30 and 60 dwellings. Each Mesh Block is classified by the ABS according to the dominant land use: water, parkland, residential, industrial, commercial, education, hospital/medical, agricultural, transport, and other. All Mesh Blocks from the 2011 Census dataset classified as 'parkland' were extracted. The Mesh Blocks were used to represent a measure of the total amount of greenness in an aggregate area – either the suburb or the entire GCCSA. The parkland Mesh Blocks were tagged to the suburb and GCCSA in which they fell. For each suburb and GCCSA, the sum area of all Mesh Block parkland polygons present was calculated as a percentage of the gross area of that suburb or GCCSA. Mesh Blocks identified as 'agricultural' were not considered as parkland, because these areas are not generally accessible by the public for recreation or physical activity. Domestic gardens were also not included in the parkland category. These data allowed the calculation of two national liveability indicators that allowed states to be compared: the percentage of gross area that is parkland, and the proportion of suburbs with different percentages of parkland measured at the Mesh Block level.

For Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Sydney, both the policy implementation measures and the remaining national liveability indicators required a more precise dataset, where individual public open spaces could be located explicitly and their areas determined. This required sourcing the best available data on POS in each state. POS data for Melbourne was sourced from the Victorian Environmental Assessment Council [198]. For Perth, a digital spatial database reflecting the spatial extent of all areas of green POS across the metropolitan Perth region for 2012 was obtained from the Centre for the Built Environment and Health at the University of Western Australia (Centre for the Built Environment and Health 2013). For Brisbane, a list of park locations and names [199] was downloaded from Brisbane City Council's online spatial data repository [200]. Parkland parcels were identified for each park-geocoded location, using cadastral data [201]. Each park was then manually checked using high-resolution ortho-imagery to verify the boundary extents, and modify them where needed. For Sydney, data were obtained from the Government [202].

From each state dataset, the first consideration was what types of green space constitute public open space. The types of green space typically included in the POS-related planning policies were freely accessible green open spaces catering for a range of active, passive and social recreational and play needs. This included parks, gardens, reserves, and recreational and sporting areas (excluding golf courses, which are not free). Categories typically excluded from the definition of POS were national parks, state forests and bushland. Unfortunately, as outlined in Appendix 4 – public open space, because this taxonomy of POS varies across states, we could not accurately align definitions across states, so we made the closest approximation possible based on available categories.

The next consideration for each state dataset was the determination of a park's area. In some cases this was straightforward – for example, a rectangular reserve distinct from any other park. However, a number of more difficult scenarios arose. For example, if two 1 ha parks of different names were divided by a road they could reasonably be assumed to constitute two distinct public open spaces. But if both were classified as parks (rather than some other category) and the road was a minor road, they could be viewed as a single 2 ha park. In general, for this study we considered these parks as separate for the purpose of calculating areas for access. A further problem arose with linear parks, such as typically occur along waterways. Although these can often be large in area, only a small proportion of that overall area will be accessible within easy walking distance. For our calculations we used the total area of the linear park.

The final step in pre-processing each state dataset was to add points at intervals on the perimeter of each POS area to facilitate more accurate calculations of access distances. This approach was required to avoid measurement error that would result from using the centroid of public open spaces of varying shapes and sizes [203]. Instead of representing each POS by a single point at its geometric centre, we represented it by many points at regular intervals along its boundaries. For Melbourne and Sydney, intervals of 50 m were used; for Perth and Brisbane, 40 m intervals were used.

As outlined in Section 4.3.5, we used a pedestrian-accessible road network to determine distances between individual residential address origins and POS destinations. To calculate access to POS meeting specific area criteria (such as parks greater than or equal to 1.5 ha), we first filtered out any POS perimeter points attached to POS that did not meet criteria (e.g. perimeter points attached to POS less than 1.5 ha).

A 3.5 Housing affordability

The 30/40 measure of housing affordability was based on custom data provided by the ABS [78, 204]. The number of households in the first and second quintiles of income distribution, who were spending more than 30% of household income on housing costs, was divided by the total number of households in the first and second quintiles of the income distribution whose household costs could be determined. This proportion was calculated for suburbs and LGAs within the study area, and for each capital city GCCSA.

We used the ABS TableBuilder tool to extract national datasets for tenure by GCCSA, LGA and SSC (suburb) [205]. From this, the proportion of households renting was calculated.

A 3.6 Employment

The living and working in same area national liveability indicator was constructed from ABS data. The ABS TableBuilder tool was used to extract a national dataset comprising SA2

of usual residence and SA2 of place of work; LGA of usual residence and LGA of place of work; and GCCSA of usual residence and GCCSA of place of work [206]. A Python script was used to calculate the percentages for the various live and work in same area metrics, and results were linked to spatial boundaries also obtained from the ABS [113].

To determine method of travel to work (active transport, public transport or private vehicle), ABS data for method of travel to work (MTWP) were used [207]. The ABS TableBuilder tool was used to map the more than 200 MTWP permutations (e.g. 'car as driver, train') into one of the three categories (e.g. 'public transport') using customised aggregations. A consequence of this simplification into a single non-overlapping category was that active transport (i.e. 'walked', 'bicycle') in conjunction with any other mode was categorised based on that other mode. Similarly, journeys to work involving both a private vehicle and public transport were categorised as public transport.

A 3.7 Food environment

The food environment is highly dynamic, with destinations changing from year to year. Unlike the alcohol environment, however, there is no government licensing or regulation, and therefore no central record of destinations. Previous Australian studies of the food environment have used business-listings data, most notably from Sensis [208] or Acxiom [192]. The advantage of this is that it includes individual fast food destinations and supermarkets that are not part of any chain. However, business-listings data are subject to geocoding errors. To provide the most accurate picture of fast food and fresh food locations, we decided to source data directly from the websites of major chains only. As major chains manage closely the information on their websites and provide 'find a store' map services, their geocoded locations are much more likely to be accurate than those automatically geocoded from a raw address in generic business-listings data. Naturally, using major chain food environment data omitted some categories of fresh food such as greengrocers, butchers and fishmongers; it also excluded a proportion of fast food and takeaway destinations (e.g. a fish and chips shop in a local shopping strip). However, we felt that the improved spatial accuracy of destinations used in the food ratio warranted using major chain food environment data as a proxy for the overall food environment. Data were collected nationally, although food ratios were only calculated for major capital cities. The number of major fast food destinations and supermarkets is summarised by state/territory in Table 18.

For each residence in the study area of the four major capital cities, we calculated the number of major fast food outlets and supermarkets within a 3200 m pedestrianaccessible road network distance. From this the percentage of fast food destinations of the total (fast food destinations plus supermarkets) was calculated at residential address level. If neither fast food nor supermarkets was present within a 3200 m distance, a null value was recorded and this residential address was then excluded from subsequent averages.

A 3.8 Alcohol environment

Liquor licensing data was sourced from the government authority responsible for issuing licences in each state:

- the Victorian Commission for Gambling and Liquor Regulation (VCGLR)
- the Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor WA
- the Office of Liquor and Gaming Regulation, Queensland
- Liquor & Gaming NSW.

Because liquor licence categories vary from state to state, the mapping in Table 19 was used to determine which locations were coded as on-licences and/or off-licences. Addresses from individual liquor licences were geocoded to a latitude and longitude. From each residential address, access to on-licences within 400 m and off-licences within 800m was determined using distances along the pedestrian-accessible street network.

Food category					State					
	Chain	Vic	WA	Qld	NSW	SA	ACT	ΝΤ	Tas	Subtotal
Major fast food chains	Domino's	112	72	168	210	39	12	8	12	633
	Hungry Jack's	99	60	98	90	48	5	5	8	413
	KFC	170	52	137	211	46	8	6	14	644
	McDonald's	253	86	223	315	53	6	8	16	960
	Red Rooster	75	68	119	79	6	2	8	0	357
	Subway	337	148	325	408	124	29	8	23	1402
	Subtotal	1046	486	1070	1313	316	62	43	73	4409
Major supermarket chains	ALDI	141	22	103	176	19	11	0	0	472
	Coles	208	94	166	252	56	13	7	16	799
	Foodworks	132	11	116	90	17	2	0	3	371
	IGA	302	256	260	362	75	23	9	81	1368
	Woolworths	246	96	234	293	70	18	12	32	1001
	Subtotal	1029	479	879	1173	237	67	28	132	4011

Table 18: Number of food destinations (stores) by category, chain and state/territory, June 2017

Table 19: Classification of liquor licences into on-licences and off-licences

Classification	Victoria	Western Australia	Queensland	New South Wales
On-licences	General	Hotel	Commercial hotel	Club
	Late night (general)	Tavern	Subsidiary on-premises	Hotel
	• Full club	Hotel restricted	• Bar	General bar
	• Late night (on-premise)	Tavern restricted	Industrial canteen	On-premises
	On-premise	Small bar	Commercial special facility	Small bar
	Restaurant and café	Restaurant	Community club	
		Nightclub	Nightclub	
		Club		
Off-licences	General	Hotel	Commercial hotel	Hotel
	Late night (general)	Tavern		Packaged liquor
	Late night (packaged)	Liquor Store		
	Packaged liquor			
Excluded	BYO permit	Wholesaler	Community other	Producer/wholesaler
	Limited	Producer	Subsidiary off-premises	• Limited – single or
	Pre-retail	Club restricted	Producer/wholesaler	multiple functions
	Restricted club	• Special	Wine producer	 Limited – special event or trade fair
	Wine and beer producers		Wine merchant	

Appendix 4 Difficulties in creating consistent urban liveability indicators

A 4.1 Public transport data

Availability of the data needed to conduct analysis across the various domains considered in this report varied widely. For housing affordability and employment, sourcing appropriate nationwide ABS data was straightforward. But every other domain used at least one measure based on access from a residential address to a destination of some type, and sourcing data on these destination types was frequently difficult.

For public transport, although PSMA Australia Ltd provided national data on public transport stops [195], our analysis required additional information on service frequency. This involved sourcing timetable data in General Transit Feed Specification (GTFS) format [194] directly from state and territory public transport authorities. GTFS data is not available retrospectively, so we used 2017 timetable information. Further, the way in which the GTFS specification was implemented varied from city to city. For example, in some cities, train stations were modelled as a single stop, whereas in other cities they were modelled hierarchically, at both a station and individual platform level. So when assessing access to a frequent service, we had to take care to apply a consistent method across all cities and modes. And, as mentioned earlier, we were able to source data for existing stops only, not for planned or potential stops.

A 4.2 Walkability and pedestrian network data

The walkability access measure used public transport stop data but not service

frequency, so by using retrospective Transport and Topography data from PSMA [195] we could match this temporally with the other destinations data (supermarkets, convenience stores, newsagents and petrol stations) sourced from Business Points Australia [192]. The remaining walkability indicators were built on PSMA street network data and ABS Mesh Block data and were therefore straightforward, albeit computationally intensive from a data sourcing and processing perspective.

A greater impediment to modelling walkability - and walking generally - was a lack of pedestrian network data. We used the PSMA Transport and Topography street network dataset [195] as the basis of a pedestrian walking network. While non-walkable roads such as freeways were excluded from this dataset before we calculated measures, walkable pedestrian links such as pedestrian overpasses and underpasses, mid-block links and rail crossings were also absent. As previous analysis has shown [209], omitting pedestrian links has a significant and variable effect on walking results. In contrast to the missing pedestrian links, footpaths are assumed to exist on all streets, despite data not being available. Although this is a reasonable general assumption, in some areas it will indicate walking access to destinations when this is not the practical reality. The final problem encountered when using a street network as a proxy for a pedestrian network was 'snapping' effects. To calculate the network distance between any two points, the points were first 'snapped' to the network (generally within a specific distance or tolerance). This can introduce errors, more in some planning designs than others. If a particular dwelling is snapped to the street behind the house because it is closer than the street in front, all results for this dwelling will be incorrect. This can be an even larger problem for destinations, and is compounded by the lack of pedestrian links. A suburban train station will be snapped to the network on only one side of the tracks; residential addresses on the other side of the tracks would be deemed to have poor access. A supermarket in a large shopping centre will be snapped to the street network, sometimes moving it by 100 m or more. Someone who has access to the supermarket's actual location within 400 m may be deemed to be without access once it is snapped in this way. Further research is needed into how to solve such methodological problems, and more support is required to improve wide-scale availability of pedestrian data.

A 4.3 Public open space data, taxonomies and area calculations

Public open space destination data varied widely in guality, scale and taxonomy between states. The Perth and Brisbane data had both been extensively cleaned in previous studies before analysis was undertaken in this study. The Sydney and Melbourne data were used as-is (subject to the methods described in Appendix 3 – Public open space). As an example of the difficulties encountered when trying to define public open space consistently across states. Table 20 compares the categories in the datasets used for Sydney and Melbourne. The only category for which there is seemingly an overlap is parks and gardens. While other categories can be matched on name more loosely, for example 'sports' in Sydney may correspond to 'organised recreational area' in Melbourne, these too are approximations. Consider the case of public golf courses. These require users to pay green fees, so typically we would not include them in our definition of public open space. In the case of Sydney these can mostly be excluded by excluding the 'golf course' category, but there are exceptions: the Georges River Golf Course is owned by the NSW Office of Strategic Lands and appears under the 'CSEPA owned' category. In Melbourne, where golf courses are not categorised separately, public golf courses are necessarily included in the definition of public open space as they typically appear under the category 'organised recreational area'. This example highlights some of the inconsistencies encountered when aligning definitions of public open space between just two cities; the problem was compounded for each additional capital city included in the analysis.

The second major hurdle in analysing data on public open space is the consistent treatment of area calculations. As discussed in Appendix 3 – Public open space, discrete park polygons are joined as a contiguous area if they share the same name and category. The taxonomy used can therefore dictate the extent to which park areas are considered jointly or discretely when calculating access measures. The differences in taxonomies between states would mean that a hypothetical park of 2 ha nature reserve and a 1 ha picnic area, would be considered either as a single 2 ha park, two 1 ha parks, or even as a 1 ha park, depending on the city it is in.

Table 20: Taxonomies for public open space in Sydney and Melbourne

Sydney public open space categories	Melbourne public open space
	categories
Bushland	Civic square and promenade*
Cemetery	Natural and semi-natural area*
Civic*	Organised recreational area*
Community Purpose*	Parkland and garden*
CSEPA_CCM*	Protected area*
CSEPA_Owned*	Recreation corridor
CSEPA_ProposedAcquisition	Services and utilities area
Golf Course	
Heritage and Cultural*	
Operational	
Parks and Gardens*	
Special	
Sports*	
Undeveloped_Unspecified	
Waterfront	

* Included in the definition of public open space used for analysis in this study.

A 4.4 Food and alcohol data

Of all the data used in this study, it is perhaps the food and alcohol environment data that changes most quickly. With alcohol licence data needing to be newly sourced for some states, and retrospective licence data not being readily available, this forced a decision to use a current (2017) view of alcohol licenses. As noted in Section 11.2, the

licensee data for Queensland reflected only the main licensee location and not satellite sites. Licensee data needed to be geocoded to a location, a process that can introduce errors if locations are incorrectly assigned. We found that historic business-listings data geocoded by commercial providers also contains geocoding errors for a small but significant proportion of business listings. For this reason we similarly made a decision to source updated data on major supermarkets and fast food chains directly from their corporate websites, as this data was most likely to be correct. Again, this necessitated using current (2017) data rather than historic listings data.

Two consequences arise from mixing data from different time points: inaccurate results for those areas in which change has been greatest between the different time periods, and potential confusion in representing results. At the time this study commenced, 2016 Census data had not yet been released, and at the conclusion of the study 2016 Census data on employment was still pending. This led us to decide to baseline our analysis for the 2011 Census year and use other spatial data (such as G-NAF and Business Points Australia) [92, 192] from approximately the same period. As noted above, we needed to use updated data for some domains such as food and alcohol. In areas that have undergone rapid change over the last five years, such as planned suburbs on the urban fringes, this created a situation where our data contained, for example, a supermarket but no road network by which it could be accessed. When our results are updated with 2016 Census data (and updated PSMA data), these sorts of errors will be corrected. The results will then reflect in all cases the latest possible information, making interpretation more straightforward and intuitive.

A 4.5 Differences of scale between cities

A central challenge in this study has been how to compare cities as different in size and population as Sydney and Darwin. In 2011, Greater Sydney had a population of 4.4 million, and the study area stretched across 200 km. In contrast, Greater Darwin had a population of 0.12 million and a study area of 25 km. While the national liveability indicators provided

a common baseline for comparing areas within and across cities, it is natural to expect large and small cities to have differences arising purely from their differences in scale. It is therefore more meaningful to compare, say, Sydney with Melbourne than Sydney with Darwin. This is not to say that there is no value in the latter comparison, but that there is more value in the former.

The differences in scale (both area and population) are even more apparent when comparing LGAs across Australia. The most populous city in the study had a population approximately 37 times that of the smallest. The most populous LGA had a population approximately 700 times that of the smallest. The three most populous LGAs in Australia are all in Queensland; two of them – Brisbane City Council (population 1,131,155 in the 2016 Census) and Moreton Bay Regional Council (population 425,309 in the 2016 Census) – were in the study region. Nationally, there are 12 LGAs with a population greater than Hobart's (222,356) and 52 LGAs greater than Darwin (136,831). Using 2011 Census data, Australia's average LGA population is approximately 100,000 persons, but averages vary significantly from state to state: Perth LGAs average 54,000 persons, Sydney 100,000, Melbourne 127,000, and Brisbane 400,000. Since the 2011 Census. local government mergers in New South Wales have created 19 new councils, with a further five merger proposals pending court decisions [210]. This will lead to an increase in the average size of LGAs nationally, especially in New South Wales. Two of these new supercouncils (Canterbury-Bankstown and Central Coast) are now the fourth- and sixth-most populous nationally, based on 2016 Census data.

Appendix 5 Other related research

The Kids in the Community Study (KiCS)

KiCS is working to understand how different factors in our communities – physical environment, social environment, socio-economic factors, access to services, and governance – influence the way that children develop. The study involves researchers from the Murdoch Children's Research Institute, RMIT University, The University of New South Wales, Griffith University, The University of Western Australia, and the Australian National University. We know that the early childhood years have a profound and lasting influence on children's health and development. We also know that there are different factors in our communities that play a major role in the healthy development of children, particularly the resources available to families.

But we do not know exactly which community factors affect child development, and how we can modify those factors to help all children get the best start in life. The 'what' and the 'how' are what KiCS aims to answer. Based on this research, this project will be developing child urban liveability indicators. Although not considered in this particular report, for completeness it is included. In the future, national child urban liveability indicators based on this study will be developed.





Centre for Urban Research Building 15, Level 4 RMIT University City campus 124 La Trobe Street Melbourne VIC, 3000 Australia

> T: +61 3 9925 0917 E: cur@rmit.edu.au

www.cur.org

